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Queen’s cabinet had gone back on us, so we decided
to proceed without them.”17

The third member of the Committee that vis-
ited the Cabinet was William C. Wilder. He also sub-
mitted a sworn affidavit, which included these com-
ments:

“The conduct of the Queen became such
toward the end of the [legislative] session as to lead
me to believe that she was determined to regain the
powers taken away by the constitution of 1887;
things went on from bad to worse until the 14th of
January, 1893, when the Legislature was prorogued.
When it was reported on that morning that the
opium and lottery bills were signed and the Corn-
well-Parker-Peterson cabinet came in, the tension of
public feeling became most intense; every one felt
that there was trouble in the air, but it was not on
account of the ousting of the Wilcox reform Cabinet.
If matters had ended there, there would have been no
uprising.

“The reform members of the Legislature did
not attend the prorogation, more as a protest against
the unlawful acts of the Queen than anything else.
When, however, after the prorogation, the Queen
attempted to abrogate the constitution and proclaim
a new one, which would have restored the ancient
despotic rights of the throne, and would have tram-
pled under foot all further semblance of liberty in
Hawai‘i, the respectable, conservative, and property
interests of the country, without any prior meeting
or plans, simply arose in protest and to defend their
rights. From what I saw, I would have no hesita-
tion saying that the Queen’s act in attempting to
abrogate the constitution and promulgate a new
one brought about the revolution18 (Ed.—empha-
sis added).”
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Regarding his subcommittee’s meeting Mon-
day with the Cabinet, Wilder had this to say: “Some
negotiations had been going on between members of
the Queen’s cabinet and Mr. Thurston, on behalf of
the Committee of Safety, of which I knew nothing
except the fact of such conference; but at that meet-
ing [earlier Monday morning with the Committee of
Safety at Thurston’s office], I was appointed one of a
[sub]committee to wait on the cabinet to receive
their communication in answer to the matter dis-
cussed by them with Thurston. We went to the gov-
ernment building and met the cabinet; they stated
that they declined any further negotiations.”

The testimony of these three men some thir-
ty years before Thurston wrote his Memoirs differs
slightly in details with some of his recollections, but
overall is strikingly similar.

In his Memoirs of the Hawaiian Revolution,
Thurston recalled he was in his office that Saturday
morning, January 14, “sorting papers preparatory to
resuming law work.” (For much of the previous year
Thurston had been working on Annexation plans for
the secret Annexation Club, including a trip to Wash-
ington to feel out the Harrison administration on the
subject, actions the Queen would have considered
treasonous.)

He said Colburn came in looking much excit-
ed and since the Queen had appointed him her min-
ister of the interior only the day before, “I was sur-
prised to see him. He immediately burst out: ‘Lorrin,
we’ve been having a hell of a time up at the Palace,
and I have come to tell you about it.’” Colburn said he
had come to get Thurston’s advice, while Peterson
had gone to the office of W.O. Smith to seek Smith’s.
Colburn, of Hawaiian ancestry, and Thurston,
though of opposite political persuasions, had grown
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up together in the Islands and were good friends. 
Colburn recounted the Queen’s angry efforts

to get the Cabinet members to approve the new Con-
stitution and their refusal to do so. Thurston sug-
gested they consult with Judge Hartwell, who in turn
suggested further review with Smith. “Our united
advice to Colburn was to stand pat in his refusal to
approve the Queen’s action, and we agreed to under-
take to raise support for him among the men down-
town,” Thurston wrote.

His Memoirs continue: “After lunch, Mr.
Smith and I went to the office of Attorney-General
Peterson, in Ali‘io-lani Hale; there we met Colburn,
Peterson, and Cornwell, several other men also being
present. Messrs. Peterson and Cornwell corroborated
the statement made to us by Mr. Colburn. They all
agreed that Lili‘uokalani was furiously insistent on
their joining her in promulgating the new Constitu-
tion . . . . 

“Mr. Smith and I, as well as the other men
present, advised the cabinet to counter upon the
Queen, declare her in revolution against the govern-
ment and the constitution, declare the throne vacant
by reason of her treasonable attitude, and call upon
the people to sustain them.

“During the conversation, Samuel Parker,
minister of foreign affairs and head of the cabinet,
entered the room. He did not have much to say, but
he was practically of the same mind as the other min-
isters . . . . [All four] were in a blue funk as to their
course.

“I offered to draft for the cabinet a declara-
tion along the lines that we had advised. They did
not agree to make the declaration, but assented to my
suggestion of drafting it; and I drafted it then and
there (Ed.—in Peterson’s office). At that stage, a
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messenger came from the Queen, demanding the
immediate return of the cabinet.”

Thurston said Colburn, Peterson and Corn-
well stated they did not intend to go, but that Parker
said: “‘I’m not afraid. I’ll go to the palace and see
what the Queen wants us to do.’” He left the meeting.

Thurston’s Memoirs continue, covering one
of the most important points in the argument over
United States participation in the Revolution and
further confirming the Cabinet’s intention to depose
their Queen: “I then suggested that the cabinet offi-
cially request John L. Stevens, United States minis-
ter, to land forces from the U.S.S. Boston in order to
prevent violence on the part of Lili‘uokalani, which
Peterson and Colburn both said they feared. Three
members of the cabinet having agreed to my
doing so (Ed.—emphasis added), I drafted, and
Peterson had typewritten, a request to Mr. Stevens,
that he cause men to be landed from the Boston to
preserve the peace; and the request was signed by
the three ministers (Ed.—emphasis added) . . . .

“Taking the paper, I started down town with
William O. Smith. As we reached the door of the
office, however, Peterson called me back and said: ‘I
think you had better give me that request; I’ll deliver
it to Minister Stevens myself.’ Though I urged him to
let me deliver it, he insisted that I surrender it to
him, and I reluctantly complied. I have never seen it
since, and Peterson did not deliver it to Minister
Stevens.”

Later that day, after the events described
below, a special committee of the newly formed Com-
mittee of Safety called on Minister Stevens for the
first time. It was comprised of Thurston, W.C.
Wilder, an American member of the Committee
(Blount, as he did in identifying other members of
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the Committee of Safety who were Hawaiian sub-
jects, did not mention his American connection, list-
ing him only as a “naturalized citizen of the Hawai-
ian Islands, owing no allegiance to any other coun-
try”) and H.F. Glade, German consul—who resigned
from the Committee the next day in view of the
potential conflict with his diplomatic status. They
called on Stevens to inform him of the situation and
“ask him if he was going to support the Queen
against her cabinet and the citizens.” A letter from
Thurston to U.S. Secretary of State John W. Foster
shortly after the Revolution says: 

“Mr. Stevens replied to us that on three
occasions he had been applied to by those rep-
resenting the Queen for support against those
opposed to her, and that he had always given
her assurance of such support as lay within
his power; but that in this case he considered
the position taken by the Cabinet and people
a just and legal one, and the attempt made by
the Queen a revolutionary one; and that if
asked by her for his support he would not
give it; and on the contrary he should recog-
nize the cabinet as the supporters of law and
as possessing the authority of Government so
long as they were supported by any
respectable number of responsible citizens,
and if they called on him he would give them
the same assistance that had always been
afforded to the Hawaiian Government by the
United States Representatives.”19

Stevens apparently was juggling three balls in
the air at once, with requests during that two-day
period for support of the Cabinet itself, support later
from the Cabinet for the Queen and support for the
Revolutionists. Except for the Blount Report’s
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adverse finding, other accounts of the period and
Stevens’ own testimony indicate he played all the
requests right down the middle and said he would
back none of them. He said he would protect Ameri-
can lives and property.

Thurston’s account in his Memoirs of the Sat-
urday events continues:

“Mr. Smith and I returned to his office,
where several dozen men were excitedly discussing
the situation. We informed them of what was occur-
ring at the Government Building. A declaration was
immediately drafted to this effect: since Lili‘uokalani
had announced her intention of subverting the con-
stitution and arbitrarily promulgating a new one, the
undersigned declared her to be in attempted revolu-
tion against the constitution and government and
pledged their support to the cabinet in resisting her.
Signatures were affixed, and messengers were sent
out to bring in other men to sign . . .”

Thurston said the signing was under the
direct supervision of Paul Neumann, the Queen’s
attorney, among others, and that in several hours
nearly a hundred leading members of the communi-
ty had signed it. It later disappeared and “the gener-
al belief of those present was that Neumann had
sequestered it . . . .”

Similar testimony and affidavits from Castle
and others further confirm how close the Cabinet
members came to deposing their own Queen. Princi-
pals from both the Reform and Royalist parties
agreed that her attempts to promulgate a new Con-
stitution were indeed revolutionary and did not have
the support of many of her own advisers. They there-
fore called the successful Revolution of 1893 in actu-
ality a “counter-revolution.” 

Blount called the Revolution a “conspiracy”
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between Stevens and the Committee of Safety, a
point often made by sovereignty activists. A conspir-
acy is defined by Webster as a “secret agreement to
do an unlawful act.” The evidence demonstrates the
buildup of the Hawaiian Revolution was anything
but secret. Thurston’s Memoirs, testimony before the
Morgan Committee and statements from the Royal-
ists make this clear. One point in particular, support-
ed by all three of the above sources, occurred on
Monday morning, January 16, as the Committee
gathered in Thurston’s law offices upstairs over the
old Bishop Bank, Ka‘ahumanu and Merchant streets,
a half-block from the police station on Merchant at
the foot of Bethel.

Thurston describes it:
“While the committee was in session, a

knock sounded at the door. Charles B. Wilson, mar-
shal of the Kingdom and chief of police, was there; he
poked his head into the room and noted the persons
present. Withdrawing, he said to me: ‘Thurston, I
would like to speak with you a minute.’ I accompa-
nied him into the hall; he resumed: ‘I know what you
fellows are up to, and I want you to quit and go
home.’”

Thurston said he told him it was too late; the
die was cast. Thurston later said that after the Revo-
lution was over, he talked again with Wilson, who
told him, “‘When I came to your office that Monday
morning, the cabinet were all over at the police sta-
tion. I told them that the entire Committee of Safety
were in your office, and I asked their permission to
swear out a warrant and arrest the whole lot of you,
but the damned cowards would not give me permis-
sion.’” We can assume today that in addition to any
concerns the Cabinet members may have had about
arresting many of the town’s leading citizens, they
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must also have worried about their own involvement
being discovered by the Queen.

Obviously the Queen, her Cabinet, the chief
of police and probably most of the other key govern-
ment officials knew a revolution was brewing. It was
no secret maneuver and it didn’t occur in a single
day. It was openly planned and carried out over a
four-day period. The Committee of Safety kept the
Queen’s key people informed at all stages. And those
key people made clear their own displeasure with the
direction their Queen was heading. There was no
conspiracy about it. Her decision to seek a more
absolute Monarchy through a new Constitution was
her undoing.

One of her key Cabinet members told Blount
there were other reasons as well. He was Minister of
Foreign Affairs Samuel Parker, by his own descrip-
tion a seven-eighths Hawaiian. He said, “My honest
opinion is this: I think it (the Revolution) never
would have taken place if the Reform ministry had
not been put out.” This was the four-member Cabi-
net that the Queen replaced a few days before the
Revolution with Parker and Colburn—two Hawai-
ians—and Cornwell and Peterson, two Americans.
Parker explained to Blount that had the former Cab-
inet not been discharged at the Queen’s behest, there
would have been no opium bill, no lottery and
assuredly no attempts at a new Constitution, actions
that stirred the community to the point of revolution.
But he told Blount in his opinion the Revolution
would have occurred even if the Queen had not tried
to promulgate a new Constitution: 

“A majority of the capitalists of the town had
no confidence in our ministry. I think it would have
come about anyway,” he replied to a question from
Blount.
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Although loyal to the Queen until after the
counter-revolution in 1895 when he opted for
Annexation, Parker had strong words with her about
the propriety of her actions.

In recounting, for example, at Blount’s
request the “circumstances attending the conference
between the cabinet and the Queen [wherein the cab-
inet refused to sign] the new constitution,” Parker
said he and the Cabinet told the Queen:

“Your Majesty, we have not read the consti-
tution, but before we read it, you must know it is a
revolutionary act. It can not be done . . . . We advise
you to give it up—not to think any more about it.”
He said at this point “she got pretty well excited, and
some of my colleagues said: ‘If you insist upon it, we
will resign.’”

He later told Blount that while he believed
the majority of the people were for the Queen, he did
not think her reinstatement would survive as a gov-
ernment without the protection of an outside power.

“There is a feeling that unless we are under
some country like the United States it would be the
same old revolutionary trouble coming up all the
time . . . . So that I say I do not think it will ever be a
stable government unless we are under a protec-
torate. If we are under a protectorate I say let it be the
United States . . . . I would not accept the same posi-
tion I had before the revolution unless there was a
protectorate . . . . It is no use looking to England,
Japan, France, or Germany. All our benefits are
derived from the United States,” he told Blount.

Reading similar accounts of other interviews
in the Blount Report, one has to wonder why Blount
apparently made no effort to get a balanced picture of
what was going on in Hawai‘i at the time. Dole said
it was because he did all his “fact-finding” from with-
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in his hotel room; that he did not go outside and see
what the community felt like. Here were her own
ministers pointing out the Queen’s faults and their
disagreement with them and Blount did not follow
those reports up with any substantive interviews
with members of the revolutionary group or other
leaders outside of the Royalist party. Flying in the
face of contemporary accounts in his own report of
dissension and lack of confidence among her closest
supporters, he proceeded as if his mind were already
made up to recommend reinstatement of the Queen. 
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little more than one
hundred years ago a
four-day, virtually

bloodless Revolution changed Hawai‘i forever. Gone
was the Monarchy that had controlled these Islands
for eighty years of the 19th Century. The Kingdom
had dwindled from a self-sufficient nation in 1810 of
some two hundred thousand Native Hawaiians and a
handful of immigrants to a struggling collection in
1893 of forty thousand Hawaiians and about as
many immigrants.20 Most of the immigrants were
Asians brought in to provide the work force to main-
tain an economy based on sugar. A few thousand
were Caucasians from America and Europe, many
from Portugal.

The Revolutionists wanted a stable govern-
ment and Annexation to the United States, but the
U.S. administration, to put it simply, didn’t want
Annexation, at least not then.

(For the sake of simplicity, this book is calling
the 1893 action that led to formation of a provision-
al government a “revolution.” There is good reason it
could well be called a “counter-revolution,” the
Queen having committed a revolutionary act by
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attempting to promulgate a new Constitution in vio-
lation of the terms of the existing Constitution she
had sworn to uphold. This point is developed more
fully in Chapter Four and will be developed again
later in this chapter—Ed.) 

Today, some descendants of the forty thou-
sand Hawaiians then residing in the Kingdom, most-
ly from families mixed with the blood of immigrants
from many other nations, are attempting to undo the
results of the 1893 Revolution and re-establish some
form of Hawaiian sovereignty. Their sovereignty
movement depends on portraying the Revolution as
a conspiracy between a group of Caucasian Revolu-
tionists and the United States. They claim that con-
spiracy brought the Islands under control of the
United States. Both aspects are important: First, they
must prove there was a conspiracy, which is not sup-
ported by any factual evidence, and second, that the
result was U.S. control. Since President Cleveland
demonstrated that the U.S. control part wasn’t there,
as did the Provisional Government of Hawai‘i, the
latter claim rests on thin ice, too.

This interpretation of conspiracy and seizure
is key to potential claims against the U.S. govern-
ment for reparations and title to Hawai‘i’s govern-
ment lands. Central to these claims is the interpreta-
tion of the role played by 162 U.S. marines and blue-
jackets on January 17, 1893. And a part of interpret-
ing that role objectively is understanding what U.S.
foreign policy was at the time, and who had the re-
sponsibility for determining it.

Those who are trying to rewrite history and
those who have become their unwitting assistants in
the process persist in calling what happened simply
an “overthrow.” For sure, Queen Lili‘uokalani was
overthrown, but describing the event in that narrow
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a term ignores the far-reaching realities of what was
taking place at that time in Hawai‘i’s history and
why these changes occurred.

The Revolution did not occur in a vacuum. It
did not happen overnight, though once it was trig-
gered it moved with incredible speed. It probably was
inevitable in the tide of America’s “manifest destiny”
that was shaping things internationally. Its timing
was the result of years of questionable governmental
practices on the part of late-19th-Century monarchs
of Hawai‘i, some of which are detailed later in this
chapter and in other chapters. These practices would
be unacceptable today to almost everyone living in
these Islands, and they were unacceptable then to
many of the subjects and residents of the Kingdom.
The Monarchy wasn’t going to change by itself; as in
any revolution, the people living under the Monar-
chy were the only ones who could bring about
change. 

Since no polls were taken in those days, no
one can prove whether a majority of residents—
Hawaiians, Caucasians and others, subjects or other-
wise—favored the Revolution or not. Most com-
ments by Royalist leaders of the day claim that at
least 80 percent of Native Hawaiians would have
opposed it in a secret ballot, and perhaps a quarter of
the remainder of the population. But the record of
what transpired makes very clear that no majority
rose to undo that Revolution once it had succeeded
and that people of all nationalities supported its end
result, Annexation. 

The Annexation Club, from which sprung
the Revolutionary troops, had started in early 1892
as a closely held, small, secret group. By July 1893,
however, its rolls included more than a thousand
Hawaiians, according to J.W. Jones, its secretary. At
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Blount’s request, Jones submitted a report in July
1893 certifying that of the 5,500 members on the
rolls at that time, 1,022, or 18 percent, were Native
Hawaiians—11 percent of the native population as a
whole. There were 1,218 persons he described as
Americans, constituting 22 percent of the club but
90 percent of the Americans in residence. There
were 251 Englishmen, “being 26 percent of those on
the islands and 4 percent of club rolls.” He said there
were 2,261 Portuguese, “being 73 percent of Por-
tuguese on [these] islands and 41 percent of club
rolls.” Half the Norwegians in Hawai‘i, 69, repre-
senting 1 percent of club rolls, were members. Three
hundred fifty-one Germans, 53 percent of those in
the Islands, representing 6 percent of club rolls, were
members, along with 328 persons “unclassified.”

The change the Revolutionists sought in gov-
ernment has to be described as a revolt. It was under-
taken by residents of the Island nation, seething
under the conduct of affairs by their government.
Those who led the revolt were changing a form of
government by a method with long historical and
legal precedent. They were not just getting rid of one
leader to put in a replacement leader and continue an
existing pattern of government. They were throwing
out a system they felt was not working for the resi-
dents of Hawai‘i as a whole. The Revolutionists
knew this kind of movement from monarchy toward
democracy had been used on many other occasions,
in particular by the people of the United States in
1776, when they threw off the yoke of King George
III, and by the French in 1789, when a populist
uprising threw off that Monarchy.

The Revolutionists believed the people of
Hawai‘i would support them, as popular opinion in
America and France had supported those earlier rev-
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olutions. Indeed, since no successful counter-revolu-
tion occurred in Hawai‘i, it is not unreasonable to
describe the movement as having wide acceptance.

Why was there no mass uprising in Hawai‘i
against the Revolution? In part, because in the opin-
ions of Native and Caucasian leaders expressed in
1898, the Revolution of 1893 and the subsequent
Annexation of Hawai‘i by the United States were the
best things that could have happened to the people of
these Islands at that point in history. This viewpoint
was held by those in leadership positions, but
whether it was held by a majority of the general pop-
ulace or not will never be known because no votes
were taken. The absence of a successful counter-rev-
olution appears to confirm it was, but the Revolu-
tionists admittedly did not want to take the chance of
an open vote on the matter.

Colonialism, as we saw in Chapter One, was
rampant in the 19th Century, and the Hawaiian
Monarchy was but one of five Pacific-area kingdoms
still extant. Colonial powers were casting covetous
eyes at Hawai‘i’s strategic position. By mid-century,
the French and the British each had seized control of
the Islands and the Russians had tried to get a
foothold on Kaua‘i. Each had backed off under pres-
sure. German and Japanese interests also could have
moved into the game.

Pressures were building enormously in the
1890s and there is good cause to believe Hawai‘i
could not have remained independent beyond 1900.
Japanese efforts were particularly strong because of
the population dominance that had come about with
the influx of Japanese laborers arriving to work on
the sugar plantations. Their government was
demanding voting rights for the immigrants. These
men had not yet become subjects of Hawai‘i or

87

Revolution

Hawai‘i could
not have
remained inde-
pendent

Annexation 
best thing 
for all people

No uprising
against Revolu-
tionists



to get a larger income from Great Britain. 
The new government watched the newspa-

pers for inaccuracies or potential trouble. The editor
of the Royalist Bulletin was called before the Council.
A story had run in that paper that said the Provi-
sional Government would allow the Queen’s repre-
sentatives to travel on the Claudine. The editor
promised a retraction. 

Ka Leo o Ka La-hui, one of the Hawaiian lan-
guage newspapers, printed an account alleging that a
resolution had been introduced by the new govern-
ment that would require all Hawaiians to be removed
from government employment. The newspaper sug-
gested this was the treatment Hawaiians might
expect from the haole. The Printing Committee was
directed to interview J.E. Bush, the Native Hawaiian
editor, and “inform him of the falsity of his report.”
The committee did so, reminding him of the procla-
mation that had been read and posted, and which
clearly stated that only the Queen, her Cabinet and
Marshal Wilson had been asked to resign and that all
other government workers had been asked to “con-
tinue their functions.” A retraction was demanded.
Instead, Bush wrote further that it was only Dole’s
vote that had blocked the anti-Hawaiian resolution.
Again, Bush was questioned. This time he said the
failure to correct the misinformation had been acci-
dental and promised to correct it in the next issue. 

And so it went. The Council dealt, day in and
day out, with juggling the business of running the
governmental affairs of the Islands and keeping a
careful watch that no problem would erupt into
bloody dispute in the streets. These men believed
their job was temporary; they believed their envoys
to Washington would send them word of Annexation
to that country. They would do the best they could to
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keep Hawai‘i at peace and move forward until
Annexation happened, and then return to their busi-
nesses or professions. None of them wanted a per-
manent government job. 

It would be a long wait, but they didn’t know
that yet. 
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mericans were captivated by the Revo-
lution in Hawai‘i as both sides sent
emissaries to Washington to seek
administration backing. Popular opin-
ion seemed to favor the Revolutionists

but there were plenty of voices raised on behalf of the
Royalists and it made good copy for months in news-
papers across the country. 

Washington officials conducted two investi-
gations of the Revolution, both by Democrats. For-
mer Congressman James H. Blount of Georgia was
dispatched to Hawai‘i in secret in March 1893 by
President Cleveland to make an investigation on the
ground. The other was ordered by a Senate resolu-
tion in January 1894 and was conducted by the U.S.
Senate Committee on Foreign Relations, chaired by
Sen. John T. Morgan of Alabama.

The Blount Report in the spring of 1893 was
based on secret interviews, unsworn statements and
Blount’s acknowledged arbitrary selection of wit-
nesses. His report charged that U.S. Minister John
Stevens and U.S. naval forces had conspired with the
Revolutionists in violation of international law,
enabling success of the Revolution. That charge,
though not supported by any subsequent hearing,
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was the basis for Cleveland’s efforts in November
1893 to restore the Monarchy through his new min-
ister to Hawai‘i, A.S. Willis.45 Cleveland also made
similar charges against Stevens in September 1893
on recommendations by Blount, though the report
itself was not released until several months after the
president made his charges and did not reach the
Provisional Government until December. The Provi-
sional Government was given no time to comment or
react before Cleveland made public his charges, a
diplomatic breach that was highly criticized by the
new Hawaiian government as well as critics of the
Cleveland administration. 

The other investigation, the Morgan Report,
was launched in early 1894 after the Blount Report
became public. All of the Morgan Committee evi-
dence was based on sworn statements and its hear-
ings were open to anyone who wished to testify. It
exonerated Stevens and the U.S. troops by a vote of
five to four among the Senate committee members
and held out the hope of Annexation.

Both investigations were conducted by politi-
cians experienced in foreign relations and in con-
ducting hearings. Blount had been chairman of the
Committee on Foreign Relations of the U.S. House.
Morgan was the current chairman of the Senate
Committee on Foreign Relations. Testimony in the
Morgan hearings hinted that many believed Blount
was sent by Cleveland with a predetermined agenda,
which Blount denied. He testified before the Morgan
Committee that he had been sent only to gather facts
and had no contact with the Queen except for two
formal meetings, one when he arrived and one when
he left, each only several minutes in length. There is
no doubt, however, that he made recommendations
regarding restoration of the Monarchy and censuring
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Stevens. And in spite of only the two meetings, his
sentiments were carried to the Queen and her reac-
tion was sought by him through others. As an expe-
rienced Washingtonian, he must have known that
when he talked to her close associates, Cabinet mem-
bers and friends, reports would be going back to her,
and he used these channels. She details many of
these messages in her diaries. In the period from his
arrival on March 29 to October 16, 1893, Lili‘uo-
kalani makes a dozen or more references to assur-
ances coming to her from close advisers who had met
with Blount that “he will take care of everything.”
As early as April 10, three days after Paul Neumann,
her attorney and emissary to Washington, had
returned to Honolulu, she writes about “good news”
he brought, that he spoke personally with Cleveland
and “was promised justice. [Neumann] wants to
impress on me two things, [that I stress my] love of
my people, and [my concern for] their future wel-
fare—that their rights be restored and be maintained.
Heard that in two weeks everything will be settled,
then he (Ed.—Blount) is going to enjoy a good time.
Fraulein (Ed.—her personal psychic about whom
more is related in Chapter Three) says between the
21st and 25th I will be restored to the throne.”

On May 28, she reports hearing from Mary
Carter, wife of her long-time, closest supporter, J.O.
Carter, “that Mr. Spreckels said plainly there is noth-
ing for him to do now but to help restore me to the
throne, that it would be well for me to appoint a new
Cabinet, proclaim a new Constitution, proclaim mar-
tial law, etc. Mr. Spreckels will call on me tomorrow
morning.”

The May 29 entry must have left the Queen
in a very good mood. “Mr. [Sam] Parker (Ed.—her
ex-minister of foreign affairs) came and [had] break-
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fast with me, informed me that Mr. Spreckels would
be the means of putting me back on the throne
(Ed.—through various moves that she outlines). Mr.
Claus Spreckels called at quarter to 12 noon and told
me all that Mr. Parker had stated and proposes to
have Mr. Antone Rosa as Attorney General when I
go back . . . he said he will stay until everything is set-
tled. Says that when he draws money from them they
will fall to pieces (Ed.—the Monarchy government
had incurred a huge debt to Spreckels that was com-
ing due, but Dole and his advisers managed to raise
the money privately and paid him off, thus thwarting
this maneuver.) They will not require guns—he
and Blount will do everything (Ed.—emphasis
added). They must suffer those missionaries for
overthrowing my government, and their property
must pay for all.” 

Spreckels obviously was reflecting more than
a casual conversation with Blount when he discussed
whether guns would be needed or not. And the
Queen, with her reference to the missionaries, was
reflecting the erroneous political propensity for
blaming everything on the missionaries. We know
there were no missionaries involved in the over-
throw—just three descendants of missionaries on
the Committee of Safety and an additional handful of
descendants among the hundreds of volunteers.

Further evidence of an open and informed
relationship between Blount and the Queen’s sup-
porters is confirmed in diary entries for May 12 and
22 dealing with a petition opposing Annexation,
which was made a part of the Blount Report. 

On May 12, the Queen notes that “Mr.
Blount asked Mr. Parker what we were doing among
the people. He knew there was a memorial [petition]
being got ready but why are they so long about it. He

Hawaiian Sovereignty: Do the Facts Matter?

178

Spreckels
advised 

ex-Queen
Blount would

restore her



was aware of the untruthfulness of the statements of
the other side.”

On May 22, she notes that “Mr. Parker
brought news that Mr. Claus Spreckels was taking a
memorial around amongst the principal firms in
town to take their signatures expressing their opin-
ion against annexation . . .”

Blount himself had told her, she notes on
April 24, that “he had no authority to act in any-
thing.” In the same entry, however, she notes he told
her he had withdrawn the troops and raised the
Hawaiian Flag, and she adds cryptically, “but what-
ever we did for ourselves he had nothing to do with.”

In between her comments about encourage-
ment from Blount, she makes many references to
signing commissions, discussing Cabinet appoint-
ments, making other preparations for becoming
Queen again “after the restoration.” She knew where
Blount was headed.

On August 5, after Blount’s second official—
and farewell—meeting with her, she notes that “He
wished I would select such men as J.O.C. (Ed.—J.O.
Carter) and E.C. Macfarlane to help me in the admin-
istration of the government. 

“When I told him that the P.G.s (Ed.—Provi-
sional Government people) had threatened to take
my life, should news be received of my restoration,
what ought I to do? He said is not Admiral J.S. Sker-
rett here, and also the British and other commission-
ers.”

James H. Wodehouse, British commissioner
and consul general to Hawai‘i and a vocal opponent
of U.S. Minister John Stevens and Annexation to the
United States, was a frequent visitor to the Queen
and a frequent social contact with Blount during his
stay. He is mentioned many times in the diaries with
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comments on the restoration theme and her person-
al safety. She writes on June 5, after recording details
of a visit from Wodehouse, “[He] said he and Blount
would act together.” The context seems to be in
terms of protecting her.

Her entry for September 20 appears to con-
firm this. She writes about the concern of various of
her friends for her safety, then adds, “I have such
confidence [in] what Mr. Blount said when he went
away that I have no fears.” 

On another subject, on August 15, the Queen
was visited by Archibald S. Cleghorn, father of
Princess Ka‘iulani, a close family friend and brother-
in-law whom she had appointed governor of O‘ahu.
She writes: “[He] asked why I did not make arrange-
ments for E.C. Macfarlane to go to the United States
as such had been the instructions from Mr. Blount. I
told him I was not aware that Mr. Blount had said so.
We then made arrangements for his trip.” Macfar-
lane arrived in Washington on September 10 and met
secretly with Blount and Secretary of State Gresham.
Blount actually came to Macfarlane’s hotel and
warned him not to tell anyone about it. 

The reason for Macfarlane’s secret mission to
Washington becomes clear in the Queen’s diary
entry for October 10, Macfarlane having just
returned. (At this date in Washington, Gresham had
completed his study of the Blount Report and had
privately told several people that the Queen must be
restored to her throne, but Blount’s recommenda-
tions were not made public until over a month later,
November 16. The Provisional Government did not
get a copy until late in December). Macfarlane obvi-
ously had a very good relationship with Gresham.
The Queen writes:

“Mr. E.C. Macfarlane called to pay his

Hawaiian Sovereignty: Do the Facts Matter?

180

Macfarlane
makes secret

mission to
Washington

Lili‘uokalani got
messages from

Blount



respects. He reached Washington 10th Sept.
Mr. Blount called on him and spent two
hours—was told not to let any one know that
he had seen him except J.O. Carter. Asked
how everything was in Hawai‘i—was told
everything was in peace & quiet. He was glad
to hear it, he was much afraid disturbance
would arise, but it was wonderful what
power the Queen had over her people, and it
was the best thing for us. It has been the main
chance of our success. He (Ed.—Blount) said
within five or six weeks from now Mr. Willis
& Mr. Mills will be [in Hawai‘i] and Mr.
Willis will have his instructions. They will
first call on you and Mr. [J.O.] Carter.” 

This was well before the Willis mission
became public. Ellis Mills, about to be appointed new
U.S consul general in Hawai‘i, took the notes for
Blount’s interviews as well as Willis’ crucial later
interviews with the Queen. 

The diary entry continues: “He (Ed.—
Blount) must not be seen or known to have called on
Mr. M (Ed.—Macfarlane). That next day he (Ed.—
Macfarlane) should call on Mr. Gresham and say
nothing about him (Ed.—Blount). He (Ed.—Blount)
would advise him not to stay long in Washington, for
himself he would immediately leave as his steps were
being dogged, and he must go back to Georgia. He
was annoyed the P.G.s should mention his wife’s
name.” (Blount, who did not interview Dole but who
met formally with him to present his credentials—
which said nothing about his mission—also had sev-
eral arguments with Dole while he was in Honolulu,
most of them over minor or technical matters. One
was a serious disagreement involving freedom of the
press and the powers of the Provisional Government
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versus those of the U.S. representative, Blount. In
that case, the Provisional Government had charged
Charles Nordhoff, a reporter with the New York Her-
ald, with libel for publishing a totally erroneous
story claiming several members of the Provisional
Government Advisory Council had signed the lottery
petition during the last legislative session. The gov-
ernment wished to banish him. Passage of the lottery
bill had been one of the reasons for the Revolution
and the Provisional Government had repealed it as
one of its first actions. Nordhoff, who was a staunch
supporter of the Royalists, was trying to paint the
“P.G.s” as hypocrites. Blount, who had spent many
hours with Nordhoff during his investigation, inter-
vened and Dole backed off.)46

The Queen’s diary entry for October 10 con-
tinues: “Macfarlane met Secretary Gresham. Was
immediately ushered into his presence while all the
others had to wait. From one to five their interview
lasted. Mr. M. was allowed to say all he had to say
without interruption. Found Mr. Gresham a man of
great shrewdness and broad mind & great intelli-
gence. He found that Mr. Gresham seemed to have
great interest in our cause, asked about the Queen &
her capability, again about taking an election,
whether there would be equal voting. (Ed.—Gre-
sham apparently was wondering about a popular
election for a new monarch.) Mac said no, it would
simply end in the Queen & no other, and why no
other: because we would have no other . . . Mac met
Mr. Mills & dined with him.” 

These events suggest pretty clearly that
Blount, if he ever had been a neutral “fact finder,”
had become deeply committed to the effort to rein-
state the Queen—she knew a lot more about U.S.
strategies than did the Provisional Government.
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The Queen’s diary entries disclose little for
the critical period of November 16 to December 23
when Willis was engaged in his secret meetings with
her, trying to bring about the restoration of her
throne. He had first to get her to agree to comply
with Cleveland’s demand for amnesty for the Revo-
lutionists, which she turned down flatly on Novem-
ber 16. According to Willis and Mills, who was tak-
ing notes behind a screen, she said she would have
the Revolutionists beheaded. With no cable to dis-
cuss this enormous problem with Gresham, Willis
was not able to get back to her until December 16. By
then he had new instructions that Cleveland would
withdraw his support if she did not agree to
amnesty.47 J.O. Carter was present at the December
16 meeting, and again she refused to bend. On
December 18, however, she met again with Willis
and Carter and had changed her mind completely.
Now she was offering amnesty. But it was too late.
Cleveland had already turned the matter over to Con-
gress. Willis, however, did not yet know of this and
on December 20 he met with leaders of the Provi-
sional Government and presented Cleveland’s
extraordinary demand that they restore the Monar-
chy. An entire plan, new Cabinet, new Constitution,
the signing of eleven commissions for new ministers,
etc., had been worked out by the Queen and her
advisers, although Willis did not agree with all of the
names she had submitted as new Cabinet members
and officers. It never became a problem because on
December 23 the Provisional Government said no to
the entire matter in the “extraordinary correspon-
dence” detailed in Chapter Five. 

For several months the Provisional Govern-
ment wrangled with the United States over the
breaches of diplomatic protocol involved in Willis
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clandestinely operating within the boundaries of a
recognized foreign country, plotting the downfall of
its government. Meanwhile, the Queen for several
months in her diaries continued to write of her
developing plans for Cabinet members, meetings
with Wodehouse, the British consul, etc., but her
brief association with Blount, Willis, Gresham and
Cleveland was over. 

Going back to the Blount Report as a research
source about the Revolution, it’s obvious he cared lit-
tle about events that had led to its happening. Kuyk-
endall described his report as a “lawyer’s brief, mak-
ing the best possible case for the queen and against
Stevens.” The historian said the Morgan Report
“presented an equally effective case for the Provi-
sional Government and Stevens, and against the
Queen.”

Blount’s interviews with the only two Com-
mittee of Safety members he chose to include, nei-
ther an American, show his questions were directed
toward determining when Stevens had recognized
the new government, not what had caused the com-
munity to revolt. Blount steered clear from formally
interviewing anyone who might be construed as a
U.S. citizen, but nevertheless he managed to blame
the United States for the Revolution’s success.

His report, too, was put together in a less-
than-neutral manner, quite aside from his one-sided
selection of witnesses. He stated, based on inter-
views only with the Queen’s Cabinet members, that
they had been approached by L.A. Thurston to get
their help, rather than the other way around. The
Provisional Government did not get a copy of the
report until December, after which Thurston wrote a
letter explaining that the Cabinet had approached
him, giving the Queen her first knowledge of her
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Cabinet’s treasonous idea. It is a measure of her con-
fidence in the parties that she wrote in her diary that
day that Colburn and the Cabinet were the treason-
ous men—she did not question Thurston’s account.

Blount also referred to American members of
the Committee of Safety as persons of “foreign ori-
gin,” and in the case of the Hawaiian-born members
such as Castle, Smith and Thurston, “Hawaiians of
foreign origin.” Here he was gathering facts for his
American president and he fails to inform him that
most of these key figures were of American origin,
the children of U.S. citizens, or U.S. citizens them-
selves.

One of the most influential, concerned and
knowledgeable members of the community about the
background that led to revolt was P.C. Jones, who
had been finance minister in the Cabinet ousted on
January 12 by the Queen.

Jones went to see Blount when Blount
arrived in Honolulu and told him that as he was inti-
mately acquainted with the government during the
last two months of the Monarchy, “I may be able to
give some information in regard to our affairs, and I
shall be pleased to give my statement if you desire it.”
Blount told Jones he’d be pleased to have an inter-
view with him, and would let him know when he
would be ready to do it. In fact, Jones had a statement
drawn up and sworn to, but Blount never contacted
him, “though [I am] informed and believe that other
persons suggested to Mr. Blount that he secure the
statement.”

Jones’ statement ended up being submitted to
the U.S. Senate Committee on Foreign Relations, the
Morgan Committee. Unlike many of the statements
accepted by Blount, and his interviews, every state-
ment accepted by the Morgan Committee was sworn
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to and every witness testified in public and under
oath.

Jones wanted it clear that the roots of the
Revolution were not shallow, but dated back to the
beginning of Kala-kaua’s reign. Extracts from his tes-
timony follow:

“No King ever had better prospects for a
peaceful and successful reign than did Kala-kaua, and
if he had made a proper use of his right and powers
he might have made his reign a prosperous one.

“He seemed to be wholly corrupt, and his
influence was one which had its effect on the mass of
the native people. Not satisfied with [his ability to
appoint] (Ed.—before the Reform Constitution) the
House of Nobles, he interfered in the election of rep-
resentatives by using liquor which was taken from
the custom-house duty free and promising offices
under his patronage.

“He dismissed more than one cabinet for
nothing, and in some instances sent messages to
their houses in the middle of the night asking for
their resignations, while others whom he assured
had his implicit confidence he discharged a few
hours after.

“Kala-kaua surrounded himself with men of
bad character and gave himself up to habits unbe-
coming a King. He was always in debt and resorted
to measures for raising money that were wholly dis-
honorable for any man, much more a King.

“The Legislature of 1890 paid up his debts
and issued bonds to the amount of $95,000 to meet
his obligations, pledging the income of the Crown
lands at the rate of $20,000 a year to meet these
bonds, but when his sister came to the throne she
immediately repudiated the pledge given by her
brother, and now this debt has to be born by the
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State, only $5,000 being received on this account.
“When he died the country had much hope

for the better state of things from his sister
Lili‘uokalani [but] she evidently had not profited by
the Revolution of 1887 and thought herself to be suf-
ficiently strong to get back the power taken from her
brother . . . . She was more cunning, more deter-
mined, and no coward as he had been.”

Jones felt the time for him to break with the
Queen had come. In his affidavit, he told the Morgan
Committee: “I was fully convinced that if ever it was
necessary to take a decided stand for representative
and responsible government it was at this time.
While the Queen had professed to take back all she
had said and done about a new constitution I felt it
was only to gain time to make better preparations to
carry out her designs and . . . I felt it was my duty . .
. to do what I could to assist in putting down a form
of government that was oppressive and corrupt . . . .”

Jones detailed in his affidavit the bribery and
other tactics of the Queen and her cohorts in bring-
ing about passage of the lottery and opium bills,
removing the Jones-Wilcox Cabinet from office and
appointing a new group of four to replace them. The
new Cabinet members, all opposed politically to the
Jones-Wilcox Cabinet, were expected to support the
Queen in her efforts to gain new powers. They did
back her in her successful efforts to pass the lottery
and opium bills, but after much thinking and discus-
sion, they decided to oppose her attempt to promul-
gate a new Constitution. Inasmuch as they repre-
sented various elements of the Hawaiian community
opposed to the Annexation Club membership, it is
clear she did not have the full support of her own
people in her quest for new powers for the Monar-
chy. 
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Blount apparently failed to get this insight.
There is no doubt that he made his recommendations
and assessments about the character and intentions
of leaders of the Revolution without talking with
them or listening to their testimony. Committee
members’ relationships and conversations with
Stevens would seem to be critical to making a finding
of conspiracy, as he charged. His failure to interview
key individuals is a fairly obvious indication he had
already decided that Stevens and the Republican
administration of President Harrison were to bear
the blame. At the very least, he failed to secure infor-
mation and evidence that normally would be the
basis for such a finding. 

A generally favorable essay on Blount con-
tained in a carefully researched 1988 work, The New
South Faces the World, by the noted southern histori-
an Tennant S. McWilliams, indicates Blount
approached his task with a bias built-in by his
upbringing and political background.

McWilliams, professor and chairman of the
history department at the University of Alabama,
had this to say about Blount and his mission to inves-
tigate America’s role in the Hawaiian Revolution:

“One of the first scholars to examine Blount’s
mission, Julius W. Pratt, suggested that the special
commissioner—a former Georgia congressman and
former Confederate—acted in a most peculiar way.
Instead of reflecting the ‘southern’ racial and eco-
nomic support for expansionism characteristic of the
loud-talking Senator Morgan, Blount recommended
that the president condemn Americans involved in
the Hawaiian Revolution and reinstate Queen
Lili‘uokalani as the rightful royal authority over the
Islands. An assessment of the Georgian’s developing
career, however, and a close analysis of his Hawaiian
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investigation suggests that Blount and many other
southerners could hardly have thought any different-
ly.” They were simply opposed to expansionism and
intervention by the U.S. government in any fashion.

McWilliams agrees it was Blount’s known
sentiment against Annexation—and the support of
three of his southern friends in Cleveland’s Cabinet
who were similarly disposed—that was perhaps the
most important factor in his selection for the mis-
sion. He did not disappoint, though as McWilliams
insightfully points out, his report apparently went
too far even for Cleveland.

Writes McWilliams: 
“Blount’s document did not find overwhelm-

ing applause in Washington, D.C., nor in many other
places in America. For the ‘paramount’ special com-
missioner had done more than nail a conspiracy on
the Republican foreign policy of 1893. He had docu-
mented the case against any American administra-
tion . . . ever annexing Hawai‘i. This was not neces-
sarily what Cleveland had had in mind.” 

When credibility of the Morgan Report is
weighed, its supporters are influenced favorably by
the more than 800 pages packed with testimony and
information from more than 50 witnesses: Hawaiian
historians, leaders of the Revolution and leaders of
the military forces landed by the United States, most
of whom testified in line with the findings of the
committee. Supporters feel the sworn testimony of
that many persons before a committee composed of
interrogators from both sides of the question should
be given more weight than the findings of a single
individual with a known bias.

The Morgan Report has been criticized
because the chairman asked leading questions at
times, as the record shows, and the report did not
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receive the unanimous agreement of all nine com-
mittee members. In testimony at the Morgan hear-
ings, Blount, too, was accused of asking leading ques-
tions. But because Blount’s questioning was done in
secret, no one knows the extent of such questioning
practices. We know from other testimony that he did
not seek the opinions of those in favor of Annexa-
tion, or with American connections, or involved in
the leadership of the Revolution. We do not know for
sure what testimony he received but did not include
in his report nor even what questions he asked.
There is no explanation either as to why he excluded
witnesses whose commitments to Annexation were
well known or who had firsthand knowledge of deci-
sions made by the Revolutionists or causes for the
Revolution itself. 

He interviewed one former member of the
revolutionary military force, Fred W. Wundenberg,
who told Blount that without the support of U.S.
troops the Revolution would not have been success-
ful. Blount accepted this as fact without interviewing
anyone on the other side. Wundenberg, a part-
Hawaiian, resigned from the revolutionary force a
few days after the Queen’s surrender and when his
testimony to Blount became known in December, he
was branded a liar and a traitor.48 The Star labeled
him a “perjured and lottery-besmirched” Royalist
spy. He was fired from his position as clerk of the
Supreme Court after a public outcry. The Star said he
had withdrawn from the revolutionary movement
because he was disgruntled at not being appointed
marshal. Blount treated him as though he had been
in the high command of the revolutionary force and
made no mention of his having been a turncoat. 

The Blount Report had one signature, his
own. The Morgan Report was the signed opinion of
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nine senators, with two minority reports split along
party lines and covering disagreements on only a few
points, detailed later in this book.

Witness after witness at the Morgan hearing
testified about faults in the Blount Report. Either he
had failed to talk with them or he disregarded facts
they had presented to him. In the case of Crister
Bolte, a German citizen and one of the two members
of the Committee of Safety whom Blount did talk to,
Blount’s questions were challenged as leading or
unfair. As Bolte stated, “. . . during this interview, on
several occasions, [I] objected to the method
employed by said Blount, and remonstrated with him
that he did not put his questions fairly. . . . Said
Blount asked his questions in a very leading form,
and . . . on several occasions when [I] attempted to
more fully express his meaning, said Blount would
change the subject and proceed to other matters.”49

Strangely, as noted above, Blount did not
interview any of the leaders of the Committee of
Safety although all offered to meet with him. As
mentioned earlier, he labeled its three missionary-
connected members, Thurston, Smith and Castle,
“Hawaiians of foreign origin” without mentioning
the American citizenship of their parents. He made
his charges that they and the other Committee mem-
bers had conspired with Stevens without input from
any of them, although all were readily available to
him. In an affidavit filed with the Morgan Commit-
tee, the entire Committee of Safety, under oath, stat-
ed:

“That we are the persons appointed as a
citizens’ committee of safety, at Honolulu, in
January last.

“That neither prior to nor after our
appointment as such committee, did we or
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either of us, individually or collectively, have
any agreement or understanding, directly or
indirectly, with the U.S. minister, Mr.
Stevens, or Captain Wiltse, that they or either
of them would assist in the overthrow of the
Monarchy or the establishment of the Provi-
sional Government.

“That at no time, either before or after
such appointment, did Mr. Stevens ever rec-
ommend or urge us, or either of us, to
dethrone the Queen or establish a Provision-
al Government.

“That at no time, either before or after
such appointment, did Mr. Stevens or Cap-
tain Wiltse promise us, or either of us, that
the United States troops would be used to
assist in the overthrow of the Queen or the
establishment of the Provisional Govern-
ment, and such troops, in fact, were not so
used.

“That the forces that rallied to the sup-
port of the Provisional Government were
ample to overthrow the monarchy and estab-
lish the Provisional Government, and such
action would have been taken by the Com-
mittee regardless of the presence or absence
of the American troops.

“That the reason of the confidence of
the committee in its ability to accomplish
its object was that the same men who
were supporting the movement had car-
ried through a peaceful revolution in
1887 and suppressed an armed uprising
in 1889. The armed supporters of the
movement were not a disorganized body,
as has been represented, but were com-
posed largely of the volunteer white mili-
tia which was in existence and formed
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the effective strength in the conflicts of
1887 and 1889 (Ed.-emphasis added), and
which, although disbanded by the Royalist
Government in 1890, had retained its organi-
zation, and turned out under the command of
its old officers, constituting a well drilled, dis-
ciplined, and officered military force of men
of high character and morale, with perfect
confidence in themselves, and holding in con-
tempt the courage and ability of those whom
they have twice before overawed and defeat-
ed.”

In a separate statement filed with the Morgan
Committee, L.A. Thurston, at the time Hawaiian
minister to the United States, replied to what he
called “personal attacks [by Blount in published
extracts from his report] upon me and those associ-
ated with me in the Provisional Government,
impugning our veracity, good faith, and courage, and
charging us with fraud and duplicity. I deem it prop-
er, therefore, to make a personal reply to such
charges, confining myself to statements of fact . . . 

“First, before stating such facts, I desire
to call attention to Mr. Blount’s method of
constructing his report. Although he, in sev-
eral places, states that I was the leader of the
revolutionary movement, he has never asked
me a question concerning the same, nor given
me opportunity to make any statement,
although I have at all times been ready and
willing to do so. The same is true of a large
number of other men who took a leading part
in the movement of January last.

“In the second place, his evidence con-
sists exclusively of prepared affidavits or of
answers to leading questions put by himself,
at private interviews, no one else being pres-
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ent but the stenographer. In no instance has
there been any cross-examination of witness-
es or opportunity given to contradict or
explain evidence given or present other evi-
dence.”

Blount also came in for some harsh words
from Sanford B. Dole, president of the Hawaiian gov-
ernment at the time. Dole formulated a stinging
indictment of American diplomacy in his January 11,
1894, letter to Blount’s successor, Minister Willis,
who had been sent under secret orders to Hawai‘i to
demand its government turn the nation back to the
Monarchy. In the letter, he had these comments to
make about Blount:

“Upon the arrival of Mr. Blount in the
country he did not communicate or in any
manner intimate to the Hawaiian Govern-
ment that his investigations were to be direct-
ed toward the right of existence of the Gov-
ernment to whom he was accredited. All of
his investigations and examinations were pri-
vate, and such persons only were examined as
he chose to call.

“An examination of his report since pub-
lished, shows that there are statements by
approximately sixty Royalists and twenty
supporters of the Provisional Government.

“That he obtained no statement from the
four members of the Cabinet voted out before
the revolutionary attempt of the Queen,
although he has obtained exhaustive state-
ments from their Royal successors.

“That he has examined only two of the
thirteen members of the Committee of Safety,
one of the original four members of the Exec-
utive Council of the Provisional Government,
three of the original fourteen members of the
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Advisory Council, two of the eight speakers
who addressed the mass meeting called by the
Committee of Safety on the day prior to the
establishment of the Provisional Govern-
ment, and but one of the eight field and staff
officers and none of the eleven line officers in
command of the forces of the Provisional
Government, and none of the five commis-
sioners sent to Washington, although all of
such men . . . were eye witnesses and active
participants in the overthrow . . . and all [are]
men of character and standing in the commu-
nity, while a number of those examined on
the royalist side are irresponsible characters.

“Although Mr. Blount’s Report is official
in character, vitally affects this Government,
is distinctly hostile to it in tone and conclu-
sions, no request to this Government for
explanation of the charges therein made was
received, nor opportunity to reply thereto, or
notice of its contents given prior to its publi-
cation.”

The Hawaiian government read extracts of
the report in American papers, dated November 20,
1893, but did not receive a copy of the report until
December 22, “only after several applications there-
for to the State Department,” Dole wrote.

Thurston’s statement to Morgan continued:
“A brief examination of the published

portions of the [Blount] report shows numer-
ous incorrect statements. I shall endeavor for
the present, however, to answer the more
salient points only. “First, Mr. Blount charges
that the American troops were landed under
a prearranged agreement with the committee
of safety that they should so land and assist in
the overthrow of the Queen. In reply I hereby
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state that at no time did Mr. Stevens or Cap-
tain Wiltse assure me or the committee of
safety, or any subcommittee thereof, that the
United States troops would assist in over-
throwing the Queen or establishing the Provi-
sional Government; and as a matter of fact,
they did not so assist.”

Thurston went on to say there were witness-
es “in overwhelming number” who could testify in
support of that statement, “but Mr. Blount has ren-
dered it unnecessary to do so.” Thurston cites the
testimony of Wundenburg and Damon in the Blount
Report as proving his point. Neither gave testimony
directly stating that Stevens had said he would sup-
port the Revolutionists. Their testimony inferred
that Stevens’ avowed support of Annexation could
lead to an assumption he would have been support-
ive of the Revolutionists had fighting broken out. 

“Second,” Thurston continued, “Mr. Blount
charges that the Queen had ample military force with
which to have met the committee, and but for the
support of the United States representatives and
troops the establishment of the Provisional Govern-
ment would have been impossible.”

Thurston said the U.S. troops were not essen-
tial and did not assist in the overthrow. “The result
of the movement would have been eventually the
same if there had not been a marine within a thou-
sand miles of Honolulu.” (Incidentally, the term
“marine” has been used loosely by all sides in
accounts of the Revolution. In fact, the marine mem-
bers of the U.S. force were divided equally between
the American legation and the American consulate,
nowhere near the palace grounds. Bluejackets were
the troops positioned near the palace, albeit across
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the street and out of sight.)
Thurston cited this evidence the U.S. troops

were not necessary:
“1. The troops did not land till Monday

night, the 16th of January, after the revolu-
tion had been in full progress since the after-
noon of Saturday, the 14th, during which
time the committee of safety was openly
organizing for the avowed purpose of over-
throwing the Queen.” (Ed.—Stevens and
Captain Wiltse and the ship Boston were in
Hilo for the previous ten days, returning to
Honolulu at noon on the 14th with obviously
no up-to-the-minute knowledge of develop-
ments until they reached Honolulu Harbor,
there being no inter-island phones.)

“2. There was absolutely no attempt at
concealment from the Government of the
objects and intentions of the committee.

“3. The Queen, her cabinet, and their
supporters were utterly demoralized, suspi-
cious of one another, and devoid of leader-
ship.”

As evidence that there was no concealment
from the government of the intentions of the Com-
mittee, Thurston stated:

“On the afternoon of Saturday, the 14th,
in reply to the request of the Queen’s cabinet
for advice as to what they had better do, the
Queen then still insisting upon the proclama-
tion of the constitution and supporting it by
force, I advised them to declare the Queen in
revolution and the throne vacant, and at their
request and at the expressed approval of two
of them and the tacit assent of the other two,
then and there drew up a form of proclama-
tion to that effect.
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“At half past 4 in the afternoon of Satur-
day, the 14th, at a meeting of about 200 citi-
zens at the office of W.O. Smith, the Queen
was denounced in the strongest terms, armed
resistance and a counter-revolution were
openly advocated, and the Queen’s minister
of the interior, John Colburn, addressed the
meeting, asking [citizens’] armed support
against the Queen. The Queen’s attorney
general, Mr. Peterson, and her personal attor-
ney, Paul Neumann, were both present taking
part in the meeting. The committee of safety
was publicly then and there named and pro-
ceeded forthwith to organize.

“At 6 o’clock on Sunday morning, the
15th, I told Mr. Peterson and Mr. Colburn,
two members of the Queen’s cabinet, that the
committee intended to depose the Queen and
establish a provisional government; that if
they would take charge of the movement, well
and good, otherwise the committee intended
to take action on its own account. They asked
for twenty-four hours in which to consider
the matter. I declined to wait, stating to them
that the committee intended to proceed forth-
with.

“The committee met openly that morn-
ing at 10 o’clock, with the full knowledge of
the Government of the place of its meeting. It
remained in session during the greater part of
the day, while several [of the Queen’s] police
kept watch of the building from the street.

“On Monday morning at 9 o’clock the
committee, without attempt at concealment,
met in my office, within 200 feet of the police
station, Marshal Wilson’s headquarters,
where the entire police force was stationed.
While the meeting was in progress Wilson
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came to the office and asked to speak to me
privately, and we went into an adjoining
room.”

Thurston stated Wilson wanted the Revolu-
tion stopped and said he could control the Queen.
Thurston told him it was too late, and they were
going to “settle it now, once and for all.”

“Wilson left the office. He has since stat-
ed that he immediately reported to the cabi-
net and advised arresting the committee, but
the cabinet was afraid and refused to allow it.

“At 2 o’clock on the afternoon of Mon-
day, the 16th, a mass meeting of 3,000
unarmed men was held within a block of the
palace. The meeting was addressed by a num-
ber of speakers, all denouncing the Queen.
The meeting, with tremendous cheering and
enthusiasm, unanimously adopted resolu-
tions declaring the Queen to be in revolution,
and authorizing the committee to proceed to
do whatever was necessary . . . . While this
meeting was in progress, another was being
held by the Royalists in the streets, within a
block of the armory, which adopted resolu-
tions in support of the Queen.

“Never in the history of Hawai‘i has
there been such a tense condition of mind or
a more imminent expectation of bloodshed
and conflict . . . . Mr. Blount’s statement that
the community was at peace and quiet is
grossly inaccurate. It was at this juncture, two
hours after the adjournment of the above
meetings, that Captain Wiltse and Mr.
Stevens, acting upon their own responsibility
and discretion, and irrespective of the request
or actions of the Committee, landed the
troops, which were distributed in three parts

The Investigators

199

Community 
not at peace

Mass meeting
declared Queen
to be in revolt

Wilson tried to
stop revolt



of the city, instead of being massed at one
point, as stated by Mr. Blount.”

Thurston’s statement goes on to detail efforts
of the Queen’s Cabinet to gain support from the com-
munity to overthrow the Queen themselves, the sign-
ing of a petition of support of their proposal by more
than 80 persons at the meeting in Smith’s office, and
details of the previous two revolutions, in 1887 and
1889.

A sworn statement by William R. Castle, an
attorney, former legislator and a member of the Com-
mittee of Safety, pins down to Monday morning the
Committee’s first request to Minister Stevens for the
landing of troops. He said it was not thought of until
that morning’s meeting of the committee when dis-
cussions began about possible rioting, fires and
threats to American lives and property.

50

“The request was therefore made to Min-
ister Stevens for exactly that kind of protec-
tion. It was put in writing, signed by the
entire Committee of Safety, and taken to Min-
ister Stevens by Mr. Thurston and myself
after the mass meeting . . . . The troops land-
ed about 5 o’clock . . . . Monday night was one
of suspense and terror throughout the entire
community. A riotous uprising of the mob
element was feared at any moment; no confi-
dence was felt in the ability or disposition of
the Queen’s Government to cope with the
same.

“It is my belief, which I think is shared
by nearly every one, that the mere presence of
United States troops exercised a restraining
influence . . . 

“At this point I desire to state that if there
had been any plan or conspiracy by which the
United States troops were to land and assist
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the Revolutionists in overturning the Gov-
ernment, I should most certainly have known
it. There was no such plan, and I utterly repu-
diate the attempt to impugn the character and
actions of both Minister Stevens and Captain
Wiltse, and state here that it seemed to me at
the time, and I believe now, that they would
have been perfectly justified in giving a
quicker and more open support to the Provi-
sional Government than was finally accorded
. . . and that they still would have been with-
in the requirements of international law
upon that subject.”

One can sense the frustration in the state-
ments of these three leaders of the Revolution, learn-
ing belatedly of Blount’s misstatements, knowing
that Cleveland had depended on the Blount Report
for his own message to Congress and charges against
the Revolutionists. They believed it was uncon-
scionable for Blount not to give a balanced report,
particularly on the following key points:

1. He relied totally on Admiral Skerrett for
the damaging and erroneous viewpoint that the
troops were placed at Arion Hall so as to block the
Queen’s possible retaliation, thus implying deliberate
United States intentions to defeat her. Skerrett was
not even there. Lieutenant Young and Captain Wiltse
were, and Blount did not seek their statements,
which would have been a complete refutation of the
Skerrett opinion. Admiral Skerrett, in his May 23,
1893, letter that Blount included with his report, told
Blount that the troops in that Arion Hall location
were “distantly removed from the business portion
of the town, and generally far away from the United
States legation and consulate-general, as well as
being distant from the houses and residences of Unit-
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ed States citizens.” The admiral was mistaken: they
could hardly have been closer to downtown—a scant
two to three blocks away. There were sixteen
marines at the legation and also the consulate. Resi-
dential Honolulu surrounded all three locations as
shown on a map in the Morgan Report.

2. Blount, too, said all of the troops were
massed in one spot, which he said was ill-conceived
and by implication, sinister. Actually, as mentioned
earlier, sixteen marines were at the U.S. Consulate,
another sixteen at the American legation, and the
balance of one hundred thirty troops, no marines, at
Arion Hall, out of sight of the palace.

3. Blount’s source for his statement that the
Revolution would not have succeeded without the
U.S. troops was Fred Wundenberg, but he did not
mention in his report that Wundenberg was a turn-
coat who had resigned from the revolutionary group
two days after the event. Nor did he get any state-
ments to the contrary, though the entire Committee
of Safety was available and would have testified oth-
erwise.

4. He did not mention that the U.S. troops at
Arion Hall had stacked their arms, stating instead
that they were armed and ready to face the Queen’s
troops.

5. He referred to the Revolution and the Pro-
visional Government as operations by “missionary
descendants” without stating that only three of the
thirteen members of the Committee fit that descrip-
tion and only two of the leaders of the government,
Dole and Smith.

6. In perhaps the worst exaggeration of all,
Blount included fifteen affidavits from the Queen’s
Cabinet, her officers, her attorney and other advisers
attesting to their version of peaceful conditions in
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the city on January 16, 17 and 18, the placement of
troops, the timing of Stevens’ recognition, etc., but
none from the other side. If there had been nothing
but peace and quiet, as Blount stated, in Honolulu on
those days, Captain Wiltse would not have dis-
patched one hundred sixty-two officers and men to
protect American lives and property.

And then there is the later argument that if it
was bad for Stevens to land troops and sympathize
with the Revolution—an act of war, said Cleveland,
although there was no documentation regarding
either of these allegations—what was one to make of
the documented U.S. effort to secretly subvert the
Provisional Government, which the United States
had recognized? The Committee of Safety had been
completely open, fully advising the Queen through
her Cabinet of its intentions. Blount, Gresham,
Willis and Cleveland tried in secrecy to overturn a
foreign government, deliberately lying to Dole in the
process. Cleveland’s message to Congress was
cloaked in noble sentiments; the subversion was not
mentioned until the Morgan hearings.

Chairman Morgan and the other four Democ-
rats, as well as the four Republicans, all agreed on
one key point: They disagreed completely with
Blount’s “finding” that U.S. troops were part of a
conspiracy to overthrow the Queen. The committee
unanimously exonerated the officers of the forces
landed by the United States. All members supported
the finding regarding those officers, enunciated by
the chairman: “There was no irregularity or want of
authority to place the troops on shore.” The report
added: “In this view of the facts, there is no necessi-
ty for inquiring whether Minister Stevens or Captain
Wiltse [commander of the troops] in arranging for
the landing of the troops, had any purpose either to
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aid the popular movement against the Queen that
was then taking a definite and decisive shape, or to
promote the Annexation of the Hawaiian Islands to
the United States.

“But justice to these gentlemen requires that
we should say that the troops from the Boston were
not sent into Honolulu for any other purpose than
that set forth fully and fairly in the following order
from Captain Wiltse to the officer in command of the
detachment:

“‘...You will take command of the battalion
and land in Honolulu for the purpose of protecting
our legation, consulate, and the lives and property of
American citizens, and to assist in preserving public
order...’”

Blount, as indicated earlier, without listening
to testimony from the officers involved and based
mainly on the comments of another officer not pres-
ent at the time, decided that the troops had taken up
a position that was not in keeping with the above
order; in other words, he felt they had taken a posi-
tion near the palace that was not just for the preser-
vation of peace and order. Blount’s Report, silent on
troops in other locations, indicates he may not have
realized they had taken three positions that were
central to American interests. 

The Republicans agreed with the chairman
that Stevens was not to be blamed. They went even
further. They felt Blount, Willis and Cleveland had
all acted without authority and unwisely. 

Their minority report stated:
“The question of the rightfulness of the 

revolution, of the lawfulness of the means by
which the deposition and abdication of the
Queen were effected, and the right of the
Provisional Government to exist and to con-
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tinue to exist was conclusively settled, as the
report so forcibly states, against the Queen
and in favor of the Provisional Government,
by the act of the administration of President
Harrison recognizing such Provisional Gov-
ernment, by the negotiation by that adminis-
tration with such Provisional Government of
a treaty of annexation to the United States; by
accrediting diplomatic representation by such
administration and by the present adminis-
tration to such Provisional Government;
therefore, it incontrovertibly follows that the
President of the United States had no author-
ity to attempt to reopen such determined
questions, and to endeavor by any means
whatever to overthrow the Provisional Gov-
ernment or to restore the monarchy which it
had displaced.” 

The four Republicans also signed their
approval of the rest of the committee report.

The Democrats felt that Stevens had gone
beyond his authority and that “his conduct as the
public representative of this Government was direct-
ly conducive to bringing about the condition of
affairs which resulted in the overthrow of the Queen,
the organization of the Provisional Government, the
landing of the United States troops, and the attempt-
ed scheme of annexation . . . and [he is] deserving of
public censure.” 

Two of the Democrats added that they were
in favor of Annexation. All signed their approval of
the rest of the committee report. 

Contrary to criticism by some who belittle
the Morgan Report, the findings of the majority of
the full report were approved by all nine committee
members, with a five-to-four finding that the United
States did not play the key role in the overthrow. The
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Blount Report was signed only by its one-man com-
mittee-investigator, Blount himself.

Blount’s final statement in his July 31, 1893,
letter to Gresham accompanying his report is reveal-
ing of his attitude—and not a great compliment to
his prescience:

“The condition of parties in the islands is one
of quiescence . . . . The present Government
can only rest on the use of military force, pos-
sessed of most of the arms in the islands, with
a small white population to draw from to
strengthen it. Ultimately it will fall without
fail. It may preserve its existence for a year or
two, but not longer.”

An unbiased consideration of the two reports
cannot help but reach the conclusion that at the very
least, each of the two viewpoints of this matter has
some validity. At the very least also, the question of
U.S. involvement in 1893 is a gray area in the histo-
ry of Hawai‘i, though this writer feels the evidence
against any conspiracy outweighs the evidence that
there was one. Subsequent events make clear that by
the time of Annexation, there were no gray areas
about U.S. involvement in Hawai‘i’s affairs. 

Despite Blount’s assessment of its strength,
the Hawaiian government still stood on its own in
1898, with five years as an independent Republic on
its record. Its citizens included any and every Hawai-
ian who swore allegiance to it. That included many
Native Hawaiians, as we will see in the next chapter,
which details the long road to Annexation.
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he fifty-year-long road to Annexation
began formally for Hawai‘i in 1851
when Kamehameha III, responding

to concerns of foreign intervention, executed and
delivered to the American minister a provisional ces-
sion of Hawai‘i to the United States. At the time, the
United States was a democratic power with no colo-
nial aspirations, barely seventy-five years old.

It was the first of many moves by the small
Island Kingdom to seek the power of America as pro-
tection against the challenges of colonial empires. In
every case but one, the record shows that Native
Hawaiians through their Hawaiian leaders wanted
Annexation to the United States, including the final
effort by the Republic of Hawai‘i that succeeded in
1898. The one case where we cannot be sure there
was Native Hawaiian support for the association
with America was the unsuccessful effort in 1893 by
the Provisional Government to gain Annexation in
the months following the Revolution. While it might
or might not have been approved in a plebiscite or a
legislative vote, it was never tested and remains an
unknown.

Three months after the King’s offer of ces-
sion early in 1851, on June 21 of that same year a
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joint resolution by the two houses of the Hawaiian
Legislature—one appointed, one elected—author-
ized the King to place the Kingdom under the pro-
tection of a foreign state, and negotiations began for
Annexation to the United States.

By February 1854 things were so far along
that the U.S. consul in Honolulu, Benjamin Franklin
Angell, was able to write an attorney friend, John H.
Jones, Jr., in Moscow, New York:

“In my judgment these Pacific Islands will be
made a Territory of the United States in less than a
year; a treaty of cession is now in progress of negoti-
ation and I am hurrying it forward with all my
power.”

The first formal treaty to annex Hawai‘i to
the United States was completed by the King and
U.S. Minister to Honolulu David L. Gregg later that
year, under the instructions of U.S. Secretary of State
William L. Marcy. A final draft was agreed upon, but
the King died before it could be signed, and his suc-
cessor, Kamehameha IV, withdrew the agreement.

Nineteen years later, in a February 17, 1873,
dispatch to U.S. Secretary of State Hamilton Fish, the
resident U.S. minister in Honolulu, Henry A. Pierce,
analyzed thinking of that period:

“Annexation of these islands to the Unit-
ed States and a reciprocity treaty between the
two countries are the two important topics of
conversation and discussion among Govern-
ment officials and foreign residents.

“A large majority of the latter favor the
first-named project, while the former advo-
cate reciprocity. All are convinced, however,
that some measure should be taken by the
Hawaiian Government to effectually stay the
decline in prosperity of the country, evi-
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denced in decreasing exports, revenues, pop-
ulation, whale fishery, and an increasing pub-
lic debt.”

In a statement in a sense twenty years ahead
of its time, Pierce commented further: 

“Annexation of the islands to the United
States will never, in my opinion, be adopted
or presented as a Government measure [by
the Monarchy] however much the people as a
whole may desire it. The glitter of the crown,
love of power, and emoluments of office have
too many attractions . . . . Should the greater
interests of the country, however, demand
that annexation shall be attempted, the
planters, merchants and foreigners generally
will induce the people to overthrow the Gov-
ernment, establish a Republic, and then ask
the United States for admittance into its
Union.”

The Reciprocity Treaty followed two years
later, in 1875. While it did not provide for Annexa-
tion, the seven-year treaty did provide an exclusive
link between the United States and Hawai‘i. In
return for duty-free trade agreements, the Kingdom
pledged to make no similar deals with any other
country nor to allow any other foreign government
to lease, own or develop any ports or portions of the
Islands. When the many-times-extended treaty was
to expire in 1887, the “Pearl River Clause” was
added by Hawai‘i to secure further extensions. In
that clause, King Kala-kaua granted exclusive rights to
the United States for the use and development of
Pearl Harbor, tying the two countries together even
more tightly.

In 1884, the community seemed to be more

209

Reciprocity
Treaty gave
U.S. link

Earlier U.S.
minister foresaw
Revolution

The Road to Annexation



in favor of a strong, independent Kingdom than
Annexation, as summarized in an editorial in the
Bulletin by its then-editor, Lorrin A. Thurston. In an
editorial on August 27, 1884, Thurston wrote:

“For many years there have been a few
residents here who have desired the annexa-
tion of these Islands to the United States . . . .
some believing that under that great Govern-
ment the permanent interests of the islands
would be best secured; others that more
money could thus be made . . . . But the
majority of intelligent foreigners, and espe-
cially those born here of foreign parents, have
contended for the independence of the Gov-
ernment. They have believed it to be far more
for the interests of the native race that they
should maintain an independent Govern-
ment and a distinctive national existence . . .
. It is well known that the United States Gov-
ernment does not desire the annexation of
these Islands; the accession of foreign territo-
ry is contrary to its policy; but it is certain
that Government will not permit its interests
here to be sacrificed, nor permit any other
foreign Government to control here. When
these Islands cease to be self-governing the
United States Government will take posses-
sion.” 

Interestingly, Kuykendall notes that the
Native Hawaiians, with a few exceptions, were
known to have been strongly opposed to Annexa-
tion. But he points out that Lili‘uokalani’s attorney,
Paul Neumann, during a visit to San Francisco in
November 1889, was quoted in the San Francisco
Examiner as saying, “A great many natives want
annexation to the United States, and it is only their
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innate loyalty to the King that represses the feeling.”
Events and statements after the Revolution

in 1893 show continued wide-ranging feelings with-
in the Island community supporting abolition of the
Monarchy and a move toward unity with the United
States. Native Hawaiians and Caucasians were listed
on both sides of the issue. The side supporting the
Queen and the other side supporting the move
toward Annexation each had Hawaiian and Cau-
casian supporters. Creation of a constitutional form
of government in the mid-19th Century had softened
the absolute power of the monarch and given Hawai-
ians the ability to express their personal beliefs as
individuals. They expressed this variety of individual
views as members of the Legislature or through one
or another of the political parties and newspapers
that existed in the Hawaiian community. Not all
Native Hawaiians were found to be supporters of any
particular monarch or even the concept of monarchy
itself. Moreover, as the century was drawing to a
close, not all were opposed to Annexation.51 As indi-
cated earlier, whenever a proposal for Annexation or
ties with the United States came before the Hawai‘i
Legislature, it was approved wholeheartedly, includ-
ing in 1897, with no dissension from Native Hawai-
ian members.

By the 1890s, the Queen’s party was certain-
ly the largest and the strongest of the Hawaiian polit-
ical groups, and according to reports of the time, she
kept a very firm grip on her followers. After the Rev-
olution, she and her closest supporters were accused
by members of the Liberal Party, which maintained a
running criticism of her during the early 1890s, of
keeping a “powerful system of terrorism” over her
former subjects, threatening them with speedy pun-
ishment if they were disloyal to her cause of rein-
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statement. Her inner circle of supporters, as might be
expected, deplored loss of the Monarchy and opposed
Annexation as a concept, though many, including the
ex-Queen, found some good in being connected to
the United States once it happened.

Lili‘uokalani, for example, said in her diary
on Sunday, September 2, 1900 (in the context of
commenting on her overthrow, explaining why she
had consented to being serenaded by the “old Royal
Hawaiian Band, now the Government-led band”, on
the occasion of her 62nd birthday): 

“Tho’ for a moment [the overthrow] cost me
a pang of pain for my people it was only
momentary, for the present has a hope for the
future of my people.”

A long-time political supporter and military
commander of Kala-kaua’s, V.V. Ashford, whose fam-
ily opposed the Revolution and played an active role
in the unsuccessful counter-revolution, was another
who withdrew his support of the Monarchy. Ashford
was a complicated political figure, one of the few
Royalists who was for Annexation, as he said, “both
from a Hawaiian and American standpoint” and in
the days “when [being for] annexation meant trea-
son.”52 He was quoted in newspapers of the day as
saying that the situation regarding the royalty had
become so bad by the time of Lili‘uokalani’s assump-
tion of the throne in 1891 that she didn’t get the tra-
ditional welcome from Hawaiians as she made her
initial tour about the Islands. Her retainers, he said,
couldn’t get enough supplies of food from the Hawai-
ian people and “had to get it from the whites.”

Ashford was one of the founders of the Hui
Hawai‘i Aloha‘a-ina (Hawaiian Patriotic League)
formed in March 1892 by him and several hundred
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disgruntled Native Hawaiians to overthrow the
Queen and seek Annexation to the United States at a
time when Dole and others were against it. When he
recounted to Blount his view of Hawaiian politics
and the perceived shift away from a belief in the
Monarchy, he had this to say:

“Of the most stable class of natives, the
following sentiment, related to me by one
who, under Kalakaua, had held in succes-
sion all the most distinguished positions in
public and political life, is a sample of the
then prevailing thought:

“‘I have been trained from childhood to
love and obey my alii; no one would more
gladly give his very life for them. But the days
of the alii are past; they are no more; their
successors are unworthy of the name; my
aloha for them has withered. I weep for
Hawaii. The Kingdom must come to an end;
and who can say what will be best for our
country—annexation or a republic.’”

Ashford was a Canadian who had become a
voluble Hawaiian subject. He wrapped up his state-
ment to Blount with the ringing statement: “. . .
monarchy is now dead, and Hawai‘i knocks for
admission to America’s door. Give us not an oli-
garchy. Give us democratic government. Give us a
government of the people, for the people, and by the
people.” 

There were many Native Hawaiians at the
time of the Revolution who supported the move
toward more democratic government, including J.E.
Bush, editor of the Hawaiian language newspaper,
Ka Leo o Ka La-hui. 

Historian William De Witt Alexander, a mis-
sionary son testifying under oath before the Morgan 
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Committee in 1894, spoke to the great dissatisfaction
among Native Hawaiians, first with Kala-kaua and
then Lili‘uokalani: 

“The most intelligent natives, those of the
best character, independence of character, were on
the side of the Provisional Government. I think two-
thirds of the native preachers and those members of
the legislature who had independence enough to vote
against the lottery bill, and many of those of whom I
consider the best natives, are on that side. It required
a good deal of moral courage on their part, because
they were called names, traitors, by their fellow-
countrymen, and were threatened in case the Queen
came back that it would go hard with them . . . that
element of the natives has been ignored by some
writers on the subject.” 

Indeed, that element continues to be ignored
by most writers on the subject more than 100 years
later. Also pretty much ignored today are Hawaiians
who do not support sovereignty but keep quiet
because it is politically incorrect for them to speak
out against it.

It would be easy to dismiss Alexander’s com-
ments, reading them 100 years later, because he
appears to take a superior tone toward the “natives.”
But Alexander and other like-minded people of the
day took a morally superior view also of the “lower
class of whites” who came to Hawai‘i and lived a
“debauched life” of sex, drinking and gambling. He
and his friends among the missionary element meas-
ured people by religious, moral and ethical standards,
not along racial lines. Once a person became a Chris-
tian, he was accepted as a friend and associate
regardless of race. 

The Monarchy was in trouble with many
thoughtful members of the community when King
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Kala-kaua began the abuses of power that led to impo-
sition of the Reform Constitution in 1887. It was a
move that would take the Hawaiian Monarchy along
the path of British royalty, ironically much admired
by Kala-kaua as well as later members of the Kame-
hameha dynasty. Over time, British monarchs have
been divested of all but ceremonial duties, with no
real ruling powers remaining. There are parallels
worldwide. Monarchies that survived into the 20th
Century were pretty much guided by constitutional
mandates and hobbled by laws that forced them to be
more democratic.

It is interesting that while the ways and
lifestyles of British monarchs were much admired by
Kala-kaua and Lili‘uokalani as well as the last two
members of the Kamehameha dynasty, the Hawaiian
monarchs could not accept the kinds of restrictions
on their power that British monarchs had learned to
accept as necessary for survival of their way of life.

If Kala-kaua and Lili‘uokalani had been will-
ing to live within such restrictions for the common
good, many residents of Hawai‘i would have pre-
ferred, as did men like Charles Reed Bishop, to main-
tain the Monarchy.53

Hawai‘i differed from other 19th-Century
countries mostly because the conflict between
Monarchy and democracy here involved mixtures of
races. Caucasians, in the eyes of international poli-
tics of the time, were much less willing to believe in
the divine right of kings if they weren’t already sub-
jects of a benign monarchy, such as Britain. The
majority of Hawai‘i’s Caucasians, Americans, were
not enamored of the idea of monarchical rule. Japan-
ese immigrants, who in the late 19th Century proba-
bly were more accepting of the dictatorial powers of
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a strong monarchy, were viewed as threatening by all
of the foreign national groups in the Islands, as well
as by the Native Hawaiians.

Kala-kaua’s capricious acts and the resultant
disruptions to business and government caused con-
cern among people of all races. His reputation for
immorality, the rumors of orgies, the dealings with
men like Spreckels and Gibson that called for
bailouts from the Legislature angered more than just
his political opponents.

While the 1852 and 1864 Constitutions
authorized the ruling monarch to appoint and fire
his Cabinets at will, there had been a nice working
balance between the King and his Cabinet, which
under both of those Constitutions was required to
approve of actions of the King. Kala-kaua, with his
strong ego and desire to dominate, broke this pattern.
He would change Cabinets on whim, sometimes in
the middle of the night. Both the Reform Constitu-
tion and a ruling from the Hawai‘i Supreme Court
finally brought this practice to a halt by requiring leg-
islative approval of a Cabinet’s dismissal. Interesting-
ly, he had sought the ruling from a Supreme Court he
himself had appointed.

Within the Native Hawaiian political com-
munity, there were leaders who early on thought his
successor, Lili‘uokalani, was heading in the wrong
direction with her efforts to expand the powers of
the Monarchy and oppose Annexation.

One of the most outspoken was J.L. Kaulu-
kou, who was speaker of the House of Representa-
tives for the Republic at the time of Annexation but
who once had been a strong Royalist in favor with
both Kala-kaua and Lili‘uokalani. He is credited with
giving her the description “‘onipa‘a”—“steadfast”—
which she adopted as her personal motto and which
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is widely used today by sovereignty activists. Kaulu-
kou, in his then-capacity as marshal of the Kingdom,
presented the motto idea to her “on behalf of the
whole nation” at her 48th birthday party in 1886.

“I regard Annexation,” he told the San Fran-
cisco Chronicle in an interview published July 28,
1898, “as the best thing that could happen for
Hawai‘i, both for the native and foreign population.
I have advocated it ever since it became an issue in
practical politics and I rejoice heartily that it has
come. For years I have looked upon it as being, if not
inevitable, at least as the only way in which the best
interests of Hawai‘i could be protected and
advanced.”

At the time, Kaulukou was a twenty-year vet-
eran of Hawaiian public life. He represented a dis-
trict in Windward O‘ahu that was heavily dominated
by Native Hawaiian voters and in which he had ear-
lier served as a district judge, appointed by Kala-kaua
in 1877. He served until 1884, one of many appoint-
ments he was to receive from the King. He was first
elected to the House from the district in 1880 and
again in 1882. 

In 1884 he was appointed sheriff of the
Island of Hawai‘i, and while in that office was
appointed tax assessor for the district of Hilo. In
1886 he was elected to the House from Hilo and
while in the House was appointed postmaster gener-
al by the King. A few months later the King appoint-
ed him marshal of the Kingdom and for a brief peri-
od later, attorney general.

While serving as marshal it fell to him to pro-
claim the 1887 Reform Constitution, which by cus-
tom required the marshal to ride through the streets.
Stories of the day report he rode a “superb white
horse” as he promulgated the new order.
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Kaulukou resigned as marshal in 1888 to pur-
sue the practice of law on O‘ahu. In 1890 and again
in 1892, he ran for the House from his original
Ko‘olau Poko district and was defeated both times.

He told the Chronicle he first began to swing
toward Annexation after the 1890 defeat and his
feelings intensified during the next campaign.

“The Queen and some of her partisans
were then striving for an entirely new Con-
stitution. . . . The platform upon which I
went before the people was that an attempt to
replace the then Constitution with an entire-
ly new instrument was, in the condition of
affairs that existed at that time, dangerous
both to the Queen and to the Native Hawai-
ians.

“I urged that the better way was to secure
the changes that seemed desirable by amend-
ment (Ed.—as provided in the Constitution
itself). I told the people that the country was
in no mood to submit to the Queen’s notions
of unlimited power, and that if the effort to
entirely overthrow the constitution and
replace it with a new one were persisted in,
there would be an end of monarchy.

“I said that the interests of the natives
and of the foreign residents were identical;
that both wanted a stable, efficient and well-
administered government, and that the way
to this lay through representative govern-
ment, and not through unlimited monarchy.

“I said that what the Hawaiians needed
was better schools, better public improve-
ments and more of them, an equitable assess-
ment of taxes and an honest administration
of the revenues for public purposes, and not
more power in the monarchy and more . . .
display and ostentation in the [royal] court.”
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Kaulukou, representative of other Hawaiians
who agreed with his views, did not take part in the
overthrow but did support the Provisional Govern-
ment when it was established.

“With the establishment of the Provi-
sional Government and [subsequently] the
Republic, I advised my people to take the oath
of allegiance, to take part in public affairs and
to join with the haole, among whom were
many of their best friends and very many of
their best advisers, in securing good govern-
ment and that advance in material and intel-
lectual prosperity which our race pride made
us believe was within our power . . .”

He noted in the Chronicle article that the
“achievements of some of our people have demon-
strated that it is so.”

In Annexation, he believed he saw “. . . sta-
bility of government and [a] constant source of influ-
ence and association in governmental, social and
educational affairs which would enable the Hawai-
ian people to develop and advance to the plane of the
highest civilization.”

He was a strong proponent of education and
foresaw

“. . . a university in these Islands giving
the broadest culture anywhere attainable. I
expect to see the intellectual, the social and
the material life broadened and quickened
through our political union with the United
States and the consequent blending of inter-
est and thought. We have now become a part
of a great people [and] the influence[s] of
thought and progress will reach us more
directly now than they did before.

“I am not insensible to that feeling of
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attachment to the land of one’s birth and the
pride in one’s race which is touched, and
which brings a sentiment of sadness when
that land ceases to be a nation among the
nations, her flag blotted from the firmament
of national ensigns, and the race name ceases
to be synonymous with nationality.

“I, too, am an Hawaiian. These islands
bear in their bosom the bones of my ancestors
to the remotest generation. I am proud of my
race. I am proud of my nationality. But in
annexation I see a larger place for my race,
and the stream of national life merging in a
still larger national life will flow in deeper
and wider channels . . . 

“I shall, as I have done in the past, urge
my people to take part in public affairs, to cul-
tivate both individual and civic virtues, to be
Americans in that enjoyment and exercise of
liberty which is the birthright of an Ameri-
can, as it is the greatest guarantee of race
progress and national perpetuity.”

It is interesting to note that with the acquisi-
tion of full voting rights under their new U.S. citi-
zenship, Hawaiians kept control of the government
by dominating the Legislature for more than a gener-
ation after Annexation.

Chronicle writers also recorded viewpoints
from two who deplored the loss of sovereignty. The
two were Princess Ka‘iulani and Prince David
Kawananakoa, both relatives of Kala-kaua and
Lili‘uokalani and named by Lili‘uokalani as next in
order for succession to the throne had the Monarchy
continued.

Ka‘iulani, who died not long after at the age
of 24, was portrayed as particularly distressed at the
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“loss of her country.” She was said to be contemplat-
ing a move to England, where she had spent four
years while in college and whose association she
favored over the association with the United States.

“. . . Lili‘uokalani and I are the last of our
race,” she said.

“When the news of Annexation came it
was bitterer than death to me. In us the love
of race is very strong—stronger than any-
thing else. It was bad enough to lose the
throne, but infinitely worse to have the flag
go down . . . 

“I was sorry, of course, that trouble came
to my aunt, but I realized that she had been
obstinate and ill advised. It is so bitterly hard
for a woman. If there had been a single man
among all her advisers to stand by her in her
hour of need and to have arrested that Com-
mittee of Safety, all this would never have
happened . . . 

“I would have liked to be Queen. Had the
monarchy ever been restored it would have
been my aunt or me, of course, and while
there was an independent government in
Hawai‘i there was always hope, but now
everything is ended . . .”

On the night of the Revolution, Prince David
Kawananakoa had assisted the new government with
the paperwork involved in gaining recognition from
the other foreign missions in Honolulu. At the time
of Annexation, however, he told the Chronicle he felt
he would “take no part in public affairs. I shall hold
myself a private citizen, seeking to do my duty in my
social and business relations, and advising no one as
to their political duties.”

A great grandson, Quentin Kawananakoa, is
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back in Island politics, in 1997 a Republican member
of the state House of Representatives and candidate
for the U.S. House. He continues to favor some kind
of sovereignty for Hawaiians and no doubt will play
a significant role in defining the form it might take.

In the background of all discussions of
Annexation in the 19th Century was the high proba-
bility that other foreign powers would make a grab
for Hawai‘i.

Even as Minister Stevens was bringing U.S.
troops ashore at the time of the Revolution, he was
voicing concern over possible strategic moves by
Japan and Britain and urging his Washington superi-
ors to place Hawai‘i under the formal protection of
the United States. When the Provisional Govern-
ment was established he immediately expressed con-
cerns for its vulnerability to British forces. A British
warship was reportedly due to arrive “and the Eng-
lish Minister here, thus aided, might try to press
unduly the Provisional Government,” he noted. 

“With the Islands under our protection, we
think the English Minister will not attempt to insist
that his government has the right to interfere . . . ,”
he added.

William M. Morgan analyzed Stevens’
actions in detail in his 1980 Ph.D. dissertation at
Claremont Graduate School. He believes this concern
over British interference quite likely reflected
Stevens’ primary motive in his relationship with
Hawai‘i. “If Stevens had intended to use bogus fears
of foreign intervention as an excuse for American
occupation,” Morgan notes, “he could have estab-
lished the protectorate immediately after the Revolu-
tion.

“Not until the possibility of foreign interven-
tion seemed to increase in the latter part of January,
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however, did Stevens put Hawai‘i under American
protection . . . 

“To prevent meddling by Japan or Britain,
Stevens needed additional naval forces. Currently
only the cruiser Boston was in port. Stevens thus
asked for ‘the most powerful American ship avail-
able’ to bolster the protectorate. Hawai‘i must be pro-
tected, he believed, or it would fall [into wrong
hands],” Morgan writes.

“The Hawaiian pear is now fully ripe,”
Stevens told Secretary of State John W. Foster in a
Feb. 1, 1893, dispatch, “and this is the golden hour
for the United States to pluck it.” He argued that
either Japan or Britain would be delighted to acquire
the Islands if it could be done without antagonizing
the United States.

An editorial in the Honolulu Daily Bulletin
on March 21, 1893, put it succinctly: “So long . . . as
the United States maintains any claim to ascendancy
in these islands, it is safe to assume that there will be
no interference from any other quarter. If that claim
should be withdrawn, it is exceedingly doubtful
whether Japan would withhold her hand any longer
from the ‘Hawaiian Pear.’”

Morgan notes further in his thesis that “On
balance, given Hawai‘i’s value to American security
and the strong possibility that withdrawal of the
annexation treaty [by Cleveland] had been mistaken
for abandonment of the islands, the United States
was understandably fearful of British or Japanese
intervention.”

Blount’s precipitate action in removing
Stevens and his failure or unwillingness to appoint a
successor before his departure in late July 1893 wor-
ried the Provisional Government. Listening to the
concerns of its leaders, Blount realized the need for a
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final precaution against Japanese intrigue. At Dole’s
request, Morgan states, Blount, in the form of a letter
to Dole, issued a stern warning to Japan not to
attempt anything rash. 

The pressure by local and national officials in
Japan for Japanese suffrage in Hawai‘i was very
much before the Provisional Government at that
time. A few months later, Japanese petitioners for-
mally protested to their Imperial Government their
inability to vote. Morgan notes they decried the fact
that Americans—“the most influential element”—
“have control of nearly the whole of the Islands. . . .
We are far from satisfied with this state of affairs.”

The petitioners hoped the Imperial Govern-
ment could provide redress, for “we should be domi-
nant as we are the most important element in these
Islands.”

Morgan notes that from this petition and
other Japanese activities, the white oligarchy
inferred that the Japanese intended to obtain
through the ballot box the political dominance that
the whites currently enjoyed. Moreover, the petition
offered an opportunity for the Japanese government
to involve itself further in Hawaiian politics and it
immediately seized on that opportunity.

In December 1893, the Japanese warship
Naniwa returned to Honolulu Harbor, and in March
1894 Japan formally requested that the Constitution
being prepared by the Republic of Hawai‘i grant
Japanese nationals the same voting rights given to
other foreign nationals, particularly Americans.
Because Japanese subjects outnumbered American
citizens of the Republic more than ten to one, allow-
ing both groups to vote foretold Japanese control of
the Legislature at a time before Japanese residents of
Hawai‘i had become American citizens, Morgan
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points out. This concerned the Provisional Govern-
ment, which had come about because its Revolution-
ist founders were looking toward closer ties with the
United States, not some other foreign power.

Certainly the Republic also realized that
Japanese voting rights probably would preclude
Annexation to the United States. 

Congress, meanwhile, also was expressing
concern about foreign intervention. Resolutions
were introduced giving warning to the world against
outside interference in Hawai‘i.

The Cleveland administration no longer
could ignore the situation, and in early 1894 it sent
Admiral John Grimes Walker to Honolulu as com-
mander of American naval forces in the Pacific.
Walker, like most military officers of the day, had
spoken strongly in favor of Annexation on earlier
occasions. His assignment to Hawai‘i clearly indicat-
ed a realization within the Cleveland administration,
though it never came out for Annexation itself, that
Hawai‘i could not be allowed to fall into foreign
hands. Blount’s departure, the withdrawal of war-
ships, the removal of the U.S. Flag and surrounding
events had given the world almost an opposite
impression. 

Further, the administration had removed its
commanding military officer in Hawai‘i, Admiral
Skerrett, in October 1893 for alleged Annexation
sympathies. This background made the appointment
of Admiral Walker even more striking.

The admiral moved quickly to bolster U.S.
forces in Hawai‘i. He had written in an earlier report
of his concern over the small size of the American
presence: “We are equaled in strength by the English
and surpassed by the Japanese . . . . We ought to have
the controlling force here—stronger than that of any
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other foreign power and equal to any two of them
combined.”54

Japanese pressures reached their peak about
that time with efforts by the Imperial Government to
gain suffrage for the nearly 20,000 Japanese males in
Hawai‘i, but at least two events quickly brought
about a reversal. Dole’s government stood firm in
refusing suffrage and made it clear that its refusal to
give Japanese nationals voting rights was permanent
by adopting a new Constitution for the Republic that
restricted voting rights to Hawaiian-born or -natural-
ized citizens. Since only the United States and a few
other largely Caucasian nations had naturalization
treaties with the new Republic, the Japanese were
blocked. There was no block, however, to their abili-
ty to negotiate for a naturalization treaty, a diplo-
matic point that could be interpreted under interna-
tional law as not singling them out for discrimina-
tion.

The principal reason for Japanese withdraw-
al, however, was Japan’s war with China that began
in 1894. Japanese warships were withdrawn to their
home ports, and nothing was heard further on Japan-
ese government protests over the new Constitution.

The Cleveland administration felt it was safe
to back off the Hawaiian issue again and withdrew
both Admiral Walker and American warships, rely-
ing on the Japanese withdrawal and an agreement by
the British to replace their minister to Hawai‘i with
one less sympathetic to the Royalist cause. In addi-
tion, the new Republic was being recognized by every
country that did business with Hawai‘i and appeared
stable and in control, particularly after it put down
the counter-revolution sanctioned by Lili‘uokalani in
1895.

For the remainder of the Cleveland adminis-
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tration, it was Congress that continued to express
concern over Hawai‘i’s strategic importance to the
United States. In a memorable eight-week debate on
foreign policy in 1895 in the wake of the Sino-Japan-
ese War, it became clear that all it would take to bring
about Annexation even under a Democratic admin-
istration was one more outbreak in the Pacific. Japan
had demonstrated its sea power during the war with
China, and Congress felt the United States could not
afford to let down its defenses.

Sen. Henry Cabot Lodge Sr. during the debate
warned that Japan endangered American control of
Hawai‘i.

“Remember that they [the Japanese] are a
new people,” he said. (Ed.—Setting aside that their
civilization predated America’s by centuries, they
certainly were in 1895 a new force in international
affairs.) “They have just whipped somebody,” he
continued, “and they are in a state of mind where
they think they can whip anybody,” he said.

“It is a very dangerous state of mind for any
people to be in, dangerous for themselves and for
others.

“The surest way to prevent such a war and
avoid such a danger at Hawai‘i or upon our Pacific
Coast is to have a fleet” strong enough to deter
attack, he said. He warned that the Japanese must be
carefully watched, for they are “our nearest neighbor
on the Pacific,” with Hawai‘i halfway between.55

The congressional debates went on for
weeks, almost every speaker calling for substantial
increases in the U.S. Navy presence to meet pres-
sures from both Japan and Great Britain, all of which
helped the cause of Annexation.

The Republic, meanwhile, was waging a pub-
lic relations war to bring about a mood in the United
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States that would lead to that Annexation. In a per-
sonal letter from Washington dated November 19,
1893, to President Dole, Lorrin A. Thurston, then
Provisional Government minister to Washington, set
forth the course for the revolutionary group in its
quest for Annexation. 

Secretary of State Gresham had just made
public his report denouncing the Provisional Gov-
ernment, demanding it return the Kingdom to the
Queen and announcing that another Cleveland spe-
cial emissary, Albert S. Willis, was already in Hon-
olulu to bring this about. Nothing was known in
advance by the new Hawaiian government or its
Washington representative, Thurston, about this or
how it was to happen, and the men in Hawai‘i
wouldn’t find out for another ten days or so. Willis’
orders were secret and not revealed by Gresham. But
Thurston did know the Cleveland position did not sit
well with the country at large.

“The outburst of denunciation of the pro-
posed policy by the press of the country, regardless of
party, has . . . been something wonderful. With the
exception of one here and there, the papers, secular
and religious, condemn it in the severest terms,” he
wrote after word of the Gresham position was
released. 

He noted he had mailed the accounts of his
two interviews with Gresham, during which it
became clear that the administration was against the
Provisional Government and opposed to Annexa-
tion. In a move denounced later by Senate Republi-
cans as an abuse of international law, the Cleveland
administration demanded that the Provisional Gov-
ernment, which the United States earlier had recog-
nized as the government of the Islands, return Queen
Lili‘uokalani to the throne. Thurston also sent a 580-
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word telegram covering the same points to Dole via
San Francisco, where it would catch a steamer.

He wrote “The N.Y. Sun sounded the key
note on the day after Gresham’s report was pub-
lished, with an editorial entitled, ‘The Policy of
Infamy’, and has kept it up ever since, with three or
four editorials every day, and on two days during the
week, devoting the entire editorial page, with the
exception of a few squibs, to a discussion of the sub-
ject in its various phases.”

Thurston went on to note similar support
from the Outlook, an influential publication of the
day, and The Washington Star. He wrote, “The Star,
usually a neutral noncommittal paper, has out-
rivaled Dana [editor of the N.Y. Sun] in the use of
every condemnatory adjective and phrase at his com-
mand—Mr. Noyes, the editor, was at Honolulu this
summer and knows his ground.

“The feeling throughout the country was
intense, and, as one of the newspaper correspondents
put it, ‘the whole country is holding its breath await-
ing the arrival of the Australia [to find out what
Willis was doing in Hawai‘i].’” The Australia was
known to be the first ship to leave Hawai‘i after
Willis’ arrival and it was expected to be carrying dis-
patches reporting his meetings with Dole. 

After explaining why he didn’t think it
would be fruitful for him to make a formal reply at
this point to Gresham, because, among other things,
the administration obviously wanted to deal directly
with Dole, Thurston added, 

“We must not lose sight of the fact that
even though we may not hope to secure
annexation through this Administration, we
still must try in every possible way to keep on
their good side, so long as such position is not
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a surrender of essential principles. 
“I do not therefore consider it sound to

engage in any more controversial correspon-
dence with them than is absolutely required.
I am rewriting my letter, toning down the
English in its more vigorous positions, and
have about made up my mind to first submit
the draft of it to Gresham before formally
presenting it, if I present it at all.

“In my last interview with him, his man-
ner was more than usually agreeable, and he
several times reiterated his personal friendly
feelings. Although things look rather blue so
far as getting anything from this Administra-
tion is concerned, I do not give up hope that
all will come out right. It is darkest before
dawn.

“Arbitrary monarchy never seemed so
firmly seated in power as on the 13th of Jan-
uary last, and yet it was standing on the verge
of its self-dug grave. So I believe that the arbi-
trary harsh course proposed by the Gresham
report has raised us up a host of friends who
did not before exist, and by stimulating inter-
est in our affairs has given us a vantage
ground which we could have reached in no
other way. I believe that it will be a strong fac-
tor in favor of the ultimate success of the
annexation movement.”

This 12-page letter of November 19 was writ-
ten over a period of days, and meanwhile the Aus-
tralia had reached San Francisco with reports that
Willis’ initial meetings with Dole had been friendly
enough.

Thurston’s letter continues:
“It was an intense relief to us, and to the

whole country, to learn upon the arrival of
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the Australia, that Willis had taken no radical
steps. Of course there is still the uncertainty
as to what he may yet do; but after his pres-
entation and personal expressions of regard
to you, it will be a difficult thing for him,
after the lapse of so many days, to change and
adopt a policy of open hostility, with the
acknowledgment that he has under cover of
fair word and smiles been concealing a bludg-
eon in his clothes with which to batter your
brains out when the occasion seemed oppor-
tune.

“It fills me with wrath when I think what
a fever of excitement you are going to be
plunged into upon the arrival of the now out-
ward bound steamer [with the Gresham
report], even if Willis has not previously
exploded his bomb.

“But I am pinning my faith upon my
trust in the courage and steadfastness of you
who know what we have come through and
what odds we have already overcome and
what we would have to go through again if
monarchy were restored. You may be assured
that the American public are overwhelmingly
on our side—There are numerous proffers to
go down and help you fight if necessary.

“I hope to God that under no circum-
stances have you consented to give up your
organization, and that if you have been forced
out that you will by force go back again as
soon as possible. It is an unpleasant alterna-
tive, but we might as well have it out now as
to let the boil fester along, keeping the whole
body politic in a fever.

“The Royalists will not be satisfied until
they are once more thoroughly beaten. Even
if Willis takes no radical action, it seems to
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me altogether probable that Mr. Gresham’s
letter will so stir up and encourage the Royal-
ists that it is altogether probable they may
take some overt action which will warrant
your . . . proclaim[ing] martial law . . .”

Thurston went on to say that if this hap-
pened, he favored arresting and deporting the Queen
and her most prominent supporters. 

“Until you get rid of them they will prove
a constant menace to the public peace . . .
there will sooner or later be an outbreak
which will result in the loss . . . of lives . . . . 

“I believe the time has fully arrived for
change to a permanent form of government
on the lines previously indicated. Keep the
control for as long a time as it is reasonably
probable that it will be required. I favor not
less than 5 years for a readjustment and set-
tling down period, before elections take place.
I would not rush the formation of the new
government. Take time to carefully consider
and reconsider the different provisions of the
constitution.

“There is much in a name—call it ‘The
Republic of Hawai‘i’. It will not be a full expo-
nent of the republican principle but that is
the central thought around which it is gath-
ered and into which it will develop in time.” 

The outbreak by the Royalists did come,
though not until 1895. Also, Willis did “drop his
bomb,” demanding the return of the Kingdom, but
the long delay in his making the demand, because of
the Queen’s adamant stand against amnesty, enabled
Thurston to arrive back in Hawai‘i as the demand
was made. Over a period of several days Thurston,
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Dole and the Cabinet put together a clear and firm
position in the form of a letter. In this remarkable let-
ter from the Provisional Government to the United
States, President Dole denounced the demand and
announced the new government would stand fast
and fight the United States, if necessary. The new
Republic of Hawai‘i was formed and it did keep a
tight grip on things in Hawai‘i for the next four or
five years, subverting a few democratic principles to
maintain control until Annexation. Thurston did
send his letter to Gresham and it so riled the secre-
tary of state that he demanded of Dole that Thurston
be withdrawn from continued service as minister
from Hawai‘i. 

His official status removed, Thurston spent
most of the five years between the Revolution and
until Annexation on the mainland, speaking, visiting
newspaper editors, writing articles for the cause. His
84-page pamphlet on the subject, A Handbook on the
Annexation of Hawai‘i, is a masterpiece in its sum-
mary of the background of Annexation, and was
widely circulated.

This was Hawai‘i’s fourth formal effort to
annex itself to the United States, the pamphlet notes.
It makes much of the strategic values for Annexa-
tion, the differences between the vast Pacific and the
Atlantic, approximately half its width:

“One of the first principles in naval war-
fare is that an operating fleet must have a
base of supply and repair (Ed.—this being in
the days of coal-operated ships).

“Without the possession of Hawai‘i, all of
the principal countries possessing interest in
the Pacific, are so far away that the distance is
practically prohibitory of hostile operations
against the Pacific Coast. For instance, the
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nearest English station is forty-six hundred
miles distant from San Francisco. The near-
est French station is thirty-six hundred miles
distant. The nearest Spanish station is forty-
seven hundred miles distant. Russia is forty-
seven hundred miles away; Japan forty-five
hundred miles, and China fifty-five hundred
miles.” 

Hawai‘i, of course, is about twenty-five hun-
dred miles off the Pacific Coast, and in the hands of
any of the other countries would provide a jumping-
off place against the United States. Less than fifty
years later, the Pearl Harbor attack gave evidence of
Hawai‘i’s strategic value. 

Commenting on the decline in Native Hawai-
ian population, the pamphlet states: “It is no longer a
question of whether Hawai‘i shall be controlled by
the Native Hawaiian, or by some foreign people; but
the question is, ‘What foreign people shall control
Hawai‘i.’”

Great emphasis also was put on the trade
benefits to the United States. For example, Hawai‘i
imported more West Coast wine than any other sin-
gle country in the world; was its third biggest pur-
chaser of salmon—more than all the countries of the
world combined, leaving out England, Australia and
New Zealand; the third largest consumer of West
Coast barley, and so on. The pamphlet listed some
200 items of import in detail—in 1896, 132 car-
riages, 362 bicycles and 1,560 saddles, for example—
all in exchange for providing a free market for
Hawaiian sugar, rice and bananas. 

The pamphlet points out that all of this
“astonishing” commercial activity derived from a
population of only 109,000 people, with a foreign
trade per capita of $208, “a record almost unparal-
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leled in the history of the world.” Tantalizingly, it
adds that Hawai‘i could easily support a population
of a million, which would “place its commerce in the
front rank of American export trade.”

The pamphlet also discusses “twenty objec-
tions to Annexation with replies thereto.” Many
were questions of unconstitutionality, all of which
the pamphlet declares not true. 

It discusses at some length the possible objec-
tion on a racial basis. After explaining the many sim-
ilarities between United States and Hawaiian laws,
customs, infrastructure and lifestyles, the pamphlet
states:

“The people of Hawaii as a whole, are
energetic and industrious. They are annually
producing and exporting more per capita
than any other nation in the world . . . . No
people who are leading the world in the per
capita export of manufactured products can
be truthfully characterized as lazy, worthless
or unreliable. As a matter of fact, there are no
poor-houses, paupers, beggars or tramps in
Hawaii.”

The pamphlet then deals directly with argu-
ments regarding the habits and lifestyles of each
racial background present in the Islands.

About Native Hawaiians, it has this to say:
“Only 33,000 in number, [they] are a

conservative, peaceful and generous people.
They have had during the last twenty years,
to struggle against the retrogressive tenden-
cies of the reigning family; but in spite of
that, a very large proportion of them have
stood out against such tendencies, and are
supporters of the Republic and Annexation.
The majority of the present House of Repre-
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sentatives, the first under the Republic, con-
sists of pure-blood Native Hawaiians, and the
Speaker of the House is a Native Hawaiian.

“There is not, and never has been any
color line in Hawai‘i as against Native Hawai-
ians, and they participate fully on an equality
with the white people in affairs political,
social, religious and charitable. The two races
freely intermarry . . .”

The argument that no popular vote was
taken or was contemplated regarding Annexation
and that this is “un-American” is dealt with at
length. 

After noting that “this is the argument most
resorted to by the ex-Queen Lili‘uokalani and her
supporters” and that “their objection is not based
upon opposition to the American Republic, but upon
opposition to any Republic,” the pamphlet adds:
“They are selfishly seeking the restoration of the
Monarchy for their own benefit, and as long as
Hawai‘i remains independent, they hope for some
internal discord or foreign complication which will
restore them to power.

“The reply to [this] objection is that no
Hawaiian voters have been disfranchised, and that it
is not un-American to annex territory without a vote
of the inhabitants.” The vote of the legislatures of the
various territories annexed earlier was sufficient, as
was the case in Hawai‘i.

The seven annexations of the previous one
hundred years are described in detail: Louisiana,
Florida, California, New Mexico, Arizona, Alaska
and Texas. Thurston notes that in none of these
cases was a popular vote taken on the question of
annexation. “All that was done or lawfully required
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to be done, was the agreement of the two [elected]
Governments, and the act was completed without
reference to either the people of the United States or
of the territory proposed to be annexed,” the pam-
phlet states.

“There is, therefore, no precedent, in any of
the annexations of the past, for taking a popular vote
upon the subject. Why, then, is it un-American to
annex Hawai‘i without a popular vote?” the pam-
phlet asks.

The Constitution of the Republic contained
an article directing its president, “by and with the
consent of the Senate, to negotiate and conclude a
treaty of annexation with the United States.” The
pamphlet argues this means that in a very real sense
“there has been a practical vote in Hawai‘i upon the
subject of annexation, for every person who is now a
voter in Hawai‘i has taken the oath to the Constitu-
tion of Hawai‘i, thereby ratifying and approving of
annexation to the United States.” The Hawai‘i Sen-
ate, with a number of Native Hawaiian members,
voted unanimously for Annexation. Property
requirements for election to the Senate were the
same as those in the 1887 Constitution for election to
the House of Nobles, which made it a fairly exclusive
club.

In summary, the pamphlet says:
“1. Neither the Constitution nor laws of

the United States nor of Hawai‘i require a
popular vote.

“2. During fifty years, there have been
four annexation treaties negotiated by
Hawai‘i with the United States, viz.: in 1851,
1854, 1893 and 1897, in which neither under
the Monarchy, Provisional Government, nor
the Republic, has any provision been made
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for a popular vote, either in the United States
or Hawai‘i. (Ed.—Of course, the 1893 and
1897 attempts were made under auspices of
the Revolutionists, who did not want to take
a chance with a popular vote on the matter.)

“3. Six annexations of inhabited territory
by the United States during the past 100
years, have been made without a popular vote
being taken. (Ed.–The seventh, Texas, also
did not enter with a popular vote, but its
elected legislature, as did Hawai‘i’s, approved
annexation.)

“4. The Constitution of the United
States, in general terms, and that of Hawai‘i
specifically (Ed.—that of the Republic),
authorizes the respective Presidents and Sen-
ates to conclude a treaty of annexation. If the
theoretical philanthropists of America who
are lifting up their voices against annexation
through sympathy for the native Hawaiian
could descend out of the clouds long enough
to ascertain the facts, they would learn that
every native minister of the gospel; most of
the better educated natives; almost without
exception, all of the white ministers of the
gospel; the representatives of the American
Board of Foreign Missions; the Hawaiian
Board of Missions; the practical educators;
those who have for years contributed their
time, their money and their lives to the
Hawaiian people; who feel that their welfare
is a sacred trust—all of these are working,
hoping and praying for Annexation as the
one last hope of the native Hawaiian.”

The public relations war went on, and final-
ly, the event the Republic had been waiting for
occurred: a new administration was elected to Wash-
ington in 1898. President Cleveland was out and
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President McKinley was in, bringing with him an
administration that favored Annexation. Neverthe-
less, Annexation was not a shoo-in. McKinley’s first
efforts to bring it about failed as congressional debate
swirled around arguments that years later were
sounded over and over again in the sixty-year fight
for Statehood: Hawai‘i’s offshore geographical posi-
tion and its polyglot population. In the midst of this,
the Spanish-American War broke out and the battle-
ship Maine was sunk in Havana Harbor. With Amer-
ican troops being sent across the Pacific in goodly
numbers, Hawai‘i’s strategic position took top billing
in the debate over Annexation.

Still, the administration did not have the
votes to put a treaty through the Senate that custom-
arily would have been the vehicle to bring about
Annexation. Congressional strategists passed instead
on July 7, 1898, a joint resolution directing Annexa-
tion. A similar process had been used to bring Texas
into the United States, but in spite of the historical
precedent there are sovereignty activists today who
insist Hawai‘i’s Annexation was an illegal action. It
has yet to be challenged in any court of law and it is
doubtful it ever will be. The vast majority of
Hawai‘i’s residents obviously are happy with the end
result.

All that remained was negotiation of the
Organic Act, the enabling legislation that finally
passed on April 30, 1900. It made Annexation offi-
cial and created the Territory of Hawai‘i. Negotiators
for the Republic did a masterful job with the Organ-
ic Act, and in an unprecedented action, Congress
accepted Hawai‘i without taking its government
lands into the federal land bank. 
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he United States stole our lands.”
“The haole stole our lands.”

“The missionaries stole our lands.”
It’s the mantra today for many Native Hawai-

ians.
Maybe sovereignty should be spelled l-a-n-d.

It’s certainly the key element in nearly all forms of
the sovereignty movement. 

What’s the basis for these constant claims of
theft? What makes a sovereignty activist think
Native Hawaiians are entitled to state lands?

It’s hard to believe, but many sovereignty
advocates want to take public lands from the state
government and give them to the 4 percent of
Hawai‘i’s residents who have more than a 50 percent
measure of Hawaiian blood. They want to go beyond
their mandated one-fifth share of income from these
lands and acquire actual title. Some say these lands
should go to all calling themselves Native Hawaiians,
about 20 percent of Hawai‘i residents. Other activists
even say private lands should eventually be taken
over by the Hawaiian minority. 

Their claim is based on what they maintain is
the “inherent right of Native Hawaiians” to the lands
of these Islands, at least the public lands. They con-
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tend, erroneously, that Native Hawaiians owned the
public lands before the 1893 Revolution, that the
lands were taken from them at the time—“stolen”—
and the Hawaiian people were not compensated. As
we’ll see in this chapter, the native people never did
own them. They were government lands at the time,
and have been since the Great Mahele in 1848. All
the Revolution did was transfer control of those pub-
lic lands to a successor government. The beneficiar-
ies, all of the residents of Hawai‘i, remained the same
after Annexation and continue to be the same under
Statehood. 

For the Native Hawaiian claims for transfer
or compensation to become successful, history would
have to show that the lands were formerly owned by
Native Hawaiians and their descendants. The
activists are at work distorting and rewriting history
to make this seem true. The revisionism has already
gained acceptance in some circles not familiar with
the real history of Hawai‘i or its lands.

For example, “whereas clauses” in the con-
gressional apology resolution of 1993 state that gov-
ernment lands were ceded to the United States at the
time of Annexation “without the consent of or com-
pensation to the Native Hawaiian people.”

They add that Hawaiians “never directly
relinquished their claims to . . . their national lands.”

Both of these statements are misleading—
and erroneous—in their implications. Unfortunately,
no public hearing was held by Congress to examine
the truths of the whereas clauses. In a resolution
such clauses don’t become law anyway, but today
activist writers would have us believe they do have
the force of law, and since Congress adopted the res-
olution, the same writers state Congress has thus
decreed or agreed that the lands were once owned by
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Native Hawaiians. The fact is, Native Hawaiian peo-
ple as individuals never owned those government or
so-called ceded lands, nor until recently expressed
any claims to them. Along with the rest of us, Native
Hawaiians continue to get government benefits that
are financed by revenues received from ceded lands.
Recent legislative acts have given them a larger share
of state income than is received by any other racial
group. On what basis should they now expect to get
ownership of the lands in addition? 

Since the ceded lands weren’t stolen, there is
something inherently unfair in the concept of taking
away land now owned by the government and being
used for the benefit of all of the residents of these
Islands—and giving it to a minority of those resi-
dents. The process would undermine the land and
economic policies of today’s Hawai‘i.

This effort by a few to get compensated for
something neither they nor their ancestors ever
owned needs to be put into perspective. And perhaps
more importantly, any expectation by those being
given these false promises needs to be laid to rest
before unfulfilled expectations lead to problems and
potential violence. 

By way of background, this chapter will pres-
ent a brief history of land in old Hawai‘i, how it was
held, how it was worked, and how it was affected by
contact with the Western world. An understanding
of this background will help make clear that today’s
government lands belong to all in Hawai‘i, and not
just to those with some measure of Hawaiian blood.

The ancient Hawaiians arrived in these
Islands from Polynesia in prehistoric times. In keep-
ing with the prevailing attitude toward land in those
days, they did not consider ownership of the Islands
in the sense we do today. A feudal system prevailed.
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Land was something for everyone to use. Of course,
someone had to exercise control, and at any one time,
that someone was whoever had become the most
powerful member of the community. As a chief or a
king, he told the rest what to do and when to do it
and governed as though he owned the land itself.
Sovereignists argue that in effect he was holding it in
trust for his people. That argument wouldn’t have
carried much weight with Kamehameha I or any of
the earlier chiefs who took control by conquest. The
only time they would agree that “title” changed
hands was when a more powerful chief came along.

Archeological studies indicate there were
people here at least on some of the Islands before the
people we now call Hawaiians arrived. The differ-
ences between stone implements found on Kaua‘i
and those found elsewhere in the Island chain, for
example, suggest artisans from different backgrounds
and experiences and therefore probably from differ-
ent points of origin. 

Recent archeological thought is that for hun-
dreds of years there was two-way travel between
Hawai‘i and several of the more southern source
areas, such as Tahiti and the Marquesas. Several
colonies could have been established on what are
now the Hawaiian Islands and their founders could
have traveled back and forth, staying within their
own land areas both in Hawai‘i and south at their
starting point. The Marquesans, whom some arche-
ologists in the 1960s and 1970s thought may have
been the first visitors, for example, could have main-
tained a base in Hawai‘i for centuries that would
have been visited only by other Marquesans. The res-
idents of such an established base in Hawai‘i would
not yet think of themselves as Hawaiians.

Later, the thinking goes, the two-way travel
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slowed down and the warriors from one colony in
Hawai‘i moved to conquer another Hawai‘i colony.
The end result would have been the designation of
the combined colonies as Hawaiians rather than
occupants of a Tahitian or Marquesan outpost.56

Legends tell us also of the presence of “little
people,” the menehune, even before the first Hawai-
ians, Tahitians or Marquesans. Marvelous
stonework in ancient fishpond walls is attributed in
legends to the workmanship of these unknown
craftsmen. They may have been descendants of
Japanese fishermen who drifted here the way Japan-
ese net floats do now, and remained stranded on
these Islands, though the volume of menehune work
seems to negate that possibility. More than likely
they were early, successful colonizers from a differ-
ent source to the south. 

Whoever they were, they worked the land
while they were here and left signs of their skill and
culture. They were wiped out by whoever came next.
Whether those first inhabitants were strangers of a
different race or Marquesans who in turn were
wiped out by the first arriving warlords to become
Hawaiians, or whether they were just the first ele-
ments of the Hawaiian migration, wiped out by later
arrivals, we do not know for sure.

The early Western visitors noted a difference
between the leaders, the ali‘i, and the common peo-
ple, the maka‘a-inana. A Russian explorer, Otto von
Kotzebue, noted during his voyages of 1823 to 1826
that this difference in appearance and bearing in
Hawai‘i was very similar to what he had noted in
Tahiti. There are those who believe this indicates the
final winners in the battle for control of the colonies
in Hawai‘i were ali‘i from Tahiti.

57

What is clear from Hawaiian legends and oral
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history is that the prevailing chiefs of each island
controlled the land of their valley or their island and
thought of themselves as owning it, even though they
did not own it in the Western sense. They got it by
conquest in the frequent tribal warfare and “owned”
it until it was taken from them by someone more
powerful.

Common usage of the word “owned” shows
up throughout the literature. One instance, over the
signature of Lili‘uokalani in the Washington, D.C.,
American-Examiner, in 1898 is particularly interest-
ing in view of current activist claims that the early
monarchs didn’t really “own” the lands but simply
held them in trust for everyone else.

The Queen wrote, in the context of dis-
cussing Hawaiian land practices, “Let me turn back,
then, to Kamehameha III, who made the Great Divi-
sion [the Great Mahele]. He was an enlightened
monarch. As Lord of All, he ruled absolute, owning
in his own right every acre of the Islands. It was
a typical feudal system, not unlike that which
existed in Europe during the Middle Ages . . .
(Ed.—emphasis added).”

Among other things, this writing by
Lili‘uokalani demonstrates her sophisticated grasp of
Western culture. She may have lacked certain skills
as a ruler, but she was well educated, possessing
highly developed talents and demonstrated skill in
music. Those who would argue that she was a naive
native who was taken advantage of by the haole are
clearly wrong.

When Captain Cook arrived in 1778 and the
written history of Hawai‘i began, the feudal practice
Lili‘uokalani discussed was in place and a score of
chiefs were in control of the lands of their private
fiefdoms. They allowed the common people to work
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the lands under a system of tribute, the kind of thing
practiced over the centuries in nearly every part of
the world. Unlike some European feudal systems,
however, the early Hawaiian commoners were not
tied to the land.

The chief collected as taxes a share of what-
ever was produced on the land he controlled—agri-
cultural crops, pigs, dogs, fish, anything that lived
there or that individual enterprise could grow or
raise. In return for these taxes, the chief organized
defense of the area from neighboring tribes, dealt
with the gods and dispensed justice. He also called
his farmers into battle as warriors whenever he
wanted to, and at other times forced them to perform
team labor such as building new fishpond walls or
temples of worship and sacrifice.

Over time, a few farsighted chiefs gave their
people considerable latitude and encouraged them to
stay within the areas the chief controlled. Obviously
a contented work force could produce more of the
necessities of life and had the time and the skills to
develop ways of living and using the lands that made
sense for the future as well as the present. Under the
ancient Hawaiian system, though, the commoners
seldom were treated this generously.

By modern standards, most Native Hawaiian
common people were treated poorly by their chiefs.
In fact, by the standards of the missionaries and their
children, the treatment was often deplorable.

William De Witt Alexander was born in the
Islands in 1833, the oldest child of missionaries
William and Mary Ann Alexander, who had arrived
the year before. In his sworn testimony before the
Morgan Committee in Washington in 1894, he was
recognized as a historian and told the committee:

“When I was a child, natives were abject
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slaves to their chiefs. They had no rights that
the chiefs were bound to respect. They were
tenants at will. They could be turned off their
land at the word of a chief. Sometimes the
whole of the inhabitants of a valley could be
evicted at the change of the landlord—at the
order of a higher chief. The country was full
of natives who were dispossessed, looking
around for a place, another home. They were
very poor . . . 

“. . . They were subject to forced labor by
their chiefs. Previously to [my childhood] the
sandalwood was exhausted. While the san-
dalwood lasted they suffered a great deal of
oppression; they had to spend months in the
mountains cutting sandalwood for their
chiefs. [They had to carry it from the moun-
tains] on their backs in [very heavy] bundles.
It was a mine of wealth for the chiefs . . . .” 

The ahupua‘a approach to use, division and
control of the land developed in ancient times from
the feudal experiences. An ahupua‘a considers the
land as a whole entity and any one ahupua‘a usually
includes land stretching from the ocean to the moun-
tain top. Those living in the ahupua‘a had access to
the sea for fish, to fertile portions of the lowlands for
growing (and later, grazing) and to the mountains for
water and big timber for canoes. Rarely did those liv-
ing in the ahupua‘a of one chief or konohiki (landlord
or sub-chief) have anything to do with a neighboring
ahupua‘a under control of another chief. In the days
before Kamehameha’s reign commenced—for the
most part in 1795 although he didn’t control Kaua‘i
until 1810—none were free to wander to a strange
chief’s lands. It is doubtful that ordinary natives ever
had a right to wander until, perhaps, the Great
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Mahele in 1848, which revolutionized the system of
land titles. The constant warfare mentality that had
prevailed before Kamehameha I, however, tapered off
under his overall rule and an individual was no
longer subject to instant death for trespassing on the
lands of some other chief. Meanwhile, the ahupua‘a
form of division made a lot of sense in describing
land on an island, and when Western practices took
over description and organization, the ahupua‘a
structure became a formalized part of the lexicon.

A few farseeing chiefs in times of stability
could see the interdependence that was necessary to
ensure a future and orderly life for all of their people.
Thus they enforced respect for the land and its uses,
putting into effect bans on fishing, for example,
when overuse threatened to deplete the supply. 

There were problems, of course. One con-
stant concern for an idyllic lifestyle was the threat of
invasion from other Hawaiians, be it from one valley
to the next or from one island to another. 

Warfare was normal in ancient Hawai‘i and
it meant families were constantly undergoing
change. When the chief wanted to invade neighbor-
ing lands, he drafted warriors from among the farm-
ers, and the savagery of their battles meant many did
not return. When a neighboring chief defeated your
chief, you were subject to new rules and could be
taken, for example, to a new area to accomplish
something the victor wanted done, such as building a
new heiau or fishpond wall or water supply system.

The system was undergoing change when
Captain Cook arrived. A new and powerful Hawai-
ian leader was emerging. The man who would
become Kamehameha I envisioned himself as ruler
of all the Islands. After Cook brought that first con-
tact with the West, Kamehameha saw the advantages
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of Western methods and sought the help and advice
of foreigners like John Young, who had left his ship
at Kawaihae Harbor on the Big Island in 1790 to take
up residence on land instead of sea. With his help,
Kamehameha put together an armed force that
included ships, guns and European tactics. He began
conquering and killing off other chiefs on his own
island, Hawai‘i, in 1782; by 1795 he had conquered
in bloody warfare all of the Islands except Kaua‘i.

By 1810, that island’s chief surrendered and
the Kingdom of Hawai‘i was formed for the first time
in recorded history. The lands of the entire Kingdom
thus became controlled by one king. Of necessity he
exercised control through appointed governors of
each island and chiefs under them.

The common people continued to work the
fields, take care of the livestock and catch the fish, all
under the eyes of these sub-chiefs and with the pay-
ment of tribute. They were happiest when their land-
lord left them alone.

This feudal system did not give the people
freedom but it did provide the possibility of stability
and a means of self-sufficiency. The Hawaiian King-
dom under Kamehameha I had the ingredients for
survival as an independent nation because the threat
of civil war was much diminished under his central
and inspired rule. Farming and commerce, without
the threat of constant warfare, might have continued
uninterrupted and contributed to a buildup of the
economy by a population that was held together by
common aims. But four things prevented this from
happening.

One was the decimation of the population
from Western diseases that caused the number of
Native Hawaiians to drop drastically from the three
to four hundred thousand estimated to be here when
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Captain Cook arrived in 1778, to about one hundred
thirty thousand when the missionaries arrived in
1820. They took a census shortly after their arrival,
which produced that first factual record of the
extraordinary net loss in population numbers. 

Incidentally, estimates of the pre-Western-
contact population range up to eight hundred thou-
sand and even higher, though three hundred thou-
sand to four hundred thousand are more widely
accepted numbers. It is astonishing enough to think
of a population plunging from four hundred thou-
sand to one hundred thirty thousand in forty years,
much less twice as big a drop.58

While better medical practices under the mis-
sionaries slowed the process, population numbers
continued to decline in the years that followed. The
net loss of two hundred thousand to three hundred
thousand in those first forty years meant a yearly
population net loss of five thousand to seven thou-
sand five hundred, a catastrophic annual decrease of
about 1.5 percent. The drop of another ninety thou-
sand in the next seventy years leading up to the Rev-
olution calculates to an annual net loss of a little over
twelve hundred, or less than 1 percent annually after
the missionaries’ arrival. Only a little over forty
thousand were still alive in 1893 and Native Hawai-
ians already were less than a majority in their own
homeland. Their number dropped to thirty-three
thousand by Annexation, and some observers were
forecasting their disappearance.59

The second factor that had a devastating
effect on farming and food production was the mass
movement of the remaining natives away from their
farms and fishing preserves to towns building up
around harbors where westerners could land and
engage in trade and other Western practices.
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The third factor that brought change to the
Kingdom was the result of the new pressure on
Kamehameha I, both in his lifestyle and his life itself.
In order to strengthen his grip on the Kingdom, he
needed Western weapons and ships, which required
money. The conservation practices of old had to give
way to immediate demands for barter and money.
Kamehameha’s desire for sandalwood, a prized item
of barter, led to his ordering intensive harvesting
practices that continued after his death into the mid-
dle 1820s to the extent sandalwood, a tree that can
take a hundred years to mature, barely survives
today. This and his acceptance of cattle from the
British explorer Vancouver in 1793 wiped out forest
lands, birds, and flora and fauna on a major scale.

The King died in 1819 and a new era began
with the fourth factor that profoundly affected the
Hawaiian lifestyle. Hawaiians had noticed that west-
erners had violated various of the many ancient kapu
(taboos) without suffering the drastic consequences
forecast over the centuries by the ka-huna, the priests
whose fear-based control rivaled that of chiefs.
Kamehameha had named his favorite wife, the
strong-willed Ka‘ahumanu, as regent to support his
22-year-old son, Liholiho, known as Kamehameha II.
Based on her skepticism of the ancient taboos and
her advice, Kamehameha II took on the well-
entrenched ka-huna. In a giant step toward the
inevitable Westernization of Hawai‘i, the young King
banished the old pagan religion and taboos that had
guided the native people. This led to one last major
battle, in Kona in January 1820, where the new rule
was threatened by Kekuaokalani, a cousin of Liholi-
ho’s and a chief who wanted to go back to the old
ways and taboos. The uprising was defeated, both
Kekuaokalani and his wife dying in the battle, and
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the taboos were gone forever.60 The religious void left
Hawaiians with no controlling force in their lives. 

The American missionaries arrived in the
next couple of months, astonished to find the taboos
and pagan practices they had feared were already
gone. They took it as God’s miracle. Liholiho, after
considerable debate, allowed the missionaries to land
and start the spread of Christianity. Within months
he recognized the value of their teachings and direct-
ed that all of his people learn to read and write. 

Liholiho died a scant five years into his reign
during a trip to London to visit King George IV. In a
sidelight of early Hawaiian history, Kamehameha I,
intrigued with the strength of Western powers, had
made a casual deal with the British Admiral Vancou-
ver to cede his nation to Britain.61 It is likely Liholi-
ho was visiting England to see what life would be
like as a British subject. With Liholiho’s death, the
cession was never pursued.

Liholiho was succeeded by his brother, who
took over as Kamehameha III. In his long and pro-
ductive rule, Kamehameha III adopted more and
more of the Western ways he could see were neces-
sary for the survival of his people in a different world
than that of his forefathers. 

Kamehameha III exhorted the dwindling
number of his subjects to work harder and more
effectively on the small farms they were letting go
idle, hoping this would bring economic strength to
his nation, but the forces of change adversely affect-
ing the Hawaiian people were too powerful. The
Kingdom needed to look to other means of commerce
with the Western world.

This required the introduction of conditions
that would encourage investment in Hawai‘i. In
1840 Kamehameha III promulgated the first written
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laws of Hawai‘i, designed to bring order and stability
to living and doing business. The Constitution and
the constitutional Monarchy he proclaimed brought
enormous and beneficial changes even as the dwin-
dling native population threatened its existence. 

Arguments broke out over use and owner-
ship of land, and his foreign advisers, mostly English
at the time, urged the King to embrace Western land
systems. He and his key supporters were motivated
by a belief that widespread ownership of land by
individual Hawaiians would strengthen their agri-
cultural efforts, which they and the King thought
were critical to their long-term welfare. His advisers
also strongly believed economic development and
hence prosperity for the Kingdom would not occur
unless investors could be assured of the opportunity
to own the land they were developing, and the King
and his chiefs accepted this.

In 1848, Kamehameha III took the action
that was to change Hawai‘i perhaps more than any
other single event: the Great Mahele, or division of
lands, gave his people for the first time a chance to
own land in their own names.

The man who more than any other worked to
push toward widespread land ownership by Native
Hawaiians was a young Harvard graduate who came
to Hawai‘i by accident. The accident changed the
course of Hawaiian history, and its ramifications
demonstrate the ability of Native Hawaiians to sift
out the good in Western advice and capitalize on it.

The man was William L. Lee. He and anoth-
er New Englander named Charles Reed Bishop, nei-
ther of them missionaries, had set sail from Newber-
ryport, Massachusetts, on February 23, 1846, on the
Brig Henry, bound for a new life in Oregon. The
ship’s captain chose the long tack from New England
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to the Azores and downwind around the Horn. It
turned out to be a fearsome voyage—“The old brig
bounded and pitched like a wounded bison, and sick-
er than death, we were cooped up in our narrow
berths without the least hope of escape. For thirteen
days we were knocking about in the wildest confu-
sion without making a single knot on our course.
The raging waves swept our deck continually . . .” 

Young Lee, in a letter home dated April 16,
1846, handed off to a passing ship, continued, “Our
sufferings were intolerable, and everyone except the
Captain & crew vowed a sacred vow that if they ever
planted feet on ‘terra firma’ again, there they would
remain.”62

In his next letter, bearing a Honolulu date-
line, January 20, 1847, we learn that fate stepped in.
The Brig Henry had suffered severe damages during
the voyage and when it finally reached Honolulu, its
only stop en route to Oregon, its passengers were
much relieved.  Lee got off and was offered a judge-
ship by the Kingdom. True to their pledge, Lee and
Bishop settled down.

Bishop met and married a Hawaiian princess
named Pauahi, a great-granddaughter of Kamehame-
ha I. Bishop was extraordinarily generous, one of the
great community leaders of these Islands. He and
Pauahi were the leading philanthropists of 19th-Cen-
tury Hawai‘i. No doubt his own views as well as the
training Pauahi received from the missionary teach-
ers of the Chiefs’ Children’s School influenced her to
create the Princess Bernice Pauahi Bishop Estate.
She endowed it with about 11 percent of Hawai‘i’s
land and directed that most of the income from her
estate be used for the education of Island children.
Contrary to widespread belief today, she did not spec-
ify in her will that the income devoted to the Kame-
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hameha Schools be used only for the education of
children with Hawaiian blood. The will reads:

“. . . to erect and maintain in the Hawai-
ian Islands two schools, each for boarding
and day scholars, one for boys and one for
girls, to be known as, and called, the Kame-
hameha Schools.” 

Note there is no mention of race, though
Kamehameha has always limited acceptance to chil-
dren with some measure of Hawaiian blood. The
confusion may have arisen because later in her will
she also directs her trustees “to devote a portion of
each year’s income to the support and education of
orphans and others in indigent circumstances” and,
in this section only, adds, “giving the preference to
Hawaiians of pure or part aboriginal blood . . .” The
fact that she makes a distinction in this later section
emphasizes her clear intent earlier to provide schools
for all children, regardless of race.

There is an interesting contrast between
what happened to her estate and its vast lands and
what happened to an estate of about the same land
size left by King Lunalilo. He, Queen Emma and
Queen Lili‘uokalani also were influenced by their
missionary training to set up large charitable trusts. 

Emma’s established the Queen’s Hospital.
The hospital thrives in 1998 and lands of the estate,
including 18.5 acres in Waiki-ki- , are beginning to be
developed significantly. The Queen Emma Founda-
tion and its 12,618 acres will be a growing influence
in the Islands.

The Lili‘uokalani Trust helps needy Hawai-
ian children, and its six thousand three hundred
acres, some in Waiki-ki- and some in north Kona, are
growing in value.
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The Lunalilo Estate is a sad example. The
King set aside some four hundred thousand acres, a
holding larger than that of the Bishop Estate, to
establish facilities to benefit aging members of his
race. His trustees, anxious to fill the need of the
moment, sold off the lands, built a home for aged
Hawaiians and invested the remaining proceeds in
conservative investments such as Santa Fe railroad
bonds. Today just one Lunalilo Home exists and
income of the trust barely meets its needs.

The trustees of the Bishop Estate were direct-
ed to avoid the sale of lands—to lease it instead—
unless they deemed a sale absolutely necessary for
the operation of the schools. Assets of the trust today
have been valued as high as $10 billion. In recent
years the argument that there is an overriding socie-
tal benefit in the fee simple ownership of individual
homesites has brought a change in estate policy over
the objections of its trustees. The U.S. Supreme
Court has approved a fee conversion process with no
tax implications to the estate. It has resulted in the
sale of thousands of homesites in fee simple.

In spite of these greatly different results in
usage of the royal lands and the mixed results of the
move to make landowners out of individual natives,
the King’s Great Mahele in 1848 has to be viewed as
an act of great generosity. He kept less than a third of
the lands for himself, about one million acres called
the “King’s lands” (later the “crown lands”). He
turned another third, 1.5 million acres, over to the
government. He specified that this land be used for
the benefit of all of the residents of the Islands. A
final third, another 1.5 million acres, was set aside to
be given to his chiefs and the common people, who
could get their share by applying for title to lands
they and their families had worked over the years.63
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Letters to mis-
sionaries helped
promote native

land title

The reformation of the land system began on
December 10, 1845, about three years before the
Mahele itself, with the passage of an act establishing
the Board of Commissioners to Quiet Land Titles. Its
five commissioners were appointed by Kamehameha
III to act on all land title claims by private individu-
als and it was this review process that Lee was urg-
ing Hawaiians to pursue. The Mahele itself, the divi-
sion between the chiefs, konohiki and the King,
began in January 1848 and solved the problem of
determining the undivided interests of those parties,
about 240 in number. Defining those interests was
beyond the purview of the Land Commission, mean-
ing it could not proceed to award title of kuleana to
the kanaka maoli or the sale of fee ownership to for-
eigners until the Mahele was completed in March
1848. The Mahele gave the chiefs and konohiki claims
to specific land areas that were quitclaimed to them
by the King at the time. Those claims had to be pre-
sented to the Land Commission before the chiefs and
konohiki could get actual title. 

Lee, by that time chief justice of the Monar-
chy’s Supreme Court, undertook an all-out campaign
on the King’s behalf to get Hawaiian commoners to
apply to the Land Commission for fee title to the
lands they had been working. He wrote many letters
to the missionaries heading the sixteen mission sta-
tions spread throughout the Islands to get them to
help members of their congregations file claims
under the new opportunity. The missionaries helped
put together thousands of claims from individual
Native Hawaiians who otherwise probably would
not have filed, much less successfully. 

In a typical letter dated January 12, 1848, to
the Rev. C.B. Andrews on Molokai, Lee wrote: 

“My dear sir, 
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“Many thanks to you for your letter in
answer to mine . . . and the bundle of land
claims accompanying it. I trust you have
imbibed the true spirit in reference to the
present landed system of Hawai‘i, and feel as
I do, that these mixed and uncertain rights of
Chiefs, Konohiki (Ed.—landlords) and Ten-
ants are a curse to the land and the people. 

“It weighs upon the poor mass of the
natives like a mountain of lead crushing them
to the very earth, nay, into the very earth.
The common Kanaka, not knowing what, or
how much to call his own has no incentive to
raise anything beyond the immediate wants
of himself and family. Oppressed by the
Konohiki, the great mass toil on, as I learn,
from year to year with a bare living. 

“Our great object is to put an end to this
system by separating and defining the rights
of the tenants, and giving them what they
have, absolutely, if it be no more than a patch
of 10 feet square. 

“The idea of common Kanakas sending
in their claims is not so popular with the
chiefs as it should be, for they say, as I am
informed, that the Konohiki can send in their
claims and the tenants still hold their lands
the same as ever . . . 

“Before the people of Hawai‘i can pros-
per and thrive I am firmly convinced that this
feudal system of landed tenants must come to
an end. Perchance the people are not pre-
pared for so great a change, and will remain a
long time insensible to its blessings, but I say
let us at least offer them every advantage,
though they spurn the gift.”

In a similar letter to the Rev. R.A. Walsh of
Ko-loa, Kaua‘i, Lee wrote, “In my humble opinion no
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Natives needed
right to the soil

greater evil exists at the present day . . . than the ill
defined and uncertain rights of the people to the land
they till, and the fruits they produce. My heart, and I
trust yours also, is enlisted in a reform of this evil,
and though the work may be heavy and slow, let us
not weary in well doing.”

He added that “Should the tenants neglect to
send in their claims, they will not lose their rights if
their Konohiki present claims, for no title will be
granted to the Konohiki without a clause reserving
the rights of tenants. But to preserve the rights of the
tenants in their lands is not all we seek—we seek . . .
to give them such form and shape that they may
always know what they possess.”

In addition, Lee wrote letters in Hawaiian to
influential associates in each district, asking them
also to help process claims.

In other letters he mentions he is seeking to
get an extension of the time for filing claims and
urges the various missionaries to press forward: “I
hope and trust you will not slacken in your good
labors.”

In a January 14, 1848, letter to the Rev. E.W.
Clark in Wailuku, Maui, after thanking him for the
receipt of a bundle of claims, Lee notes: “Claims are
now coming in at the rate of from one to two hun-
dred each day, and [I am] hoping that you will spare
no exertion to have all in your district sent in.”

On January 19, 1848, he wrote the Rev. I.S.
Green in Makawao, Maui: 

“I am happy to hear of your anxiety to
have the people become possessed of lands in
fee simple. In my humble opinion, this nation
can never prosper until they have an absolute
and independent right in the soil they culti-
vate . . . it is to my mind as clear as a sun-
beam, that unless Hawaiian Agriculture be
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fostered and promoted by the liberal distribu-
tion of lands among the people, and in other
ways, this nation must gradually sink into
oblivion. There must grow up a middle class,
who shall be farmers, tillers of the soil, or
there is no salvation for this nation. . . .

“We now have upwards of four thousand
claims pending before the Land Commission,
and hoping that you will continue your good
labors and send us many more.”

This was approaching half of the families at
that time, but all was not rosy, particularly on the Big
Island, as he notes in a January 20 letter to the Rev.
Asa Thurston in Kailua, Kona: 

“I feel greatly obliged to you, my dear Sir,
for the information your letter contains, and
the trouble you have been to in getting the
natives of your district to send in their land
claims. I am sorry to say, however, that
notwithstanding Hawai‘i is the largest Island
. . . yet it is the least in the number of its
claims. We have received 300 claims per day
for sometime past, but very few of them are
from Hawai‘i.”

The Kona district of the Big Island had spe-
cial problems: fewer farm lands, a larger drop in pop-
ulation caused by the royal court’s move from Kailua
to Honolulu, and greater distances between settle-
ments. Entire shoreline villages were abandoned.
Apparently Thurston, grandfather of the Revolution-
ist, urged Lee to get an extension of time because Lee
notes it is possible and will have his immediate atten-
tion. Ultimately, extensions were granted that kept
the Land Commission in action until 1855, ten years
after it had started its work.
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Getting title to the lands into the hands of the
people was a great idea, but it didn’t work entirely
the way the King and his advisers had planned, not
only because many awards were subsequently sold
but because not all kuleana were actually awarded.
Today, before such an undertaking, an educational
program would precede the distribution to help pre-
vent many of the failures that occurred. At the time,
the common people were not sophisticated in the
ways of Western land ownership. The devastating
sicknesses that wiped out their will to work contin-
ued to wipe out entire families. Their lands often had
been simply abandoned and there were no family
members left to file a claim. 

Hawaiian activists belittle the effort, arguing
that only a low percentage of the maka‘ainana actu-
ally received title to the lands they had been working
and received pitifully small amounts of land in the
process. In actuality, the percentages were surpris-
ingly high and the amounts of land were significant
to the individual applicants, in most cases constitut-
ing all of the lands they had been working. 

One of the most critical has been Lilikala-

Kame‘eleihiwa, a Hawaiian scholar and active sover-
eignty spokesperson at the University of Hawai‘i,
who tends to see something sinister in almost every-
thing the haole helped do.  In 1992 she produced a
monumental work entitled Native Land and Foreign
Desires. On Page 295 she begins an analysis designed
to demonstrate how badly the maka‘ainana fared in
the Mahele. Using her own figures, one can demon-
strate that instead of suffering, they fared well.

She says that in 1848 there were about
88,000 Hawaiians but only 14,195 applications were
filed for kuleana awards and only 8,421 were actual-
ly awarded a total of 28,658 acres. She estimates
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there were 29,220 males over 18, and uses these fig-
ures to show that only 29 percent of eligible males
received awards, that less than 1 percent of the total
acreage was awarded and that the average award was
only three acres, belittling all of the numbers to make
it look as though the Mahele was a rip-off.

Actually, as she acknowledges on Page 296,
there is another way to look at these numbers.
Arguably, each kuleana was being worked by a fami-
ly, not independently by a series of males over 18.
Using her figure of 10 or 11 for the size of the extend-
ed family living on each kuleana, the 88,000 people
break down into eight or nine thousand families.
Using a family size of six or eight instead of her ten
or eleven raises the number of families working
kuleana to about the same as the number of claims
filed, stripping out multiple claims and claims by
konohiki or foreigners. It thus is likely that nearly
three-quarters of Native Hawaiian families in 1848
received their kuleana in fee simple as a result of the
Mahele. So far as area goes, three acres is about all
one could expect a family to be farming without
modern equipment. And one should not overlook
that the kuleana lands generally were the best farm
lands in the Islands.

But perhaps the biggest reason why more
kuleana lands aren’t in the hands of the maka‘ainana
today is simply that the new owners of these lands
frequently sold them rather than endure the rigors of
farming. Once your ancestor has sold the family
land, your lack of land is no longer the fault of the
Great Mahele. It is something your own ancestor did
and you must live with it. 

A thoughtful study made recently is the 1995
book, Surveying the Mahele, by Gary L. Fitzpatrick
and Riley M. Moffat. The authors note that in addi-
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tion to the Mahele as a means of getting land into the
hands of the common people, the kingdom stood
ready to sell government lands to any Native Hawai-
ian who did not have a kuleana to claim.  They note
advertisements and editorials in the government
newspaper, The Polynesian, promoting this program
and that the volume Index of all Grants and Patents
Land Sales lists the individual grantee, the location
and the acreage for all such transactions. “Clearly,”
they note, “the overwhelming majority of the per-
sonal names appearing on this list are Hawaiian,”
though they note many of the larger sales went to
people without Hawaiian names.

“When the quantity of government land sold
[at less than $1 per acre] to maka‘ainana is included,
the impact of the Mahele may take on a different light
than if looked at solely in terms of kuleana awards.
A total of nearly 400,000 acres in grant sales were
recorded between 1846 and 1860 but no analysis of
the amount that went to Hawaiians is available.”

The authors conclude that further study
must be made of these early sales to find out who the
buyers were—maka‘a-inana, ali‘i or konohiki—and
where and what kinds of land were purchased before
a definitive conclusion can be reached about the fair-
ness of the Mahele to the Hawaiian people.

While the move to spread ownership was
only partly successful in its effort to make individual
landowners out of most Hawaiians, the gift of one-
third of the lands to the government clearly benefit-
ed all of Hawai‘i’s residents. The government lands
were to be “managed, leased, or sold, in accordance
with the will of [the] Nobles and Representatives, for
the benefit of the Hawaiian Government, and to pro-
mote the dignity of the Hawaiian Crown.”64 Income
from leases and sales of this third of the nation was
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the principal source of monies for the Kingdom and
even today provides significant funds for the govern-
ment, and hence Hawai‘i’s people. 

The lands retained as the King’s lands also
provided income for the royal office of the Monarchy
itself, though members of the royal family viewed
them as privately held. Kamehameha IV’s widow,
Queen Emma, took to court the question of private
ownership of the King’s lands, which she wanted as
her dower right. In 1864 the Kingdom’s Supreme
Court denied her claim, maintaining they were lands
owned by the King as sovereign and not as an indi-
vidual.

The Legislature in 1865 passed an act renam-
ing them the “crown lands” and preventing further
sale or disposition of them by any ruling monarch. 

After Annexation, Queen Lili‘uokalani tried
to claim private ownership of the crown lands, but
the territorial Supreme Court denied her claim, and
in a subsequent appeal to the U.S. Court of Claims in
1910, she lost again. Until current claims by vari-
ous sovereignty activists, no one else has tried
in the courts to claim these lands are anything
but government lands.

They continued to be government lands after
the Revolution, though control passed to the Provi-
sional Government. Later that control became the
responsibility of the Republic, but at all times the
income went to the government for the benefit of the
people.

Various lands in both the crown and govern-
ment segments had been sold off over the years by
the King and the Legislatures of the Monarchy and
the Republic so that by the time of Annexation about
1.75 million of the original 2.5 million acres
remained.65 That 1.75 million-acre combination of
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crown and government lands became known as the
“ceded lands” as a result of their cession by the
Republic to the United States at Annexation in 1898.

The 1898 Joint Resolution of Annexation led
to passage of the Organic Act in 1900 and territorial
status for the Islands, but the day the resolution was
adopted, August 12, 1898, is marked as Annexation
Day. Formal transfer of sovereignty and transfer of
title to the ceded lands took place on that date.

The joint resolution made clear that these
ceded lands and any lands subsequently acquired by
exchange were to be held in a trust to benefit the
inhabitants of Hawai‘i. It spelled out that the income
and proceeds from any sale of these lands were to be
used in Hawai‘i for the benefit of its residents, and
only for “educational and other public purposes.”

Clearly there was no theft from the people of
Hawai‘i and thus no reason for them to expect com-
pensation from the United States. The lands were
still government lands after the Revolution in 1893,
still under the administrative control of the Hawai-
ian government and the beneficiaries were still the
people of Hawai‘i.

During the subsequent fifty-nine years until
Statehood, a few more changes occurred. About four
hundred thousand acres were removed from the trust
by acts of Congress for military posts, national parks
and other federal purposes. Hawai‘i’s people obvi-
ously continue to share in the benefits that accompa-
ny those uses.

When Statehood occurred in 1959, title to
the remaining lands was transferred to the new state
with special provisions for their use, a process
unique to Hawai‘i in American history. Again, they
remained government lands and do so to this day.

The Admission Act spelled out that the lands
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transferred and the income from them could be used
in only five ways:

“(1) a public trust for the support of the pub-
lic schools and other public educational insti-
tutions, 
“(2) for the betterment of the conditions of
Native Hawaiians, as defined in the Hawai-
ian Homes Commission Act, 1920, as amend-
ed (Ed.—50 percent blood quantum), 
“(3) for the development of farm and home
ownership on as widespread a basis as possi-
ble,
“(4) for the making of public improvements,
and 
“(5) for the provision of lands for public use.”

Native Hawaiians had not been identified as
specific beneficiaries of the ceded lands in the Organ-
ic Act at the time of Annexation—they shared in the
total income, as did all other residents. The Admis-
sion Act’s language that designated one of the five
uses for ceded land revenues as support for Native
Hawaiians with more than 50 percent blood level
soon led to pressure for further legislation making
certain public revenues available for the use of
Native Hawaiians of lesser blood quantum. 

The 1978 Constitutional Convention under
the drive of soon-to-be Governor John Waihee spent
considerable time developing amendments designed
to improve the financial lot of Native Hawaiians of
whatever quantum. Later, the Legislature provided
that one-fifth of state revenues from ceded lands
would go to a newly created Office of Hawaiian
Affairs for the benefit of Native Hawaiians, but only
those of 50 percent or greater blood quantum. The
Legislature was following the blood level in the
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Hawaiian Homes description that had been used in
the Admission Act. OHA provides a wide range of
benefits for Native Hawaiians, who under OHA
terms are defined as “any descendants of the aborig-
inal peoples inhabiting the Hawaiian Islands which
exercised sovereignty and subsisted in the Hawaiian
Islands in 1778, and which peoples thereafter have
continued to reside in Hawai‘i.” Because of the fed-
eral limitation on the use of ceded land revenues to
Native Hawaiians with 50 percent or more native
blood, the use of OHA’s overall revenues requires
complicated bookkeeping, which was under study at
the state level in 1997. 

Other amendments included one creating a
“Native Hawaiian Rehabilitation Fund,” which gets
30 percent of state receipts from lands previously cul-
tivated as sugar cane lands and from water licenses.
Those receipts, before Statehood, had been designat-
ed for loans to lessees of available lands.

In 1997, discriminatory provisions based on
race were being questioned. Aside from their effect
on the state’s financial condition, these provisions
were being challenged as unconstitutional because of
their racial discrimination.

An impressive analysis of the implications of
present practices termed discriminatory and what
will be required of Native Hawaiians to qualify as
beneficiaries of government largesse was published
in December 1996 in the Yale Law Journal. The
writer, Stuart Minor Benjamin, holds scant hope for
current benefit programs to hold up if challenged.
And the road to qualification is difficult and strewn
with obstacles to Native Hawaiians who would seek
to be classified as Native Americans and thus possi-
bly receive the federal benefits now awarded Native
American tribes.
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Attorney John W. Goemans, local representa-
tive in 1997 of the Campaign for a Color-Blind Amer-
ica, which is working toward the elimination of
racial discrimination in America, summarized Ben-
jamin’s positions:

“l. Recent Supreme Court cases (i.e., Croson,
Adarand) establish that all government pro-
grams containing racial or ethnic classifica-
tions are presumptively invalid and must be
subject to ‘strict scrutiny’ (i.e., must meet a
compelling governmental interest by means
that are narrowly tailored to meet that inter-
est).
“2. That test requires a showing of (a) past
discrimination and (b) the lingering present
effects thereof which require remediation.
“3. The strict scrutiny test must be applied to
all governmental acts which grant prefer-
ences to groups by race or ethnicity. Congress
may grant preferences if a particular group
has a “special relationship” with Con-
gress...[under the Congressional] power to
regulate commerce with the Indian tribes and
only to federally recognized Indian tribes.
“4. The states have [limited] power to legis-
late such special relations [and then] only as
derived from a Congressional Act . . . 
“5. Neither native Hawaiians generally or
any group thereof have such a special rela-
tionship as a federally recognized Indian
tribe. Thus all Federal or State legislation
granting preferences to persons designated
racially Hawaiian is subject to strict scrutiny
and, without a showing of (a) past invidious
racial discrimination (i.e., pervasive, system-
atic, and obstinate discriminatory conduct)
and (b) the lingering present effects thereof,
is unconstitutional.
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“6. There is not now nor has there ever been
any reasonable argument that native Hawai-
ians as a race have been so discriminated
against. (In fact, during the first thirty years
of the Territory of Hawai‘i, native Hawaiians
constituted the single largest voting bloc,
effectively controlled the territorial Legisla-
ture, and elected Hawaiians successively as
Hawai‘i’s first two delegates to Congress.)
Consequently, legislation establishing the
Hawaiian Homes Commission, the Office of
Hawaiian Affairs [or any other legislation]
providing privileges and rights based on race
will ultimately be struck down as unconstitu-
tional.” 

Other attorneys, referring to the Kaho‘olawe
legislation amended by U.S. Senator Daniel Akaka to
provide preferences for Native Hawaiians, argue that
its language also is not enforceable.

It will take years for these matters to be
straightened out in Hawai‘i and U.S. courts, and
obviously patience is called for in this delicate area. 

The path for Hawaiians to gain status com-
parable to Native American tribes is described in
detail by Benjamin. It would require many difficult
maneuvers. Suffice it to say here, given the relation-
ships between the various Hawaiian groups, the
process looks very difficult indeed. Once Native
Hawaiians become aware of the not necessarily ben-
eficial limitations on Native American tribes includ-
ed in current legislation, there may be even less inter-
est in pursuing this course. 
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n October 27, 1993, the U.S. Sen-
ate passed a joint resolution to
“acknowledge the 100th anniver-
sary of the January 17, 1893, over-
throw of the Kingdom of Hawai‘i,

and to offer an apology to Native Hawaiians on
behalf of the United States for the overthrow of the
Kingdom of Hawai‘i.” It passed 65 to 34, with only
one hour of debate on the Senate floor during which
serious questions were raised that went unanswered.
On November 15 it passed the House in even less
time, with no debate and no objections. There were
no public hearings or input. It was a triumph for sov-
ereignty activists. It is an insult to the rest of
Hawai‘i’s taxpayers and to the American people.

While resolutions do not have the force of
law, some sovereignty groups already are using it as
the basis for their proposed creation of an independ-
ent nation and for efforts to get reparations. Each
sovereignty group, regardless of its individual goals,
sees the apology resolution as providing some kind of
legal basis for proposed actions. It seems incredible
that a simple resolution presented as a good-faith rec-
onciliation effort by Hawai‘i’s two senators, Daniel
Akaka and Daniel Inouye, could now be billed as
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having such authority and meaning. 
Senator Inouye stressed that it did not seek

special treatment for Native Hawaiians nor imply
consent for independence or reparations. Senator
Akaka, however, appeared to view it as the opening
move toward recognition and reparations, and it’s
now being used for that purpose. Perhaps more star-
tling, it surfaced in September 1997, that the sover-
eignty movement views it as resolving by compro-
mise the long-standing differences in interpretation
of the events surrounding the revolution. Daviana
MacGregor, a professor in the University of Hawai‘i
Department of Ethnic Studies and the person credit-
ed with having written the resolution, said in an arti-
cle in The Advertiser, September 7, 1997:

“[The resolution] has closed the chapter
on the role of the U.S. government in the
overthrow. . . . The U.S. Congress and the
president . . . recount and agree upon the key
historic events leading up to and following
the overthrow of the Hawaiian monarchy. . . .
They finally admitted and accepted blame for
injustices committed . . . with the participa-
tion of agents and citizens of the United
States.”

As indicated later in this chapter, the resolu-
tion appears to be totally derived from the Blount
Report and hence in no way represents a compro-
mise between Blount and Morgan’s findings. No
public hearings or public input were sought by our
Senators, who doubtless were astonished to read
about this conclusion by MacGregor.

On September 18, 1997, H.K. Bruss Keppeler,
a middle-of the-road activist attorney, admitted to an
audience at The Pacific Club that MacGregor and
others are wrong with this interpretation. He said
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the apology resolution provides neither history nor
law; “it’s just a resolution.”

Only five senators participated in the debate.
Three were opposed and two—Hawai‘i’s two—
argued in favor. Senator Inouye stated several times
that it was a “simple resolution of apology” and had
“nothing to do” with whether Hawaiians are Native
Americans or with the question of Hawaiian home-
lands. The three senators who spoke in opposition,
Slade Gorton of Washington, Hank Brown of Col-
orado and John C. Danforth of Missouri, however,
foresaw problems with the ambiguity of its limited
operative language—justified concern given subse-
quent actions of sovereignty activists. 

The opening argument was made by Senator
Akaka, who was allowed fifteen minutes. He didn’t
take that long but he raised more than half a dozen
points whose validity is questionable. In his first sen-
tence, for example, he said this resolution concerns
“U.S. policy toward its native peoples.” Hawaiians,
while natives of the former Kingdom, and in many
cases citizens of the nation governed by the Republic
at the time of Annexation, never were native peoples
of the United States. They were native peoples of the
Republic of Hawai‘i, and along with all of its resi-
dents became citizens of the United States on Annex-
ation. Native Hawaiians thus never were Native
Americans. Most sovereignty efforts are based on the
unfounded assertion that Hawaiians are Native
Americans, a technical description that opens a
number of legal doors. This description of Hawaiian
natives has not been accepted by any administration
or by Congress. In fact, U.S. Solicitor General
Thomas L. Sansonetti issued a lengthy opinion in
early 1993 that Hawaiians are not Native Americans,
a point reviewed later in this chapter. The opinion
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was withdrawn later that same year for political rea-
sons by the Clinton administration, but no contrary
opinion has been issued in the ensuing years.

More to the point that the issue of Native
American status was not under consideration during
debate over the apology resolution, Senator Inouye,
wrapping up the debate, said:

“As to the matter of the status of Native
Hawaiians, as my colleague from Washington
knows, from the time of statehood we have
been in this debate. Are Native Hawaiians
Native Americans? This resolution has
nothing to do with that (Ed.—emphasis
added).”

Senator Akaka earlier, however, had argued
for several minutes that Hawaiians are Native Amer-
icans. He said, “Too often, when the American pub-
lic and U.S. policy makers think about Native Amer-
icans, they mistakenly consider only Native Ameri-
can and Alaska natives as native peoples of the Unit-
ed States.” He must be aware of the continuing un-
resolved debate on this point referred to by Senator
Inouye, but he goes on to say: 

“This misperception is based on a lack of
knowledge of events surrounding the 1893
overthrow . . . and the current status of
Native Hawaiians in our nation’s political
system.

“Long neglected by the United States,
Native Hawaiians have literally fallen
through the cracks when it comes to a com-
prehensive federal policy towards Native
Americans. . . . Native Hawaiians are, indeed,
Native Americans. . . .” 

The senator overlooks several striking differ-
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ences between Hawaiians and Native Americans.
The Native Americans lived in areas conquered by
troops of the United States in bloody warfare and
their lands were directly seized by the United States
to become federal lands until some were set aside as
Indian reservations. It’s logical that North American
Indians are considered Native Americans: They con-
trolled their lands and were living on them when
those lands were seized by U.S. soldiers under a
clearly stated U.S. policy of expansion and wiping
out Indians and their control. Native Americans
were long denied citizenship. They deserve compen-
sation for this treatment and this has been recog-
nized for over one hundred years. Alaska natives,
too, did not become citizens of the United States at
the time of acquisition—or of Russia, from whom the
United States bought the lands.

Not so with Native Hawaiians. Hawai‘i was
neither conquered nor bought. Hawai‘i was acquired
by Annexation from the Republic of Hawai‘i, which
offered itself and its people for that purpose, with the
unanimous approval of its Legislature. 

Hawaiians were native residents and subjects
or citizens, in succession, of the Kingdom, the Provi-
sional Government and the Republic. They, along
with all other citizens of the Republic, became citi-
zens of the United States at the time of Annexation.
They continued to get the same benefits from their
government lands after Annexation as they had
before, and continue to do so today, although, as indi-
cated earlier, most sovereignty activists are seeking
extra, special benefits for Hawaiians alone. 

Since the conquest of Kamehameha I, Native
Hawaiians have not been treated as a conquered peo-
ple. Not by the Provisional Government, not by the
Republic, not by the United States. 
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The Republic had existed for more than four
years at the time of Annexation and was recognized
as an independent nation by the United States and
every other foreign government interested in the
Pacific. Association with America was something
Hawaiian leadership sought over the years. Sover-
eign kings several times in the 19th Century had
offered the Kingdom to the United States for Annex-
ation or Statehood, Kamehameha III going so far as
to negotiate a formal Annexation treaty, though he
died before it could be signed. These Hawaiian mon-
archs believed that the association would benefit
their people by stabilizing the struggling Island
nation in friendly hands with fair treatment under a
strong government. 

The natives of Mexico who were in the Texas
area and the natives of Spain and Mexico who inhab-
ited California before those areas became part of the
United States, on the other hand, received discrimi-
natory treatment. Their personal status at the time
their lands were being considered for Annexation
was similar to the personal status of the natives of
Hawai‘i: Native peoples of the district, they were liv-
ing on land controlled by themselves or their inde-
pendent local government when it became a part of
the United States. But as individuals they were not
treated similarly when they became part of the Unit-
ed States. None of the residents of Mexican or Span-
ish ancestry qualified as American citizens when
those in control of their independent countries
joined the American Flag. None became Native
Americans. None retained any interest in the land
whatsoever. None got the right to vote until much
later.

Hawai‘i’s Annexationists fought long and
hard to make sure the Hawaiian people would enjoy
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the full benefits offered by the United States to its
people. The Native Hawaiians did not become sec-
ond-class citizens.

The vast lands of Texas and California at
Annexation and the lands seized from Native Amer-
ican tribes went into the federal land bank. The
Republic of Hawai‘i, on the other hand, through a
three-man committee headed by L.A. Thurston, was
able to negotiate a transfer of its lands to the United
States in the form of a sort of trust whose income
could only be spent for the welfare of all of the resi-
dents of the Islands. 

Senator Akaka stated that “While the pri-
mary purpose of [the] resolution is to educate my col-
leagues on the events surrounding the 1893 over-
throw, the resolution would also provide the proper
foundation for reconciliation between the United
States and Native Hawaiians.” No foundation was
laid for the need for reconciliation nor what it might
mean. He hinted he had reparations in mind. Our
other senator stated just the opposite: The resolution
was not a step toward reparations or Native Ameri-
can designation for Hawaiians.

Later Senator Akaka referred to another
event not based on any factual evidence and subject
to much debate: “In recognition of the complicity of
some members of the church” (the United Church of
Christ, whose American Board of Commissioners for
Foreign Missions sent missionaries to Hawai‘i
between 1820 and 1850), the church offered a public
apology in 1993 to Native Hawaiians. It is true that
the national office of the church did make such an
apology. But any Hawai‘i church members who
might have participated in the Revolution were not
involved in it on the basis that they were members of
the church. Yes, there were two second- and one
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third-generation descendants of missionaries among
the thirteen members of the Committee that spear-
headed the Revolution. But they were there as sub-
jects of the Kingdom, concerned for its future, and
not as representatives of a missionary viewpoint. In
1893, the church was not asked to take a position on
the Revolution and it did not do so.

Local church members were not asked for
their opinion or input on the 1993 apology by their
national office and many Hawai‘i members of the
church still are upset that the office took the position
it did. They resent the attempt to rewrite history to
make it appear that the church played a role in the
overthrow. And they resent the transfer to Hawaiian
organizations of endowment monies and land con-
tributed to the Hawai‘i branch of the church over the
years by its members. It was an inappropriate apolo-
gy, not based on any facts offered in evidence, the
result of lopsided research at best.

Senator Akaka sounded a theme much
exploited by sovereignists but bearing little relation-
ship to fact; namely, that the overthrow somehow
had an adverse effect on the welfare of Native
Hawaiians. Arguably, the overthrow created condi-
tions that five years later helped rather than hindered
Hawaiian welfare because it brought into play the
support of the U.S. government. What Senator
Akaka said was:

“The deprivation of Hawaiian sovereign-
ty, which began a century ago, has had dev-
astating effects on the health, culture and
social conditions of Native Hawaiians, with
consequences that are evident throughout the
Islands today.”

The idea that somehow the Revolution is to
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blame for the health, cultural and social status of
Hawaiians from 1893 until today is hard to fathom.
Remember, too, that Native Hawaiians controlled the
elective and appointed government offices up to
World War II. If one is to hold any government
responsible for the welfare of the Hawaiian people in
the earlier part of the 19th Century, it should be the
Monarchy. The Monarchy did its best to prepare its
people for the inevitability of living with Western
culture but it wasn’t equipped financially to bear the
burden and costs. 

O.A. Bushnell, in his provocative 1993 book,
The Gifts of Civilization, attributes the breakdown in
Hawaiian civilization in large part to the unsavory
characters who were Hawai‘i’s visitors during the
four decades after Western contact and before the
missionaries arrived. Many of the men who went to
sea in those days and thus ended up in Hawai‘i could
well be generalized as being of the lowest character.
Social welfare was not their game and they certainly
evinced little consideration for their fellow man. In
their viewpoint, Hawaiian natives were fair game for
every kind of exploitation.

Further, at the time of the Revolution, ex-
penditures of the royal government on welfare and
assistance to its people of necessity were virtually
nil. The Kingdom often was near bankruptcy. After
Annexation, Hawaiians became eligible for the bene-
fits of the United States, a huge step forward. No one
argues that Hawaiian problems do not exist today,
but they certainly shouldn’t be blamed on the Revo-
lution.

The entire Akaka-Inouye resolution needs to
be examined in detail to demonstrate how one-sided
and distorted the campaign for sovereignty has
become. Even our good elected officials, who should
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have recognized the bias, accepted many of the
claims without question. The resolution’s thirty-
seven whereas clauses are six times longer than the
operative body of the resolution and contain numer-
ous errors of fact and distortions of the truth, begin-
ning with the very first clause, discussed in detail
below. In no way can passage of the resolution by
Congress be considered an affirmation of these errors
as the “new truth.”

As Senators Gorton and Brown pointed out
during the brief debate, the congressional resolution
is not clear as to what it implies or means when it
comes to “acknowledging the ramifications of the
overthrow...[or]...the proper foundation for
reconciliation” mentioned in its brief operating text.
The committee report contained no additional infor-
mation nor any explanation of what the resolution
sought by way of reconciliation or compensation.
The questioning senators tried to get more informa-
tion and asked for time to get it. Senator Inouye,
without answering their questions in detail, denied
their request for an additional half-hour of debate
“because a schedule has been established for the rest
of the afternoon.” Senate rules require unanimous
consent for an extension of time. 

The mischief this congressional resolution
can cause is evident by actions already taken by sov-
ereignty groups. One, the “Nation of Hawai‘i” head-
ed by Pu‘uhonua “Bumpy” Kanahele, has published
an interpretation by its consultant on international
law, Francis A. Boyle, that maintains this so-called
simple resolution entitles “the native people of
Hawaii . . . to a restoration of their independent sta-
tus as a sovereign nation state.” Boyle suggests Kana-
hele’s group take its case to the United Nations and
the International Court of Justice. It seems obvious
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he is stretching the ambiguous language of the reso-
lution, but as an attorney he knows ambiguity is
ready fodder for minds set on creating legal entangle-
ments. Other activist attorneys, like Keppeler, say
Boyle is simply wrong.

Senator Gorton questioned the ambiguities
and omissions. He said: 

“It is clear the resolution accomplishes
one goal. It divides the citizens of the State of
Hawaii . . .”

With MacGregor’s newly articulated position
that it clears away the fog of history, the resolution
would wipe out existing history books except those
written recently by sovereignty activists. 

Let us look at the resolution point by point.
Senators Akaka and Inouye claimed its thirty-seven
whereas clauses accurately reflect the history of
Hawai‘i. They do not. The language is based on a
one-sided approach that comes from incomplete and
inadequate research. Hawai‘i-based activists worked
up the document in Honolulu, where it was written
apparently by MacGregor and sent to Senator
Akaka’s office. That office appears to have taken the
language of sovereignty activists as gospel. The fail-
ure to hold any public hearings on the matter or seek
input from other historians prevented opposing
viewpoints from being considered. 

The whereas clauses unfairly portray a
Hawai‘i far from the Hawai‘i that existed at the time
of the Revolution. The clauses never acknowledge
that authorities disagree on many matters for that
period of Hawaiian history. (MacGregor says its pas-
sage overrides these disagreements.) Sixty-five sena-
tors accepted the clauses as fully fair and correct
since our senators said they were, and no one was
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there to argue about errors in the so-called historical
facts. The haste of the action precluded anyone from
investigating, including the three senators who
actively opposed the resolution.

The first whereas clause, for example, states
that prior to the arrival of the first Europeans in
1778, the Native Hawaiians lived in a “highly organ-
ized, self-sufficient, subsistent social system based on
communal land tenure with a sophisticated language,
culture, and religion.” What actually was going on in
pre-contact Hawai‘i instead of high and sophisticated
social organization was constant warfare among
chiefs on each island and constant efforts by the win-
ners to move off-island and conquer other chiefs.
The lands were not communally owned; they were
controlled entirely by whichever chief currently was
on top. Queen Lili‘uokalani in her writings speaks of
the land as being owned by the monarch under a feu-
dal system. The lands were communally used because
each chief needed the common people to work the
soil so he—and they—could subsist.

Because of the lack of metal, technologies
were necessarily primitive. The language was en-
tirely oral until the missionaries came along forty-
two years after Western contact. They put together a
written language and taught the natives to read and
write. Communication had been limited in scope as it
is with any purely oral language. Hawaiians and the
early whalers and merchants developed a form of
pidgin that bastardized the Hawaiian language but
worked for business transactions.

Hawaiian religion before 1778 was built
around idols and sacrifices and kapu (taboos) that if
broken were punishable by death. While the system
did not give individuals the personal freedoms we
take for granted today, it worked in its day to provide

Hawaiian Sovereignty: Do the Facts Matter?

282

Native language
was purely oral

Pre-contact
Hawai‘i not

sophisticated
society



a basis for personal conduct. The very strictness of
its rules and punishments meant that the natives
observed the system without question. Though intel-
ligent, Native Hawaiians before 1778 realistically
cannot be called a “sophisticated” people by any def-
inition of that word.

The second clause states that a “unified
monarchical government . . . was established in 1810
by Kamehameha I, the first King of Hawai‘i.” It
would be more accurate to say that this first king in
Hawai‘i’s recorded history established an absolute
Monarchy by making good use of European advisers
to conquer in bloody warfare the people of every
island except Kaua‘i. 

The fifth clause contains a horrendous
misstatement that distorts the basis for considering
an apology when it states that U.S. Minister John L.
Stevens “conspired with a small group of non-Hawai-
ian residents of the Kingdom of Hawai‘i . . . to over-
throw” the government. Not even the one-sided
Blount Report proves Stevens conspired with the
Revolutionists. He was not even on O‘ahu when
planning for the Revolution began and the Commit-
tee of Safety was appointed to work out its details,
though he arrived later that day. We do know, and he
always admitted, that he was pro-Annexation, as
were his predecessor U.S. ministers, but there is no
evidence he conspired to bring it about. The fifth
clause also implies the Revolutionists had no vested
interest in the welfare of the Kingdom. It fails to
point out that the thirteen members of the Committee
(the “small group” mentioned by the clause) all were
residents of Hawai‘i, all taxpayers, with more than
half being subjects of the Monarchy as well. The
hundreds of other Hawai‘i residents who were pres-
ent at the mass meeting that had appointed the Com-
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mittee, also all taxpayers, were rebelling against what
they considered unconscionable acts of their own
government. They were not acting as a foreign
takeover group. As subjects they had the same stand-
ing versus Queen Lili‘uokalani as the American
colonists did who rebelled against King George III:
they felt a change in government was necessary to
preserve their country and their welfare. 

The sixth clause continues the erroneous
conspiracy charge and obscures the truth by stating
that Stevens caused “armed naval forces of the Unit-
ed States to invade . . . to intimidate Queen
Lili‘uokalani and her government.” This is clearly
argumentative and not a fact for the “education of
my colleagues,” as Senator Akaka described his reso-
lution three times in his remarks. It is stretching
things a bit to call landing of the troops an “inva-
sion.” Webster defines “invade” as “to enter for con-
quest or plunder,” as in raid or assault. Stevens’ and
Wiltse’s orders clearly stated the troops were landed
to protect American lives and property. They were in
the harbor as guests of the Monarchy through the
Reciprocity Treaty. When they came ashore, they did
not point their weapons at anyone. They respectfully
saluted the Queen. They did not fire a shot—they
were ready but their rifles were stacked nearby—nor
did they enter any government buildings. They made
no effort to seize control, and once the Revolution-
ists, 24 hours later, announced they had taken con-
trol from the Queen, the troops went back to their
ship, a procedure they had followed on other occa-
sions during the reigns of earlier monarchs. Their
mission on each of those occasions and on this one
was one of standing by to protect Americans and
their interests. Admittedly this point falls into a dis-
puted, gray, politicized area of Hawaiian history, and
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if he had wanted to be fair to his colleagues, Senator
Akaka might better have described it in those terms.

The seventh clause perpetuates a myth by
stating that the 1893 Committee of Safety “repre-
sented . . . sugar planters, descendants of missionar-
ies and financiers” as if those separate groups had
banded together and selected individuals to act for
them in the Revolution. The most powerful sugar
planters in fact were against the Revolution and
Annexation, fearing Annexation would change the
rules under which they brought in labor. Claus
Spreckels, for example, the major sugar baron of the
19th Century, was an ardent supporter of both King
Kala-kaua and Queen Lili‘uokalani. British planters
such as Theo H. Davies also strongly supported the
Monarchy and opposed Annexation. The descen-
dants of missionaries at the time were no more a
cohesive group on the question of Annexation than
the descendants of Hawaiians are today when it
comes to defining the goals of sovereignty. 

The eighth clause is a semantic exercise that
imputes evil to the Provisional Government put in
place by the Revolutionists because it was formed
“without the consent of the Native Hawaiian people
or the lawful government of Hawai‘i and in violation
of treaties between the two nations and of interna-
tional law.” That argument, of course, would negate
the American Revolution. From Queen
Lili‘uokalani’s point of view, of course, the Revolu-
tionists were acting illegally when they removed her
from the throne. But they were acting as revolution-
aries always do, with the moral justification of
believing their cause was right. They certainly did
not represent another nation. When they took con-
trol of the country, the Provisional Government they
proclaimed became the lawful government of
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Hawai‘i. They did not ask anyone to approve the
Revolution, nor was that required. 

The Monarchy had no treaties with the Unit-
ed States or any other government ruling out revolu-
tions, nor does international law oppose such
reforms. 

The ninth clause sets forth the masterful
protest statement issued by Lili‘uokalani when she
said she was surrendering on the day of the Revolu-
tion. She said she was surrendering to the United
States, although it was the Revolutionists who were
asking her to give up without a fight. She submitted
her protest to them, not the United States. Her
protest was delivered to Provisional Government
President Sanford Dole about 7 p.m. as the brief Rev-
olution was running its course. Minutes earlier he
and his supporters had completed the detailed steps
involved in making clear to foreign diplomats,
including Stevens, that the Revolutionists had indeed
taken over the government of Hawai‘i. They had
occupied the seat of government, had proclaimed the
Provisional Government and were preparing to take
over the Queen’s army and the city police force. 

It had been a long day and Dole knew the
Queen was surrendering to his new government and
not some foreign power such as the United States. He
did not represent the United States and the United
States was not present while the Queen was dis-
cussing surrender with her Cabinet and other advis-
ers. The Provisional Government had a representa-
tive there, S.M. Damon, but he was not there to nego-
tiate for the Provisional Government. Dole accepted
her letter, as he explained later, as if it had come
through the mails. Accepting it was a means of bring-
ing about a bloodless and peaceful end to the Revolu-
tion, and neither side wanted a drawn-out, bloody

Hawaiian Sovereignty: Do the Facts Matter?

286

Queen’s protest
delivered to
Provisional

Government

Monarchy had
no treaties bar-
ring revolutions



battle. The Queen’s statement has served as a con-
fusing point, however, in subsequent analyses of the
Revolution. It became the basis for an after-the-fact
negotiating point for the Queen’s supporters, but not
the definitive argument implied by this clause. 

The congressional resolution gets argumenta-
tive again in its tenth clause, which states that with-
out “active support and intervention” by U.S. diplo-
matic and military personnel the “insurrection”
would have failed. There is no evidence or factual
way to determine this. It is not a factual matter. The
Queen had a few more troops at an early moment,
but they were not as motivated as the Revolutionists
and failed to put up any kind of defense. Indeed,
many Native Hawaiians, including those in her own
Cabinet, wanted her deposed if she persisted in
attempting to promulgate a new Constitution in vio-
lation of terms of the existing Constitution she had
sworn to uphold. Key leaders of the Revolution were
not questioned by Blount about the impact of the
troops. They testified before the Morgan Committee,
however, that they did not need the support of the
U.S. troops to accomplish their mission and pointed
to two previous occasions, in 1887 and 1889, when
they, the same men, had prevailed over troops of the
Monarchy.

The twelfth clause demonstrates the half-
truths that plague efforts to ensure a balanced under-
standing of what happened in 1893. The clause
states that President Cleveland sent former Con-
gressman James H. Blount, a fellow Democrat, to
Hawai‘i in 1893 to conduct an investigation of the
overthrow and that Blount concluded that “U.S.
diplomatic and military representatives had abused
their authority and were responsible for the change
in government.” As Dole pointed out later, if this
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were the case, it was a matter for resolution between
the United States and its representatives, and not the
Provisional Government. The clause fails to point
out the acknowledged criticism of Blount’s investiga-
tion: that he interviewed sixty Royalists including all
of their acknowledged leaders but only twenty
Annexationists, none of whom were leaders of the
Revolution. It also fails to point out that a subse-
quent investigation by Senator John T. Morgan, a
Democrat from Alabama, using only sworn testimo-
ny, vindicated Stevens by a margin of 5 to 4 in the
committee. 

The fourteenth clause has President Cleve-
land reporting “fully and accurately” on the over-
throw without acknowledging his remarks were
based only on Blount’s one-sided investigation and
therefore could be neither full nor accurate. It was a
report based on half the evidence laced with the inac-
curacies one would expect from reliance on lopsided
research. 

The nineteenth clause erroneously states
that while the Provisional Government “was able to
obscure the role of the U.S. in the illegal overthrow of
the Hawaiian Monarchy, it was unable to rally the
support from two-thirds of the Senate needed to rat-
ify a treaty of annexation.” There are two errors
here, a small one of fact, the other a distortion of his-
tory. The error of fact: the Provisional Government
had been replaced five years earlier by the Republic
of Hawai‘i so it wasn’t the Provisional Government
that was dealing with the Congress in 1898 but a sov-
ereign nation, the Republic, recognized around the
world. The distortion: U.S. Senate supporters in
1898 did fail to adopt a treaty but instead simply and
successfully went the route of adopting a joint reso-
lution of Annexation in lieu of the treaty. The same
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procedure had been followed in annexing the Repub-
lic of Texas. The Annexation of Hawai‘i was legal.

The twenty-first clause says that Queen
Lili‘uokalani was imprisoned in ‘Iolani Palace and
forced by the Republic to officially abdicate her
throne. True as far as it goes, but to be informative to
the senators, it should have added that she was
imprisoned for being part of an unsuccessful count-
er-revolution. Incidentally, it was supported sub rosa
by the United States, which allowed the shipment of
arms from California to the Queen’s forces. Allowing
the shipment of arms was a clear violation of U.S.
and international law. The proposed smuggling of
arms and the counter-revolution plot were smoked
out by the Republic’s Marshal, E. Hitchcock. His
sleuthing efforts reached the Republic before the
Queen’s forces were ready to attack and her forces
were quickly suppressed when they had to move pre-
maturely. Subsequently, additional arms were found
buried on the grounds of the Queen’s home, now
Washington Place. 

The twenty-fifth and twenty-sixth clauses
say that with Annexation the Republic of Hawai‘i
ceded public lands to the United States “without the
consent of or compensation to the native Hawaiian
people or their sovereign government.” The sover-
eign government of Hawai‘i at the time of Annexa-
tion, recognized by the United States and every other
foreign nation involved, was the Republic. Treaties
were the province of its Senate, and that body, with a
number of Native Hawaiian members, voted unani-
mously in favor of Annexation. The Republic con-
trolled public lands as had its predecessor govern-
ments, and with the approval of its elected Senate,
consented to the transfer. Neither Native Hawaiians
nor any residents of the Islands as individuals con-
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trolled government lands. Not mentioned is the mas-
ter stroke of Republic negotiators who got the Unit-
ed States to agree to put the ceded lands in a sort of
trust for the people of Hawai‘i, with the income to be
spent only in Hawai‘i, a benefit not achieved by any
other annexed territory and which opened the way
for the current 20 percent distribution to OHA. 

The twenty-ninth clause reiterates that the
“indigenous Hawaiian people never directly relin-
quished their claims to their inherent sovereignty or
over their national lands to the U.S.” Again the reso-
lution fails to point out that the “national” lands
were government lands, public lands that never had
been owned by individual Native Hawaiians. They
were set aside in 1848 by King Kamehameha III as
lands for the government to use for support of all
the residents of Hawai‘i—public lands. The
“indigenous Hawaiian people” had never tried to
gain title to these lands until the sovereignty move-
ment surfaced.

The thirty-first clause records that on August
21, 1959, Hawai‘i became the 50th state without
adding that Hawaiians and part-Hawaiians voted
overwhelmingly, along with everyone else, in favor of
that action. This is a pointed omission in view of
erroneous claims in earlier clauses that Native
Hawaiian peoples had not voted in favor of any asso-
ciation with the United States.

The thirty-second clause states that the
“health and well-being of the Native Hawaiian peo-
ple is intrinsically tied to their deep feelings and
attachment to the land.” A statement such as this in
the context of an apology resolution carries implica-
tions beyond that of a simple apology. It has become
an accepted part of the Hawaiian mystique that
Hawaiians, through religion and tradition, have an
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unusual and special affinity for the land as a living
thing. The language along these lines wouldn’t be
part of the resolution unless those who wrote the res-
olution planned to use that clause later to seek title.
To tie the apology in with current claims for own-
ership of the land misuses the non-ownership, spiri-
tual relationship of early Hawaiians with the land. 

In pre-contact Hawai‘i, and in fact until the
Great Mahele in 1848, all land was under the direct
and absolute control of the monarch, and anyone
who preached otherwise wasn’t long for this world.
Neither early religion nor traditions gave the Hawai-
ian commoner anything more than the oppor-
tunity—often the obligation—to work the land. The
idea of now parceling ownership out to descendants
of those early subjects because Hawaiians have “deep
feelings and attachment” to land will be hard to sell.
Most Americans, regardless of race, have deep feel-
ings for land. Imagine the feelings of the other 80
percent of Hawai‘i’s people if public lands were
somehow taken from their government, where they
benefit all of the residents of Hawai‘i, and turned
over to members of the part-Hawaiian population!

That clause and the thirty-third say “the
long-range economic and social changes in Hawai‘i
over the nineteenth and twentieth centuries have
been devastating to the population and to the health
and well-being of the Hawaiian people.” There is no
mention of any benefits from the multitude of feder-
al welfare and other national monies and agencies
that have assisted the residents of Hawai‘i in the
20th Century. Responsibility for problems of the
19th Century might more appropriately be directed
to the Monarchy. Remarks like this go to a point well-
made by Senator Danforth during the debate when
he described what he called an annoying tactic of
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sovereignists, that of portraying Hawaiians as vic-
tims.

He testified first that the great challenge of
this country has always been the challenge of
attempting to hold together diverse peoples:

“It is a challenge which is tested con-
stantly. It is tested by bigots and by hateful
people; by mean people; by people who like to
lord over others and discriminate against
other people.

“. . . it is possible to divide not only by
being mean, but by making ourselves victims
. . . and if we have not been victims ourselves,
then somebody else has been a victim, some
ancestor has been a victim, so please apolo-
gize.

“. . . by making ourselves a nation of vic-
tims, it is possible to emphasize what divides
us and separates us, rather than what keeps
us glued together.”

Senator Gorton earlier had spoken eloquent-
ly to the same point, from a different direction. He
referred to an experience in 1989 when he was part
of a Senate visit to a conference on Eastern Europe
in Dubrovnik, Yugoslavia. It marked the 600th
anniversary of the Battle of Kossovo, a battle in
which Turkish Moslems slaughtered the Serbian
Christian army and ended the independence of Ser-
bia for the better part of half a millennium. He noted
that a short two years later and continuing today,
many of those Serbs were in the process of killing
Bosnian Moslems in significant measure to revenge
their loss at Kossovo in 1389.

That combination of ethnic politics and
claims to particular pieces of land is literally lethal
across stretches of Eastern Europe, throughout much
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of Africa, and in many nations in Asia, Senator Gor-
ton said. “It is an evil which we as Americans have
largely avoided. And with all of the respect that I can
possibly muster for my two friends and colleagues
from Hawai‘i and for all of the evident goodwill in
the world which they show, this resolution is a sign-
post pointing toward that dark and bitter road,” he
said in remarks quoted in the Congressional Record.

“In guidebooks about the State of
Hawai‘i, and it is mentioned in our own his-
tory, that State is given as an example of how
people from different backgrounds can live
together happily and peacefully. Yet here we
begin that process of division.

“At the time of the commemoration of
this coup, or this overthrow, last January
(1993) the Governor of Hawai‘i caused the
flag of the United States to be removed from
the capitol for five days. I must hasten to add
he was denounced by the two Senators from
Hawai‘i for having done so. But it was sym-
bolic of the divisive nature of this kind of
proposal.”

Noting that Senator Akaka had not men-
tioned monetary compensation in his opening
remarks, Senator Gorton quoted from an article in
the Los Angeles Times regarding the aims of various
sovereignty groups that include compensation, inde-
pendence, lands, etc.

The Times article said:
“. . . these demands for compensation dif-

fer profoundly from those offered to Japan-
ese-Americans . . . . Those reparations were
given to individuals who were greatly
wronged by their Government, who were
deprived of their homes and of their liveli-
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hoods solely by reason of their race and eth-
nic origin, and who were alive to receive
reparations granted to them . . .”

The senator continued:
“This [revolution] took place more than

100 years ago. No one is alive who played any
role in it . . . . This is a different time and a
different generation . . . . every square inch of
the United States was acquired in a manner
which bears certain similarities to the acqui-
sition by the United States of America of
what is now the State of Hawai‘i . . . 

“In fact, we are no different than any
other society in the world today. I doubt that
there is a square mile of the world which is
occupied by exactly the same people who
were the original human beings on the spot.
But it is the genius of us as Americans, it
seems to me, that this does not count in
America. What counts is that we are all citi-
zens, and that we are all equal.

“In no realistic way did we apologize for
the acts by people over whom we had no
responsibility and with whom we shared no
life whatsoever. As a consequence . . . we
must look toward the consequences not only
of what we do here but the consequences of
that coup. The consequences of that over-
throw are the fact that Hawai‘i [has become
a] State of the United States. The fact that it
has more than one million inhabitants living
together in peace and harmony in an
extremely prosperous society, the fact that all
except for aliens are citizens not only of the
State of Hawai‘i but of the United States of
America.

“Are these adverse or unhappy conse-
quences? Are these consequences or
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ramifications of that overthrow which we
wish to undo?

“This Senator intensely regrets the fact
that we are in this process creating a division
which does not exist . . .”

After quoting former University of Hawai‘i
President Harlan Cleveland that in his judgment the
“. . . diffusion of American democracy and enterprise
with Hawaiian culture mixed now by immigration
and intermarriage with Japanese, Chinese, Korean,
Filipino, and other workways and mindsets has pro-
duced one of the world’s most intriguing experi-
ments in the building of a multicultural society,”
Senator Gorton notes this is the “actual real world
consequence of something which took place more
than a century ago.”

He quotes Harlan Cleveland as saying that
“sovereignty, which . . . many of the Native Hawai-
ian groups wish, is unlikely to be the answer. . . .” 

Senator Danforth added to the theme: 
“. . . warfare and divisions are not things

to be emphasized constantly . . . the past is
not something to be constantly relived with a
view toward how to get other people to apolo-
gize.

“There comes a time to put warfare
behind us and divisiveness behind us and to
dedicate ourselves to a common purpose,
because we are all Americans, and because it
is challenging enough to live together in this
one country as one people without constant-
ly fighting the battles of the past.”

The operative language of the resolution fol-
lowing the thirty-seven whereas clauses is contained
in five short paragraphs, and change may be beyond
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our control as individuals. But it is proper to point
out that the language is specious in part.

The first paragraph “acknowledges the his-
torical significance of the [overthrow],” without say-
ing what that means, and then goes on to say it
“resulted in the suppression of the inherent sover-
eignty of the Native Hawaiian people.” The Queen
was the sovereign. The Hawaiian people were her
subjects. Perhaps in the language of international
diplomacy they had an “inherent sovereignty,” but as
a practical matter in 19th-Century Hawai‘i they had
no power, no sovereignty. The people are sovereign
in a democracy, but certainly not in a Monarchy like
the one Queen Lili‘uokalani sought to reimpose with
her proposed new Constitution.

The third paragraph similarly goes beyond
the facts. It says the Congress apologizes “for the
overthrow . . . with the participation of agents and
citizens of the United States.” Was the Congress
apologizing for the fact that some of America’s citi-
zens, as residents and subjects of Hawai‘i, were over-
throwing a monarchy in favor of a democratic form
of government? 

The resolution then goes on to include an
apology for “the deprivation of the rights of native
Hawaiians to self-determination.” Since the Native
Hawaiian people had no rights to self-determination
under the Queen’s rule and would have been even
more tightly ruled under the new Constitution she
proposed, this makes no sense. There is no logic in
our Congress apologizing for the loss of something
that never existed and certainly wasn’t taken away
by the overthrow. Again, failing to hold a public
hearing resulted in the Senate acting without knowl-
edge of the facts.

The last two paragraphs contain the language
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that mystified Senators Gorton, Brown and Dan-
forth: The Congress (in the fourth paragraph)
“expresses its commitment to acknowledge the rami-
fications of the overthrow . . . in order to provide a
proper foundation for reconciliation between the
United States and the Native Hawaiian people,” and
in the fifth paragraph urges the president to do the
same.

What those ramifications are, Senator Gor-
ton points out, is “nowhere mentioned in the course
of the resolution or in the modest committee report
on that resolution.” In fact, the committee report
contains little more than the remarks of Senator
Akaka that he repeated on the floor of the Senate.

Senator Gorton went on to say:
“Is this a purely self-executing resolution

which has no meaning other than its own
passage, or is this, in their minds (Senators
Akaka and Inouye), some form of claim,
some form of different or distinct treatment
for those who can trace a single ancestor back
to 1778 in Hawai‘i which is now to be pro-
vided for this group of citizens, separating
them from other citizens of the State of
Hawai‘i or the United States?

“At the very least, before we vote on their
resolution, we ought to understand what the
two Senators from Hawai‘i mean those rami-
fications and consequences to be.”

As the song says, he got no satisfaction. The
debate ended.

Perhaps the resolution is as Senator Inouye
explained when he made his final argument in reply
to Senator Gorton: 

“. . . this is a simple resolution of apology,
to recognize the facts as they were 100 years
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ago. As to the matter of the status of Native
Hawaiians . . . are Native Hawaiians Native
Americans? This resolution has nothing to
do with that. This resolution does not touch
upon the Hawaiian homelands. I can assure
my colleague of that. It is a simple apology.” 

But an apology to whom? To the hundreds of
Native Hawaiians who formed the Hui Hawai‘i
Aloha‘a-ina the year before the Revolution, calling for
the overthrow of the Queen? To the Native Hawaiian
Cabinet members who sought to depose her before
the Committee of Safety was formed? To the Native
Hawaiians in the Republic’s Senate who unanimous-
ly favored Annexation to the United States? Or per-
haps the overwhelming numbers of Hawai‘i’s citi-
zens, including Native Hawaiians, who embraced
Statehood?

In due time, the resolution will lapse. It is the
nature of resolutions to do that. They do not have the
force of law. But perhaps the best thing to do is repeal
it and start over.
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he proponents of Hawaiian sover-
eignty have mounted a much more
effective public information cam-
paign than those who question the
movement. Much of it is mastermind-
ed from within the taxpayer-support-

ed Center for Hawaiian Studies at the University of
Hawai‘i. The campaign has included wide use of UH
professors as a speakers’ bureau and the writing of
countless letters and articles to the editors of
Hawai‘i’s newspapers.

This effective campaign has taken place in
spite of the failure of the various advocates of Hawai-
ian sovereignty to agree on common goals. On the
other hand, those who question the notion of Hawai-
ian sovereignty have no formal structure at all.
Theirs is not an organized movement, and argu-
ments tend to relate to narrow issues. Many special-
ists writing in the newspapers on Hawaiian land, for
example, believe that sovereignty positions on this
subject are irrational and based on misinterpretation
or misunderstanding of historical data. Articles to
correct perceived misstatements on land issues have
appeared from time to time, but writers on this sub-
ject seldom get into the broader aspects of sovereign-
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ty. The overall result is that pro-sovereignty letters
and articles in general outnumber their opponents’
efforts by ten to one.

While many good answers and major points
have been made by writers who are opposed or con-
cerned about sovereignty, the preponderance of
information is flowing mostly in the other direction.
We need to take a look at the erroneous claims by
sovereignty proponents that are made most often and
are generally left unanswered. This chapter will
attempt to separate fact from fiction. 

Newspaper editors usually seek to balance
“opinion pieces”—the longer articles that generally
appear opposite the editorial page—with pieces con-
taining opposing views, either on the same day or on
following days. With the subject of sovereignty, how-
ever, the sheer volume of articles offered by pro-sov-
ereignty writers has made this difficult and the bal-
ance is tilted. 

With Letters to the Editor, the possibility of
the public being provided with balancing viewpoints
is even less. As a matter of newspaper policy, letters
run unanswered. They often carry innuendoes that
deftly chisel away at the facts. It’s a surreptitious way
to rewrite history, and if the revisionism is repeated
often enough, it becomes difficult to set straight the
fiction.

An example ran in The Advertiser on Decem-
ber 2, 1995, over the signature of Kamal Kapoor.
“Nation status won’t free Hawaiians from U.S. rule,”
the headline states, catching the key point of the let-
ter writer. But what is the reader to make of this?
That Hawaiians want to be free of “U.S. rule” and
becoming a nation won’t do it? 

Sophisticated readers know that the headline
above a letter, while looking very positive, is not nec-
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essarily a factual statement in itself; it is written
merely to call attention to the writer’s main point.
Unfortunately some readers, skimming through the
letters page, take the headlines as statements of fact.

In this case, the writer states that the
“nation-within-a-nation” advocated by Ka La-hui and
other Hawaiian sovereignty advocates “is not sover-
eignty at all. It is merely another form of depend-
ence.” The writer says that under this model the
Hawaiian people “must still get permission from the
U.S. government to use their ‘independent’ land . . .”
He restates the myth: “Congress can also take away
the ‘sovereign’ people’s land whenever it sees fit . . .
without permission from the Hawaiian people.

“The only way kanaka maoli can get what is
rightfully theirs and be truly independent is to
achieve full secession from the United States,” the
writer concludes.

On the surface the statements may sound
rather logical, but there are several problems:

Problem l: The writer assumes that some
form of sovereignty will be achieved; he admits to no
gray area. But realistically, sovereignty is far from
being a sure thing.

Problem 2: The implication is made over and
over that land has been taken from the Hawaiian
people. Buzz words are oft-repeated in sovereignty
letters, such as those in Kapoor’s letter: “their inde-
pendent land,” “the sovereign people’s land,”
“reclaiming without permission of the Hawaiian
people,” “what is rightfully theirs.” Phrases like
these obviously are designed to give the impression
of theft. There is little opportunity for this to be
questioned, or for expert opinion to point out that in
the first place the Hawaiian people did not own the
land being discussed; it has been government land
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since King Kamehameha III set it up that way. Before
he gave a portion to the government, it was all his,
not the people’s.

Problem 3: A naive reader of a letter like this
could easily assume that secession from the United
States is an option. Amazingly, not everyone remem-
bers that this point was settled for Americans in the
Civil War. “Full secession” is not an option and sov-
ereignty leaders are engaging in a disservice to their
followers to imply that it is. Some, including Kapoor,
think it is. They should heed the words of Senator
Inouye on this point, on February 16, 1997, in an
article in The Advertiser: “We had a Civil War over
that. I think that was very clearly articulated with
blood.”

The confusion cuts many ways. Some
descendants of the ali‘i claim it is they and not the
common Hawaiians who have rights to the land. A
letter in the Star-Bulletin on July 18, 1996, for exam-
ple, over the signature of Monica Wilcox Hatori, tells
the kanaka maoli to back off: “We, who can prove our
unbroken continuity relationship to King Kame-
hameha and his father Keoua, are the true owners of
these lands. 

“If we, the descendants of the ali‘i, cannot
receive justice then what are the hopes for the
descendants of the people?”

That’s the fiction. The fact is the land isn’t
owned by the ali‘i descendants either, and never was.
Once Kamehameha III turned over the lands to his
and future governments in 1848, those lands became
government lands. Interestingly, until the current
claims on the part of kanaka maoli, which no one as
yet has taken to court, no commoners had tried to
gain title. Queens Emma and Lili‘uokalani, as men-
tioned earlier, had tried unsuccessfully to do so.
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Another side to the land question is the pay-
ment by the state government to OHA of 20 percent
of the revenues earned by the ceded lands. This rela-
tively recent development is covered in depth in
Chapter Nine, “Land Is the Key.” Letter writers are
all over the place on this one. A letter in the Star-Bul-
letin on May 13, 1996, over the signature of Lance L.
Luke, starts off erroneously by saying that the ceded
lands “are actually lands stolen by the state govern-
ment and used by the state and federal government
and other parties for free or for a small fraction of the
actual rental value.” 

Luke adds that the “Hawaiian people are still
getting ripped off because although they are entitled
to it, they do not receive 100 percent . . .” These last
two statements are the fiction. 

The fact is the 1959 Congress-approved
Admission Act, which made Hawai‘i a state and
returned the ceded lands to our control, provided
how those lands and the income from them could be
used. The language limited their use to five areas,
one of which was the welfare of Native Hawaiians
with 50 percent or more Hawaiian blood. That’s why
the Legislature allocated one-fifth—20 percent—to
Hawaiian welfare to be administered through OHA,
which on its face introduces another layer of bureau-
cracy before the monies reach kanaka maoli. The
hope is OHA will be more responsive than govern-
ment agencies as a whole. Use of those ceded land
funds still is limited to those with 50 percent or more
Hawaiian blood and this needs to be broadened by
congressional action. The Admission Act significant-
ly broadened the language of the Annexation Act
sixty-one years earlier, in 1898, which had admitted
Hawai‘i as a Territory. The earlier act transferred the
ceded lands to the United States but provided that
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revenues from them “shall be used solely for the ben-
efit of the inhabitants of the Hawaiian Islands for
educational and other public purposes.” 

On the general subject of commentary on
sovereignty issues, there are a few Native Hawaiian
letter writers who buck the tide. One of the more
prolific is a Waima-nalo resident named Benny
Olepau, 80 years old in 1997, who describes himself
as a “100 percent Hawaiian.” Among his more than
seventy published letters since 1980, he comments
on a wide spectrum of community events and has
often written brief notes that attempt to bring sover-
eignty activists back to reality. One, dated July 9,
1996, is headed “Hawaiians should stop blaming oth-
ers.” That statement is made in general tones on
occasion by other writers, but this particular letter
relates to the alleged loss of language and culture.
“The educated Hawaiians blame the foreigners for
the loss of their language and culture,” Olepau
writes. He adds: “They are wrong. The Hawaiians
themselves lost their language and culture because
they became ‘haole-fied’.”

He reasons that “There were many foreign-
ers of many races in Hawaii. England had the influ-
ence . . . . When the United States took over Hawaii,
the Hawaiian flag became part of the United States.”

Emphasizing what may well be the unex-
pressed feeling of many Hawaiians, he continues: “I
am proud to be an American citizen of Hawaiian
ancestry. I volunteered in World War II and complet-
ed my education under the G.I. Bill. I am a resident
on Hawaiian Home Lands in Waima-nalo as a 100
percent Hawaiian.”

Here are a few other words of counsel for
Hawaiians from Benny Olepau:

In a letter appearing September 19, 1995:
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“I agree with Walter F. Judd, who said, ‘No
land was stolen’ as the sovereignty movement claims
and ‘to describe the overthrow as non-Hawaiians
stealing from Hawaiians is to distort history beyond
recognition.’

“Hawaiians must bury the past and look
ahead for the good of all who make Hawai‘i their
home. Only then can Hawai‘i be the Aloha State.”

On October 6, 1995, another of his letters
states: “Hawaiians are better off under the U.S. gov-
ernment. Hawaiians cannot stand on their two feet
without government assistance. Can a self-govern-
ment assure better benefits for the Hawaiian race?
My answer is loud and clear: No.

“Time will tell whether I am wrong,” he
adds. “Regardless of the outcome, I shall forever be a
citizen of the United States because no other govern-
ment can replace what I have.”

Finally, on September 6, 1997, he told his
“fellow Hawaiians” that “A sovereign government
for Hawaiians is not for me . . . Non-Hawaiians born
in the . . . Islands are children of Hawai‘i and Hawai‘i
is also their land.”

A major factor in the creation of revisionist
confusion is the congressional apology resolution
adopted in 1993. Typical of the problems it creates
appeared in a letter in The Advertiser on October 21,
1994, over the signature of Sondra-Field Grace of
Anahola, Kaua‘i. She says, “In your Oct. 15 article,
‘OHA to buy ceded land from state,’ Clayton Hee
‘acknowledged that some Hawaiians might question
having to pay for land they say already belongs to the
Hawaiian people.’

“In fact,” Grace continues, “U.S. Public Law
103-150 states: ‘Whereas, the indigenous Hawaiian
people never directly relinquished their claims to
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their inherent sovereignty as a people or over their
national lands (Ed.—emphasis by Ms. Grace) to the
U.S., either through their monarchy or through a
plebiscite or referendum...’

“Thus,” she adds, “it is not just ‘some Hawai-
ians,’ but the U.S. Congress and President Clinton
who acknowledge this fact.”

Revisionists hail the apology resolution as
“U.S. Public Law 103-150” as discussed in Chapter
Ten of this book. In actuality, it is not a coded part of
U.S. law. Its operative clauses express no point of law
and as a resolution would not be law anyway. Sover-
eignists, however, describe the whereas clauses
themselves as having the force of law. Citations of
claims set forth in the whereas clauses have appeared
already in law articles and court opinions. To com-
pound the problem, many of these clauses are in
error. There appears to be no recognition that
whereas clauses in general do not have the force of
law. As Senator Inouye has said, “It is just a resolu-
tion.”

An opinion piece on Ma-kua Valley in The
Advertiser on June 21, 1996, over the byline of
Samuel L. Kealoha Jr., is another example of the dif-
ficulties in resolving the question of ceded lands.
Kealoha, a trustee of OHA at the time, said in the
article, “What many ignorant souls, including The
Honolulu Advertiser, do not understand is that the
land on both sides of the highway at Ma-kua . . .
belongs to the Hawaiian people. It is part of the 1.4
million acres that was ceded to this crooked state, via
Statehood, in 1959.”

His letter adds, “In a recent court decision,
Judge Daniel Heely ruled that lands were illegally
taken without compensation or consent from the
Kingdom of Hawai‘i [by] the illegal overthrow. . . .”
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Fact or fiction? What Kealoha is doing is con-
tinuing the fiction. Keep saying the ceded lands
belong to the Hawaiian people even though as an
OHA trustee he knows it is government land and
that by legislative action, 20 percent of its revenues
go to OHA to administer. Keep saying that the courts
have said the lands were illegally taken when that is
not what they have said. No court has ever said the
ceded lands are anything but government lands. The
Monarchy’s own Supreme Court twice ruled they are
government lands. The highly controversial Heely
decision itself is under appeal.

Articles appearing in the national press also
confuse the issue, hampered by space and the com-
plexity of the problem. An article in The New York
Times on July 23, 1996, about Hawai‘i’s 1996
plebiscite on a sovereignty convention is an example.
It explains very well the idea behind the vote and
where it could lead, and presents a reasonably bal-
anced report on what sovereignty could mean. 

But there are problems in three areas of The
Times report:

l. The article states: 
“. . . the vote itself represents the crest of

a powerful swell of native Hawaiian revival
that began in the 1970s and could, decades
down the road, bring about the restoration of
independence the island Kingdom lost when
American businessmen, backed by marines,
overthrew Queen Lili‘uokalani in 1893.”

There are three problems with this sentence,
one being repetition of the continuing myth that the
United States somehow was responsible for the over-
throw and that therefore independence for Hawai‘i is
an option. An objective review of the testimony of
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those on the scene during the Revolution makes it
clear that U.S. marines did not physically assist the
Revolutionists. The marines themselves, only about
one-fifth of the U.S. forces that were landed, were
assigned to the U.S. consulate and the U.S. legation.
They and the rest of the troops were landed, as they
had been on three tumultuous occasions in earlier
years, to protect American interests. Their experi-
ence with the political necessity that they remain
neutral led their officers to keep them out of sight,
never on the offensive, never pointing their weapons.
But they were caught in a political reversal in Wash-
ington when the pro-Annexation Republican admin-
istration of President Harrison was replaced by the
anti-Annexation Democratic administration of Pres-
ident Cleveland. The false message that U.S. marines
were backing the Revolutionists has been repeated so
often it is accepted by many as the shortcut version
of what happened. It is simply not true.

Secondly, the Revolutionists were not acting
as “American businessmen.” Some were business-
men and many of those businessmen were Ameri-
cans. But as Revolutionists they were acting as resi-
dents of Hawai‘i and community leaders, most of
them subjects of the Kingdom, revolting against a
Queen who days earlier had attempted a revolution
of her own. She had announced plans to promulgate
a new Constitution that soon would have disenfran-
chised foreign-born residents and given new powers
to the Monarch, all in violation of the Constitution
she had sworn to uphold when she took office. Her
action came about two years after she had tried
unsuccessfully to take the Kingdom from her brother
by force and just days after she had betrayed many of
her supporters by signing lottery and opium bills she
had earlier disavowed. Not even her own appointed
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Cabinet backed her on her attempts to rewrite the
Constitution. 

In the third place, the Revolutionists success-
fully toppled a decaying Monarchy as a governing
force. They substituted a new and independent gov-
ernment that opened citizenship to all, albeit with
temporary conditions that controlled voting rights,
and openly sought Annexation to the United States.
They knew this eventually would bring full citizen-
ship and voting rights to all male members of the
community (women’s suffrage had not yet come into
being). 

This government was independent for five
years. To attempt now to disenfranchise today’s
Hawai‘i residents and turn the Islands over to a new
form of government (surely no one thinks of a return
to monarchy?) is mind-boggling. Constitutional
lawyers would have lifetime careers ahead of them
on this one.

2. The Times article continues: 
“In 1978, a state constitutional conven-

tion created the Office of Hawaiian Affairs to
administer to the needs of native Hawaiians
and get them a share of the proceeds from the
use of 1.7 million acres of public land that
once belonged to the kingdom of Hawaii.”

This sentence, seemingly innocuous, implies
two conditions that give erroneous impressions.
One, OHA was not designed to “get [Native Hawai-
ians] a share of the proceeds from the use of 1.7 mil-
lion acres of public land that once belonged to the
kingdom of Hawaii.” Native Hawaiians already were
guaranteed a share in the proceeds from the ceded
lands under terms of the Admission Act that brought
Statehood. Secondly, by stating that the lands “once
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belonged to the kingdom,” the implication is left that
the lands and their benefits were taken from that
Kingdom. In actuality, the transfer of administration
of the government lands from Lili‘uokalani’s Monar-
chy to the new Provisional Government was as sim-
ple an administrative act as was the transfer of them
from Kala-kaua’s Monarchy to Lili‘uokalani’s. These
lands were government lands under the Monarchy,
the Provisional Government and the Republic before
they went to the United States in a form of trust and
were returned at Statehood. The people of Hawai‘i
enjoyed the income from them at the beginning, and
still do. 

3. And finally the article says: 
“There is consensus, even among the

haole, as whites are called here, that the
native Hawaiians are owed something from
the United States for what American rule has
cost them, from their threatened culture to
their lost lands.”

This is apparently based on a subsequent
statement in the article, that an Advertiser poll in
1995 showed that “83 percent [of Hawai‘i residents]
said they did think Hawaiians deserved some kind of
reparations or redress.” No specifics were presented
in that poll, nor had there been any educational
process in preparation for the asking of such a ques-
tion of people who have had little background in
Hawaiian history. What most people know about
sovereignty is what they read or hear on TV and this
has been heavily weighted with stories sympathetic
to Hawaiians as victims of some kind. But to say
reparations would be in return for “what American
rule has cost them” goes well beyond the poll’s ques-
tion. What has American rule cost the Hawaiian? It
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is hard to see how it has cost them anything, the ben-
efits seeming to far outweigh any psychological loss-
es that have been claimed. Becoming a part of Amer-
ica, gaining citizenship and the benefits of associa-
tion with the world’s most stable nation are positive
measures, not negative “costs.” American rule did
not “cost them their lands.” The lands were held sep-
arately in trust for all of us, not added to the federal
land bank as were American Indian lands. They cer-
tainly have not been “lost.”

A letter in The Advertiser over the signature
of Dene Edens in July 1993 is an early example of the
moves to maintain that not only were the lands
stolen, but so was the nation. “Hawaiian nation was
stolen,” reads the headline on the letter. The letter
erroneously implies it was U.S. policy to overthrow
the Hawaiian Monarchy. In fact, as soon as President
Cleveland decided to call the successful Revolution
an American venture, he ordered those involved to
return the Monarchy to Queen Lili‘uokalani. Had it
been U.S. policy to take over Hawai‘i, he certainly
would not have done that. Neither his administra-
tion nor the previous Harrison administration advo-
cated that the United States take over Hawai‘i.

A point made by Senator Inouye in a July 25,
1993, article in The Advertiser exemplifies the power
of revisionist history. He states: “The United States
owes to the Hawaiian people that which Hawaiian
people were wrongly deprived of in 1893—the fun-
damental right to govern themselves.” The assump-
tion obviously is that in 1893 they were possessed of
a government that they had selected for themselves,
a point sovereignty enthusiasts also attempt to make.
The fact is that Queen Lili‘uokalani, like most
queens, was not elected. She was appointed by her
brother to be his successor. The power of the people
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of Hawai‘i actually was used in 1893 to remove her
after she tried to promulgate a new Constitution in
violation of the existing Constitution of Hawai‘i she
had sworn to uphold. 

Earlier in his article, Senator Inouye stated
that the Revolution of 1893 was “an action not sup-
ported by the people of Hawaii, nor approved by the
elected members of the legislature of the Kingdom . .
. and most certainly not approved by the queen her-
self.” The Revolution certainly wasn’t approved by
the Queen, but the outcome presents the possibility
it did have the support of the people. Although out-
numbering the Revolutionists by 10 to 1, Hawaiians
did not rise to support the Queen. People were voting
with the force of their emotions, and the sweep of the
Revolution was clearly a test of wills. The Queen’s
did not prevail.

The Legislature of the Kingdom, of course,
was not asked to approve the Revolution, though
some of its members took part. The Legislature of the
Republic, however, which was the next elected body
representative of the people of Hawai‘i, did approve
Annexation and by extension the Revolution itself.66

As noted earlier, many Native Hawaiians were
among its members, including the speaker of the
House. Perhaps the most telling indication of the
quality of support for the Queen at the time of the
Revolution lies in the actions of her Cabinet mem-
bers, who, as detailed in Chapter Four, had come
close to deposing her themselves. 

Senator Inouye also said: “It would be diffi-
cult to contend that the overthrow and the resultant
change in the status of the government of Hawai‘i
were carried out in a manner that was consistent
with the standards that were then recognized in the
world community.” His phrasing indicates he is open
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to argument on the matter and it well can be argued
that revolution was and always will be a well-estab-
lished means of overthrowing an undesirable govern-
ment. The fact that the new government was quick-
ly recognized by every nation interested in the Pacif-
ic, including the United States, is evidence there was
nothing in the action that inhibited other govern-
ments from welcoming this new member into the fra-
ternity of nations.

In the same article, Senator Inouye said that
at that point in 1993 he believed Native Hawaiian
people should enjoy the same political status afford-
ed Alaska natives and American Indians. He has
often said this is a point that has been argued since
Statehood. In June 1996, in a letter to The Advertiser
concerning the impending plebiscite, he noted the
issue still is not settled. He said: “. . . the sponsors of
legislation to reform the federal acknowledgment
process affecting Native American tribes have
advised me that any reference to Native Hawaiians
that may have erroneously been included in federal
Indian legislation either has been or will be deleted
from those legislative proposals.”

He went on to imply that until Native Hawai-
ians themselves are in agreement on whether they
want that status, nothing will happen. There are sov-
ereignty proponents, including Senator Akaka, who
already speak of Native Hawaiians as Native Ameri-
cans. Senator Inouye, long associated with the
Native American movement, makes it clear that
Native Hawaiians are not considered Native Ameri-
cans and that in 1997 there were no legislative
efforts headed in that direction.

On a minor note, Sol Kaho‘ohalahala, chair-
man of the Hawaiian Sovereignty Elections Council
for the 1996 plebiscite, was quoted in a September
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1996 report of the election, commenting on the Rev-
olution: “The conspirators sneaked back to the back
steps of this building [the seat of Hawaiian govern-
ment at the time], intentionally avoiding the general
Hawaiian public.”

The opposite is true: The proclamation
announcing the new Provisional Government was
read from the front steps of the building in full view
of ‘Iolani Palace, with officers of the new government
in attendance and the “general Hawaiian public”
welcome.67 Every history of the event, based on testi-
mony in the Blount Report and sworn statements
and testimony in the Morgan Report from men who
were there at the time, is in agreement on this point.
Kaho‘ohalahala’s misstatement is typical revision-
ism; sovereignists frequently try to belittle actions of
the Revolutionists.

In the same article, Representative Quentin
Kawananakoa, a rational voice on the side of sover-
eignty, is quoted as saying: “My great-grandfather
was inside this building at the time of the overthrow
. . .” The senior Kawananakoa was a high official of
the Queen’s government and was among those who
elected to stay on during the transition to the new
government. He was instrumental that first night in
getting notice of the change in governments off to
foreign governments represented in Honolulu, all of
whom recognized the new government immediately.
The Provisional Government removed only six peo-
ple from administration of the government: the
Queen, her marshal and the four members of her
Cabinet. All others were asked to stay on. Some, like
Kawananakoa, stayed on for awhile, then left to
become part of an opposition party and joined the
Queen’s unsuccessful attempt at a counter-revolu-
tion. With the defeat of that effort and her subse-
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quent abdication, many became supporters of
Annexation. Many also remained active in politics
under the Republic and, of course, the Territory.68

Here’s a summary of erroneous statements
that appear frequently in current efforts to rewrite
Hawai‘ian history: 

Fiction: Lili‘uokalani was chosen by the peo-
ple of Hawai‘i to be their Queen.

Fact: She was named by Kala-kaua, her broth-
er, to be his successor. Kala-kaua, a man with lesser
chiefly lineage himself, had been elected by the Leg-
islature in 1874 by a narrow margin over Queen
Emma. The election was so controversial it culmi-
nated in an all-out riot that had to be quelled by U.S.
troops, landed, as in 1893, for the purpose of pro-
tecting American interests. Queen Lili‘uokalani was
never approved by the vote of her people.

Fiction: Queen Lili‘uokalani was removed
from her throne by U.S. marines.

Fact: A force consisting of one-fifth U.S.
marines and four-fifths U.S. bluejackets was landed
in Honolulu to protect Americans and their proper-
ty, as had similar forces on three occasions during
the reign of King Kala-kaua. In 1893, the troops never
came face to face with the Queen or her forces and
did not participate in the Revolution.

Fiction: American missionaries and sugar
interests led the Revolution that unseated
Lili‘uokalani. (Sometimes the phrase “American
businessmen” is also used to describe, erroneously,
the makeup of the leadership Committee. In other
cases, the Revolutionists are referred to as “foreign-
ers.”)

Fact: The thirteen-member Committee of
Safety included nine with American connections
and four Europeans, all of whom were qualified vot-
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ing residents of Hawai‘i. The chairman, Henry Coop-
er, a relative newcomer to the Islands, had qualified
the year before the Revolution. Only three of the
thirteen were missionary descendants; one a second
generation and two, third generation. Of the thir-
teen, seven were subjects of the Kingdom, having
sworn allegiance to the crown (including five of the
former Americans and two of the Europeans), four
were American citizens and two were European
nationals. Five were attorneys; none were sugar
plantation owners or operators. Three had been
elected by the largely Hawaiian electorate as legisla-
tors in the Monarchy’s House of Representatives.
None worked for any of the handful of missionary-
dominated businesses in Honolulu. 

Fiction: Lands of the Hawaiian people were
stolen from them.

Fact: Lands gained in fee simple by the chiefs
or commoners as a result of the Great Mahele in 1848
were held by them until sold or otherwise trans-
ferred. None were stolen. Lands held by the govern-
ment, later called the “ceded lands,” were govern-
ment lands when they were so designated that same
year by Kamehameha III. They were transferred, vir-
tually intact, from monarch to monarch to the Provi-
sional Government, to the Republic, to the United
States when Hawai‘i became annexed as a territory,
and back to Hawai‘i as a state in 1959. The income
from them was used for the benefit of the residents
of Hawai‘i when they were set aside as government
lands, and still is to this date. Neither the lands nor
their income were stolen. Individual Hawaiians
never owned any of the ceded lands.

Fiction: The missionaries sought to kill the
Hawaiian language and stifle the culture.

Fact: The missionaries saved the Hawaiian

Hawaiian Sovereignty: Do the Facts Matter?

316



language when they arrived forty-two years after
Captain Cook by translating it into a written lan-
guage and teaching almost the entire Kingdom to
read and write Hawaiian and, in most cases, English,
too. They thought, in the strictness of their own
early 19th-Century upbringing, that the hula was not
compatible with turning Hawaiians into Christians,
and opposed it. But they taught music and harmony
to the Hawaiians, recorded history, fought disease,
advocated temperance, struggled to prepare Hawai-
ians for their inevitable exposure to the Western
world, left the mission when requested to do so by
Hawai‘i kings to serve as advisers and consultants to
the government, though in total they constituted
only 4 percent of the foreigners who served the vari-
ous Hawaiian monarchs in the 19th Century. The
missionaries, probably more than any other element
of the community, worked to implement Kamehame-
ha III’s decision to put fee simple ownership of the
lands into the hands of Hawaiian natives.

Fiction: The missionaries and the Republic
of Hawai‘i banned the Hawaiian language from
schools.

Fact: As reported earlier, far from banning
the language, the missionaries saved the Hawaiian
language by putting it into written form, printing lit-
erature, including the Bible, in Hawaiian and preach-
ing in Hawaiian throughout the 19th Century.
Regarding actions of the Republic, A. Grove Day 
notes in his 1955 history, Hawai‘i and Its People, “A
decade before Annexation, a steady advance was
begun toward achieving the American ideal of uni-
versal, compulsory, nonsectarian, and tax-supported
education. All English-language government schools
were by 1888 free to students . . . . Under the Repub-
lic, education was restored to its early important
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place under a separate Department of Public Instruc-
tion, and English was made the classroom language.”
The latter clause may have given rise to the interpre-
tation that there was a ban on use of the Hawaiian
language. The author could find no record of a law,
ruling or ordinance banning use of the language,
though anecdotally many Hawaiian grandmothers
recall their use of the language being banned. It is not
clear whether this was a result of government action
or parental action. By the mid-1920s the Legislature
had passed a bill requiring that Hawaiian language 
courses be made available to anyone who wished
them. But that does not indicate there ever was a ban
on use of the language itself.

Fiction: The congressional apology resolu-
tion has the force of law and its whereas clauses have
become factual by act of Congress as U.S. Public Law
103-150.

Fact: Resolutions do not create public law.
They are not codified as part of the laws of the land.
The whereas clauses in particular are not part of the
law nor did adoption of the resolution make them
factual accounts of history. No hearings were held to
verify their accuracy. This resolution was called a
“simple resolution of apology” by one of its two
sponsors, Senator Inouye.

Fiction: Hawaiians voted overwhelmingly to
hold a constitutional convention to provide for a
Native Hawaiian government in the 1996 plebiscite.

Fact: Of the 79,400 ballots sent to eligible
Hawaiian voters, 46,377 were not returned or were
returned blank, indicating 58 percent chose not to
vote for the convention. Of the balance of 33,023,
there were 22,294 votes in favor of the convention,
or 67.5 percent of the ballots returned. Opponents
point out, however, that the 22,294 “yes” votes also

Hawaiian Sovereignty: Do the Facts Matter?

318

Small percent of
Hawaiians voted

for plebiscite

Resolution
called a simple

apology



mean only about 28 percent of those eligible to vote
said “yes” to the proposal.

Fiction: The 1997 Public Television video,
Hawai‘i’s Last Queen, included an emotional episode
that said the Hawaiian Flag taken down at Annexa-
tion was “cut up into little ribbons by the missionar-
ies and given to their children as souvenirs of what
they had done to the Hawaiians.”

Fact: There is no historical record of any
such incident. The producers of the video knew no
Hawaiian historian had ever mentioned such an act
and knew this fable first appeared in the 1950s as an
item written by a newspaper columnist known for
her often fictitious tales of old Hawai‘i. They used it
anyway, telling this writer that it captured the spirit
of the Annexation period. H.J. Bartels, curator of
‘Iolani Palace and sympathetic in a rational way to
sovereignty issues, believes this flag incident is fic-
tional. He suggests it may have sprung from an item
in the August 5, 1898, Pacific Commercial Advertiser,
page 1, column 3. The item related that a commercial
firm had approached President Dole with the idea of
raising and lowering the flags on a colorful ribbon-
like lanyard that then could be cut into pieces and
sold as souvenirs. There is no report this was ever
done but the Dole family in the 1970s sold to antique
dealer Robert Van Dyke a piece of cloth resembling
this description, which may have been the lanyard
sample shown to President Dole. At any rate, there
were no missionaries alive at the time of Annexation
and the four missionary descendants who were
involved in leadership of the Revolution and the Pro-
visional Government—Castle, Dole, Smith and
Thurston, all attorneys—certainly didn’t spend their
time cutting up Hawaiian flags.

Fiction: All Hawaiians shut their windows
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and stayed home during the Annexation Day cere-
monies at ‘Iolani Palace, August 12, 1898.

Fact: Photographs of the day show Hawaiian
leaders seated or standing with the dignitaries on a
platform at the makai entrance to the Palace, while
other Hawaiians are visible on the grounds. A much
publicized picture shows Queen Lili‘uokalani and a
handful of her retinue seated in her home at the time
of the ceremonies, but not all Hawaiians, by any
means, were opposed to Annexation.

Fiction: “Queen [Lili‘uokalani] was living,
on February 12, 1897, in Washington, D.C., at the
Shoreham Hotel. Three days later she would move to
the Cairo Hotel after becoming alarmed over rumors
that assassins had been hired by Lorrin Thurston to
kill her at the Shoreham”—extract from the Presi-
dent’s Remarks, front page of the ‘Iolani Palace
Quarterly, Spring 1997, under a photo of President
Abigail K. Kawananakoa.

Fact: In her book, Hawai‘i’s Story by
Hawai‘i’s Queen, Lili‘uokalani has this to say about
her 1897 visit to Washington:

“One day in February, the proprietor of
the Shoreham notified me, that, as I had
failed to engage my apartments for inaugura-
tion week, he had rented them to others, and
that every room in the hotel would then be
occupied . . . . Rather than await the arrival of
the future occupants of those rooms . . . it
seemed best to me to move at once....[So] on
or about the 14th of February, I moved with
my party to the large thirteen-story building
on Q Street, N.W., known as ‘The Cairo’....Its
newness and immaculate cleanliness
impressed me favorably at once...[and] there
we remained until about the 9th of July, at
which time I removed to New York City....” 
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You will note the Queen, who rarely had a
good word to say about Thurston, also says nothing
about any assassination concerns at the Shoreham,
although she often brought up such worries in her
Honolulu diaries of the 1894 period (not that she
ever mentioned Thurston in connection with
them!). “It was just a rumor,” notes Bartels. “We left
it in because it caught the state of mind of the times.”
Interestingly, that’s about what the producer of
Hawai‘i’s Last Queen said to me in a letter about the
flag-cutting incident: “It may not be true, but we
think it catches the flavor of the period.” In other
words, what’s wrong with a little baloney if it makes
the stew taste better?
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he Hawaiian Kingdom existed—even
thrived—in isolation for centuries, but
sovereignty advocates generally

acknowledge the Monarchy days are gone forever.
Beating the opposition into submission worked for
Kamehameha I, who was dealing with other Hawai-
ians under their own 18th-Century rules of warfare.
It can’t work in the 20th Century in a complex soci-
ety governed by a Constitution and the rule of law.

The problems that face Hawaiians today can
be solved only in an atmosphere of mutual trust and
support among all of the races and viewpoints now
in place in these Islands. We must work toward
togetherness and avoid actions that could be divisive.

The majority of Hawai‘i’s people are not like-
ly to vote for independence or even an independent
Hawaiian “nation-within-a-nation.” These basic
changes in our structure would have to be decided at
the federal level anyway. 

Hawai‘i’s majority is not likely to approve
ownership transfer of any significant measure of the
state’s ceded lands to the part-Hawaiian minority
except possibly as part of negotiated settlements
resolving monies due OHA and the Hawaiian Homes
Commission from disputes of past mismanagement. 

Where Do We Go From Here?
Chapter Twelve
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The majority, however, already does appear
to accept the idea of special allocations of tax monies
being controlled by Native Hawaiians. It has accept-
ed the earmarking of 20 percent of the income from
ceded lands directly for Hawaiian welfare under the
direction of the state Office of Hawaiian Affairs. In
today’s environment of concern over anti-discrimi-
natory actions, that allocation may be challenged. It
was accepted, however, by the majority at the time of
Statehood and, if killed, should be rescued somehow.
It provides the funding for a wide and potentially
productive variety of Hawaiian-based programs
despite the extra layer of bureaucracy involved in get-
ting this money from the land revenues to the ulti-
mate beneficiaries. And, it could help hold the state
and its people together instead of further dividing
them.

In their enthusiasm, sovereignty leaders have
led thousands of Hawaiians and part-Hawaiians to
believe the major goals of independence and control
of all of the ceded lands are achievable. The failure to
achieve these major objectives will lead to inevitable
disappointment.

New directions for the sovereignty effort are
needed. These seem not only possible but their foun-
dations are already in place, waiting for cohesive
leadership. The enthusiasm of sovereignty activists
could play a major role in making sure that leader-
ship is provided and is productive. To be most effec-
tive, this new leadership should recognize that some
goals are beyond reach and viable alternatives must
be developed. Developing alternatives is in the inter-
est of us all. There could be disastrous effects if noth-
ing were to happen, leaving the Hawaiian communi-
ty with only lost expectations after these many years
of pursuing sovereignty. Unfulfilled expectations
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could translate into more cultural or socio-economic
problems.

Many aspects of sovereignty already have
wide approval. These accepted aspects should be pur-
sued by both Hawaiians and non-Hawaiians as goals
and activities to fill the emotional gap that could oth-
erwise come about with the failure of the more pub-
licized sovereignty goals to be achieved.

The most obvious widely supported goal is
the pursuit of Hawaiian culture. Progress is being
made in this area with the resurgence of interest in
Hawaiian language and the teaching of other cultur-
al aspects in elementary and higher schools. The
kumu hula are doing a great job in the further revival
and development of interest in dance. But we should
move beyond the argument that foreigners in the
19th Century sought to destroy Hawaiian culture or
sought to ban the language. Teaching of the language,
saved originally by the missionaries who put it in a
written form, fell by the wayside in the Republic’s
struggling years when English was proclaimed to be
the language of the classroom, but it is widely sup-
ported again today. To continue the argument over
when or whether it was banned, for how long, by
whom and why, is needlessly divisive.

We should back off also from the erroneous
thought that Hawaiian culture is something only
Hawaiians can appreciate. Immersion language
schools and classes in culture should be open to all
students. Such an approach would lessen the danger
that students of Hawaiian ancestry begin to think
learning the language, for instance, is an end-all
achievement. For our youngsters to become success-
ful in today’s world, English is still essential and we
are shortchanging young Hawaiians to preach other-
wise. Long the international language of business,
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English has replaced French as the international lan-
guage of diplomacy. It is not a thoughtful act to allow
an American citizen to grow up without a good com-
mand of English.

Hawaiian as a second language could be as
valuable and satisfying to Islanders as the pursuit of
other languages is in schools throughout the country,
and it should be encouraged. Hawaiian language 
courses have been mandatory under Hawaiian law
since 1925 and need to be made available in fact as
well as law wherever there are students or families
interested. 

The effort to set aside Kaho‘olawe as an
exclusive Hawaiian preserve is an example of an
unnecessarily divisive approach to the preservation
of Hawaiian culture. Why isolate Hawaiian culture?
Why should a significant portion of the state be set
aside for the benefit of just one segment of the popu-
lation? No lands of the Kingdom ever were set aside
for use by one race only. Development of Kaho‘olawe
will take significant monies beyond expected initial
help from the federal government in clearing remain-
ing armed bombs. It would be unfair enough to set
aside lands for use by only one segment of the popu-
lation, much less compound the unfairness by using
general tax revenues to pay for their upkeep.

Labeling Kaho‘olawe as a revered and special
Hawaiian place is an unnecessary stretch of fact and
credibility in the first place. All of the Islands contain
places that were important in Hawaiian history. Sites
on the other islands, however, far exceed in impor-
tance those that exist on Kaho‘olawe. Physical fea-
tures of the island itself—its lack of water and forests
and very limited agricultural potential—kept it from
playing an important role in early Hawaiian history.
The Hawaiian hierarchy had its choice of places to
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live and enjoy and certainly would not have opted for
a near-barren island when garden spots existed on
nearby islands. Fishermen of course visited it from
time to time. Kamehameha I, who often visited the
south shore of Lanai, may even have stopped by.
House or shelter platforms do exist.

The Treaty of Reciprocity between the Unit-
ed States and Hawai‘i of 1855 contained a bleak
description of Kaho‘olawe in the mid-19th Century:

“Separated from East Maui by ‘Alala-keiki
Channel, 6 miles wide, [the island] is about 11 miles
in length and 8 miles wide.

“It is low and almost destitute of every kind
of shrub or verdure (vegetation), excepting a species
of coarse grass. The rocks of which it is formed are
volcanic, but nothing is known of any active or
extinct craters on the island.

“At one time this island was used as a penal
settlement; but it is now chiefly used as a sheep run,
the soil of decomposed lava being too poor a quality
for cultivation.

“No towns noted; probably none exist.” 
Its value today lies in its virtually untouched

availability. This value is negated to a large extent by
the damage inflicted on it by its early use as grazing
lands and later as a target island, useful though the
latter may have been to U.S. security over the years.

By legend, Kaho‘olawe was the starting point
for voyages to Tahiti, though voyaging canoes would
have been built, stocked and loaded with people else-
where. With this background, there is logic in having
the island developed and administered as a Hawaiian
project by Hawaiians and Hawaiian organizations.
As indicated earlier, however, doing so as an exclu-
sive arrangement for a single ethnic group is divisive,
discriminatory and unnecessary. Kaho‘olawe should
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be accessible to everyone either as potential partici-
pants or as visitors. The sovereignty movement
would benefit from the support of others than
Hawaiians. 

The massive compensation for past misman-
agement of the Hawaiian Homes Administration 
land program has stretched tolerance for further
compensation at the expense of non-Hawaiian racial
groups about as far as it can be stretched. Most of the
monetary values for so-called injuries to Hawaiians
by misconduct of the program were determined arbi-
trarily by the Waihee administration. There was no
public process, just a swirl of action that was enact-
ed by a Legislature under pressure to do something
for Hawaiians. In the case of the Hawaiian Homes 
Commission, it was an overdue corrective process
and justification for the correction existed. But con-
tinuing to pay off past injuries or mistakes with tax
monies from people who had nothing to do with the
original problems is too divisive. We must get the
potential for divisiveness behind us. Our combined
efforts and monies should go to developing and car-
rying out new projects that will bring the communi-
ty together.

It is unfortunate that many sovereignty advo-
cates continue to claim that Hawaiians have been
badly treated in their homeland and are not getting a
fair share of benefits from the land that was once
owned by their leaders. The record shows otherwise.

The Statehood Admission Act was the first
time Native Hawaiians were designated as benefici-
aries of the ceded lands. The act tied the definition of
Native Hawaiian to the Hawaiian Homes Commis-
sion Act, however, which meant that only people
with 50 percent Hawaiian blood are among those
specifically designated as beneficiaries by the Admis-
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sion Act. OHA has resolved this problem somewhat
by agreement with the state Attorney General’s
Office to segregate OHA revenues, using the Admis-
sion Act definition when it dispenses ceded land rev-
enues, and using the broader definition set by the
1978 Constitutional Convention when it uses other
state revenues, or revenues from other sources. Con-
gress, of course, could amend the Admission Act def-
inition, but today’s concern with enacting special
rules and privileges for minorities will make this dif-
ficult.

Native Hawaiians, as broadly defined,
already receive significant special dispensation. In
addition to the Hawaiian Homes Commission Act
(HHCA), there are now some 10 other state and fed-
eral acts whose benefits go to Native Hawaiians.

At the state level, recent amendments and
rulings have tightened provisions of the HHCA to
preclude non-Hawaiians from using those lands, and
Kaho‘olawe was set aside for the practice of Native
Hawaiian traditions. At the federal level, Native
Hawaiians benefit from the Older Americans Act of
1965, the National Historic Preservation Act of
1966, the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, the Native
American Programs Act of 1974, the Developmental
Disabilities Assistance and Bill of Rights Act
Amendments of 1987, the Indian Health Care
Amendments of 1988, the Disadvantaged Minority
Health Improvement Act of 1990, the Native Hawai-
ian Health Care Improvement Act of 1992 and the
Native Hawaiian Education Act of 1994. As Stuart
Minor notes in his comprehensive Yale Law Journal
article published in December 1996, some of these
single out Hawaiians of 50 percent native blood. 

Most, however, he says, use the recent
expanded definition, which is more in keeping with
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the treatment of Native American Indians. Many
Hawaiians hope to become defined as Native Ameri-
cans and thus gain benefits given Native Americans
under that designation, including the right to build
and operate casinos. OHA leadership has already dis-
cussed the casino potential with its Washington con-
tacts, though in 1996, Patton Boggs, one of the top-
level law firms and leading lobbyists in the capital,
urged then-OHA Chairman Clayton Hee to down-
play the issue for the time being. Hee lost his chair-
manship in October 1997.

Hawaiians, as members of the general public,
share along with everyone else in the 80 percent of
ceded land revenues that go toward generic public
purposes such as schools, parks, roads, agricultural
infrastructure, etc. Since Native Hawaiians consti-
tute about 20 percent of the population, they share to
the extent of about 20 percent in those general bene-
fits. Twenty percent of 80 percent is 16 percent.
Adding this 16 percent to the 20 percent of overall
ceded land revenues that is set aside exclusively for
Native Hawaiians, we find that 36 percent of ceded
land revenues are being used today for the benefit of
persons of Hawaiian descent. No one is complaining
about this percentage at the moment. Sovereignty
activists and others who claim erroneously that the
ceded lands were stolen from the Hawaiians might
do well to pause and perhaps deal with this distribu-
tion in a positive manner instead of inviting attack
by seeking more.

A.A. Smyser, contributing editor of the Hon-
olulu Star-Bulletin, in an article dated November 6,
1996, looked in depth at the question “Are Hawai-
ians Being Treated Fairly,” and concluded the
answer is a “qualified yes.”

He noted they share like everyone else, as
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mentioned above, in facilities and lands that are pub-
lic, including public schools, and in addition benefit
from the monies of six landed trusts and various
funded programs. He listed these as: 

“(1) the Princess Bernice Pauahi Bishop
Estate, which educates Hawaiian children
through its Kamehameha Schools, 
“(2) the Hawaiian Homes program, which is
finally picking up steam because of land and
cash infusion and has about 6,250 families on
lots, 
“(3) the Queen Lili‘uokalani Trust, which
helps needy Hawaiian children, 
“(4) the King Lunalilo Trust, which main-
tains a home for aged Hawaiians, 
“(5) the Office of Hawaiian Affairs, with
assets well above $200 million and current
annual income from the state—which Gover-
nor Cayetano wants to reduce sharply—of
about $15 million, 
“(6) numerous federal grants (listed above),
many of them administered by Alu Like and 
“(7) the Queen Emma Foundation, which
includes the Queen’s Medical Center. The
medical center serves all Hawai‘i’s people but
the estate focuses its investment spending on
Hawaiians.”

Smyser goes on to note that more than 100
part-Hawaiian heirs of the James Campbell Estate,
four of the Mark Robinson Estate and many part-
Hawaiian holders of private land holdings ranging in
size from the 225,000 acres of Parker Ranch to sin-
gle-family homes are benefiting from the lands. 

What could be done to make all of these pro-
grams for the support of Native Hawaiians more
effective? For one thing, they could be better publi-
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cized. But in the main, they would benefit from
Hawaiian organizations themselves getting behind
them and making them work. 

These and other programs should be support-
ed more strongly by the major Hawaiian trusts and
estates. Bishop Estate trustees could take a broader
look at their mandate as custodians of Hawai‘i’s
largest trust. Taking refuge today in a supposed fidu-
ciary mandate that they maximize the return from
trust assets, they have invested hundreds of millions
of dollars from the proceeds of land sales in business
deals. But they have done so largely outside of
Hawai‘i—where the business climate and potential
dollar returns arguably are better. They point out
they are charged with preserving and increasing the
return from the assets left by Princess Pauahi in
order to further the education of Hawai‘i’s children
and hence must look for safety and the highest rate
of return. In 1996, they canceled a key program that
was serving 10,000 preschool Hawaiian children and
they consistently ignore the implied challenge of
Pauahi that they use her assets to benefit Hawaiian
children. Imagine the benefits that could accrue to
Hawaiians (and everyone else, incidentally) if the
Bishop Estate invested those hundreds of millions of
dollars in Hawai‘i—in housing projects, hotels point-
ed toward the Hawaiian experience, or other pro-
grams. These might or might not produce fewer dol-
lars in returns for the estate but would boost the
economy and provide work for part-Hawaiians. If
they fear a charge of malfeasance for neglecting the
highest possible dollar returns, perhaps the Legisla-
ture could take them off the hook by confirming as
prudent, if not mandating, a more sensitive and local
approach to the use of income from Hawai‘i’s lands.
In the latter part of 1997, estate trustees were under-
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going scrutiny by the state Attorney General’s Office
as the result of a general outcry over their handling
of the estate.

The same mandate for a more Hawai‘i-sensi-
tive approach could be applied to other landed
estates, even the private ones such as Campbell and
Robinson, and probably would be well-received by
trustees sensitive to the source of the estates’ wealth.
The other ali‘i trusts—Queen’s Hospital Foundation,
Lili‘uokalani and Lunalilo—already are looking for
ways to better serve their Hawaiian constituents.

Jeremy Rifkin, in his provocative 1995 book,
The End of Work, raises issues and offers solutions
that have direct application to the future of our part-
Hawaiian population. Rifkin examines the impact of
information age technologies on the job market and
his title summarizes the direction he believes we are
heading: Human beings in every sector are being
replaced with computers, robotics and other tech-
nologies. In his discussion of solutions, he suggests
the increased development of a social economy, a
community services sector, to balance the traditional
government and business sectors of our economy
and provide job opportunities for the millions of dis-
placed workers. Job opportunities for the part-
Hawaiian population already are limited. Unemploy-
ment rates among them are the highest for any eth-
nic segment in these Islands. Rifkin’s suggestions for
expansion of the social sector are cast in a global con-
text and advocate compensation for community serv-
ice. He calls for examination of innovative ways to
finance expanded community service through such
means as a value-added tax, reduction of the work-
week, a government-guaranteed annual income, etc. 

This kind of thinking suggests an opportuni-
ty for OHA and other Hawaiian organizations to pull
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the Hawaiian community together. OHA could, for
example, use some of its revenues to provide direct
support for unemployed part-Hawaiian workers in
return for their working together on housing pro-
grams—such as those conducted by Alu Like, the
Hawaiian Homes Commission and the OHA Habitat
project. There are other activities that would benefit
both the workers and their community. The develop-
ment of Hawaiian culture parks, the rehabilitation
and perpetuation of heiau, beaches, streams, trails
and taro patches are examples of other projects that
could become community service applications fund-
ed by OHA monies. They would make Hawai‘i more
interesting for visitors and more productive for resi-
dents.

OHA already is studying the idea of using
some of its settlement monies to invest in business
ventures in Hawai‘i, as Maori organizations have
done in New Zealand; this seems like a wise move.

Certain of the ceded lands could well provide
the environment for high-tech development. To
entice that kind of investment the land usage would
necessarily have to be combined with justifiable gov-
ernment subsidies and changes in the present state
attitude toward business. Revenues from the
increased value of ceded lands used for such devel-
opment could be earmarked for the training of
Native Hawaiians who may not have the necessary
high-tech skills as well as for the community service
compensation described above. 

The high-tech industry seeks out places to
work that would appeal to its skilled workers as good
places to live. Hawai‘i, if its favorable climate and
beauty were supplemented with a supportive attitude
by the government and its people, would be hard to
beat in the world market.
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The climate of developing a better relation-
ship with Hawaiians would benefit simply by a com-
munity-wide backing off of the ongoing efforts to
paint Hawaiians as “victims.” One outspoken
Hawaiian, Benny Olepau of Waima-nalo, thinks
Hawaiians should stop trying to take advantage of
their relationship to the Island culture and their feel-
ing that as victims they deserve better treatment. 

“We Hawaiians cannot turn back the clock
and expect to live in the past with modern materials.
We cannot favor only Hawaiians; we must include all
residents in Hawai‘i.

“We are responsible for our misfortunes,” he
wrote.

In connection with analyzing the problems
and progress of Hawaiians, much thought needs to
be given to a workable and realistic definition of
“Hawaiian.” Intermarriage with foreigners began at
the moment of Western contact and descendants of
such early marriages often have minimal amounts of
Hawaiian blood. It barely makes sense to call those
descendants “Hawaiians” forever. 

The determination to label one’s self “part-
Hawaiian” seems sometimes like a business deci-
sion—what’s going to be most effective economical-
ly. And it could lead to abuse. In future years, some
part-Hawaiians with minimal levels of native blood
might be tempted to call themselves Hawaiian only
for some financial consideration—entitlements, land
awards, participation in the ownership of a casino,
etc.—but desire to be like everyone else when it
comes to voting, schooling, working, receiving bene-
fits and the like. 

Defining a Hawaiian as one with an eighth
native blood may be far enough down the line to go
for formal recognition. Further dilution could lose
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recognition of the effect, value and influence of the
Hawaiian gene. 

Even formalizing the “Hawaiian” designa-
tion at the one-eighth measure would mean a signif-
icantly smaller number of persons calling themselves
Hawaiian. It would have a much more realistic
impact on the statistics measuring the status of
Hawaiians. At the moment these statistics must be
viewed with suspicion because of the vast mix of
blood and genes. There’s no realistic way to deter-
mine which gene is responsible for a social condi-
tion.

If one needed an eighth share of Hawaiian
blood to be called Hawaiian, the Hawaiians as a
racial grouping might no longer find themselves at
the bottom of the scale in so many measures of social
welfare. The value to self-esteem of those calling
themselves “Hawaiian” could be considerable.

Hawaiian culture has much to offer in many
other areas, such as medicine, ocean navigation and
interracial relationships.

Early Hawaiians, with no contact with the
Western world, had a long history of the use of herbs
for various maladies. Uses they developed over the
centuries are becoming known, but concentrated and
extensive study and replanting probably could
expand significantly what is known of these ancient
practices. Who knows what the blending of knowl-
edge and experiments with the healing powers of the
various herbs could develop?

The March 1997 issue of OHA’s monthly
publication, Ka Wai Ola o OHA, reports on the
recognition of Hawaiian herbal healer “Papa” Henry
Auwae as a “living treasure.” The Hongpa Hong-
wanji Buddhist Temple of Honolulu in making the
award noted his outstanding contributions.

Hawaiian Sovereignty: Do the Facts Matter?

336

Hawaiians have
long history of
using herbs for

maladies

A smaller num-
ber of people
calling them-

selves Hawaiian



Ka Wai Ola notes:
“‘Papa’ Auwae, 91, is a native of Kokoiki,

Kohala, and now lives in Keaukaha, Hawai‘i.
He is noted for helping to bridge the gap
between traditional Hawaiian la‘au lapa‘au
herbal healing and western medical methods.
He has shared his knowledge of Hawaiian
herbal healing with Queen’s Health Systems,
National Cancer Institute and North Hawai‘i
Community Hospital, with Native Ameri-
cans, and at many community gatherings
throughout Hawai‘i. He is a seventh-genera-
tion la‘au lapa‘au healer and was trained
from the age of seven by his great-great-
grandmother. He is recognized as a master
kahuna la‘au lapa‘au with knowledge of the
use of 2,500 medicinal herbs. His students
not only learn about use of the plants but also
about preservation of the environment in
which they grow, and the spiritual basis of
true healing, which he believes comes from
God.” 

They also learn much about the values of
early Hawaiian lore and culture.

The astonishing recovery of ancient naviga-
tional methods pioneered by the first Ho-ku-le‘a voyage
is another area of great pride for Hawaiians. Expand-
ed experiences with these skills will further develop
pride and self-esteem and as a practical matter could
cast new light on where the early visitors to these
Islands came from.

Archeological studies have been going on for
decades, but new skills and equipment are available
and can be developed more fully. Better-financed
studies and research on migration routes going all
the way back to Sulawese and other possible South-
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east Asian jumping-off places for the original migra-
tions could be expanded to include Hawaiian schol-
ars. The potential is enormous.

Studies such as these, of course, are ongoing
on a limited basis, but they could benefit from a con-
certed and expanded OHA or state-funded program
to enlist scholars with Hawaiian ancestry and broad-
ened goals.

The state-wide sovereignty conference voted
on in 1996 and sure to be the subject of continued
discussion in the years to come might productively
focus, if it ever convenes, on formulating a program
that would include these notions and others. Both
private and public sources of financing programs like
these exist and could be enlisted.

The key, of course, is the coming together of
Hawaiians to create a master plan for sovereignty
goals. Right now the focus seems to be on power.
Each sovereignty group has its own agenda and sees
itself as the central corps for a renewed Hawaiian
outlook. It will take a new Kamehameha with the
vision of the historic leader to put aside the romantic
but futile notion of a new nation, and build upon
what is already available and achievable. Properly
organized and explained, the master plan could gain
wide public support. It could become the basis for a
new Hawaiian renaissance.
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Akaka, Daniel—junior U.S. senator from Hawai‘i in late 20th
Century. With Senator Daniel Inouye, introduced the con-
gressional apology resolution in 1993, the hundredth
anniversary of the 1893 Revolution. 

Alexander, William De Witt—early Western historian of
Hawai‘i, born in 1833 of missionary parents, testified at
length before Morgan Committee after Blount rejected him. 

Armstrong, Samuel Chapman—missionary descendant who
became a general in the Union Army at the age of 26, com-
manded an African-American regiment; later founded
Hampton Institute in Virginia for African-Americans.

Ashford, Volney V.—Canadian turned Hawaiian Royalist who
with his brother, C.W. Ashford, led abortive 1889 revolution
against Kala-kaua, opposed successful 1893 Revolution
against Lili‘uokalani, and was involved in her unsuccessful
1895 counter-revolution. Throughout, felt Annexation to
U.S. was best overall solution for Hawai‘i.

Bayard, Thomas F.—U.S. secretary of state in Kala-kaua period.
Bishop, Charles Reed—philanthropic businessman,

traveling to Oregon with William L. Lee, arrived
by accident in Honolulu from Boston on October
12, 1846; married Bernice Pauahi, great grand-
daughter of Kamehameha I. She created Bishop
Estate; he created Bishop Museum and founded
predecessor of First Hawaiian Bank. 

Blount, James H.—former Georgia congressman sent to Hawai‘i
in 1893 by President Cleveland to investigate the overthrow
of the Hawaiian Monarchy, recommended censure of U.S.
Minister John L. Stevens and reinstatement of Lili‘uokalani.

Bolte, Crister—German national, Hawaiian subject, member of
the Committee of Safety, was sent to contact Dole about his
taking presidency of Provisional Government. 

Brown, Andrew—Scottish national, member of Committee of
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Safety. Fairly obscure man, coppersmith with the Honolulu
Iron Works at time of Revolution.

Bush, J.E.—sent by Kala-kaua to take over Samoa during King’s
abortive effort to unite Polynesia. Later a Native Hawaiian
backer on occasion of Lili‘uokalani, but, as editor of Hawai-
ian newspaper and leader of liberal party, generally opposed
her. Favored Annexation over continuation of Monarchy. 

Carter, Charles L.—American, naturalized Hawaiian, member of
Committee of Safety and one of five ministers sent
to Washington to negotiate Annexation. Law part-
ner of L.A. Thurston. Only Provisional Govern-
ment fatality in the counter-revolution. Oldest son
of H.A.P. Carter, minister of foreign affairs for
Kala-kaua, and Sybil A. Carter; nephew of Queen’s
adviser, J.O. Carter.

Carter, Henry A.P.—called by Historian Ralph Kuykendall “per-
haps the ablest diplomat ever to serve the Hawai-
ian Kingdom,” Carter was born in Honolulu of
non-missionary American parents and married
missionary daughter Sybil Judd. Served Kala-kaua
and Lili‘uokalani as minister to the United States
and Europe from 1875 until his death in 1891. 

Carter, Joseph O.—brother of H.A.P. Carter and uncle
of Charles Carter, but on the opposite side of the fence polit-
ically to his nephew, Charles. J.O. Carter was president of C.
Brewer and a close adviser to Lili‘uokalani, was with her
when she surrendered in 1893, got her to finally agree to
amnesty for the Revolutionists during her three meetings
with Minister Willis, then was forced by his Annexation-
minded stockholders to resign as Brewer president when his
role was revealed. In his earlier years, he was a reporter on
The Pacific Commercial Advertiser when it was founded in
1856.
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Castle, William R.—member of Committee of Safety born in
Honolulu in 1849, graduate of Harvard and Columbia law
schools, worked in New York until he returned to Hawai‘i as
attorney general in 1876 at request of King Kala-kaua; served
in the Legislature in 1878, ’86, ’87, ’88, turning against Kala--
kaua in 1887. In 1887 and 1888 he was president of the Leg-
islature.  Appointed Hawai‘i minister to Washington after
U.S. Secretary of State Gresham forced L.A. Thurston to
withdraw in 1895. 

Cleghorn, Archibald S.—appointed governor of O‘ahu
by his sister-in-law, Lili‘uokalani; father of Princess
Ka‘iulani, who was designated successor to the
throne had Monarchy continued. Advised Queen
strongly against the lottery bill. 

Cleveland, Grover—president of United States 1893-97.
Sent Blount to Hawai‘i to investigate Revolution. Tried to
restore Lili‘uokalani to throne, but dropped the idea when
she would not agree to grant amnesty to rebels.

Colburn, John F.—Native Hawaiian minister of interior at time
of overthrow. With Peterson went to business community
for support to oust Queen if she continued effort to promul-
gate new Constitution. Became supporter of Annexation in
1895 after abortive counter-revolution, Queen’s abdication.

Cook, Capt. James—his landing in the Hawaiian Islands in 1778
was its first recognized contact with the Western world. 

Cooke, Charles M.—son of missionaries Amos Starr and Juliette
M. Cooke, born in 1849 at the Chiefs’ Children’s School. Co-
founder of Bank of Hawaii. Involved in development of
sugar plantations. One of the original trustees of Bishop
Estate, appointed by Bernice P. Bishop herself. 

Cooper, Henry—arrived in 1890 from Indiana, named chairman
of the Committee of Safety at mass meeting on January 14,
1893, appointed its other twelve members. Circuit court
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judge in 1893-95, served four years as minister of foreign
affairs for the Republic among other duties. Acting president
when Dole went to Washington in 1897, became first secre-
tary of the territory after Annexation.

Cornwell, W. H.—Royalist, minister of finance for the Queen in
1893; with Colburn sought community backing to oust her if
she persisted in promulgating new Constitution.

Damon, Samuel Mills—born in 1845 of missionary par-
ents, close adviser and friend of Lili‘uokalani, sent
by Dole to seek her surrender to avoid bloodshed.
Finance minister and consultant for Kala-kaua in
1887, for the queen from 1889-1890, for the
Republic, 1893 to 1900. Member of Kingdom’s
privy council 1884 to 1889. Pioneer banker with
Bishop in founding what is now First Hawaiian Bank. An
original trustee of Bishop Estate. Creator of Moanalua Gar-
dens on land left him by Pauahi Bishop. Died 1924.

Dole, Sanford Ballard—president of the Provisional
Government. Had been justice of Monarchy’s
Supreme Court. Became president of the Republic
and first governor of the Territory, serving until
1903. Appointed a federal judge in Hawai‘i, 1903-
1916. Son of Punahou School’s first principal, he
was born in 1844 on the campus. Died 1926. 

Dominis, John—husband of Lili‘uokalani. His father built Wash-
ington Place, her home until her death in 1917 when it
became home to Hawai‘i’s governors.

Emma Rooke, Queen—granddaughter of John Young,
widow of Kamehameha IV, contender for the
crown against Kala-kaua but lost to him in bitter
election by Legislature in 1874, which resulted in
riot that had to be quelled by U.S. troops. Strong
British leanings. With her husband founded

Historical Figures

345

H
aw

ai
ia

n 
H

is
to

ric
al

 S
oc

ie
ty

H
aw

ai
ia

n 
M

is
si

on
 C

hi
ld

re
n’

s 
S

oc
ie

ty
B

is
ho

p
 M

us
eu

m



Queen’s Hospital and St. Andrew’s Priory School.
Emmeluth, John—businessman, had two stores in the

1890s. Held American citizenship, member of
Committee of Safety. Became one of the “Extreme
Annexationists”; to push cause, helped create the
evening Hawaiian Star in 1893. 

Foster, John W.—U.S. secretary of state in Harrison
administration, to whom Stevens wrote two weeks after the
Revolution his famous despatch: “The Hawaiian pear is fully
ripe and now is the golden hour for the United States to
pluck it.”

Gibson, Walter Murray—adviser to Kala-kaua, gained lands, spe-
cial favors from the King. Ordered out of Kingdom as an
unsavory character at time of 1887 Reform Constitution. 

Gregg, David L.—U.S. minister to Hawai‘i who completed three-
year negotiation of a formal treaty of Annexation in 1854 at
request of the Hawaiian government. Kamehameha III, who
had started the proceedings in 1851, died before the treaty
could be signed and his successor withdrew the agreement. 

Gresham, Walter Q.—U.S. secretary of state under Cleveland,
opposed Annexation, strongly favored restoration of
Lili‘uokalani as Queen, advised Minister Willis in ill-fated
effort to get Provisional Government to return control to
her. Demanded recall of L.A. Thurston as minister in 1895
after heated argument over diplomatic protocol.

Harrison, Benjamin—president of the United States at the time
of the Revolution, recognized new government, sympathetic
to Annexation but unable to gain passage of treaty before his
successor, Grover Cleveland, took office and withdrew it.

Hartwell, A.S.—respected jurist who with L.A. Thurston was
approached by Queen’s Cabinet members on January 14,
1893, for support from the community to oust her; drew up
proclamation for them to carry it out, which became moot in
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their minds when she agreed to withdraw temporarily her
effort to promulgate her new Constitution.

Inouye, Daniel—powerful late-20th-Century U.S. senator for
Hawai‘i. Introduced the congressional apology resolution
with Senator Akaka, explained it did not seek special treat-
ment for Hawaiians and did not have the force of law—“It’s
just a simple [resolution of] apology,” he told the Senate dur-
ing hour-long debate on the matter in 1993. 

Jones, Peter Cushman—businessman born in Boston in 1837,
came to Hawai‘i in 1857 with 16 cents in pocket.
Became partner in C. Brewer in 1871, president in
1883. Founding president of Bank of Hawai‘i and
Hawaiian Trust Co. Built Pala-ma Chapel, out of
which grew Pala-ma Settlement. Chairman of mass
meeting that forced Kala-kaua to accept the 1887
Reform Constitution; served as minister of finance
in Cabinet that Lili‘uokalani dumped two days before 1893
Revolution. 

Ka‘ahumanu—favorite wife of Kamehameha I. At his direction,
became regent after his death, guiding young Liholiho,
Kamehameha II. Responsible for ending kapu system and
banning Hawaiian religion before arrival of missionaries.
Advised Liholiho to let them come ashore for trial year.

Ka‘iulani, Princess—daughter of the Cleghorns, niece of Queen
Lili‘uokalani, named by her as successor if the 1895 counter-
revolution had succeeded, schooled in England for four
years, returned to Hawai‘i after Revolution, died at age 24.

Kala-kaua, King David—second of the elected kings of
Hawai‘i, served from his tumultuous election in
1874 after the death of Lunalilo until his own
death in 1891 in San Francisco. Known as the
“Merrie Monarch,” did wonders for the Hawaiian
psyche, but effectively ruined the economy of the
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Kingdom with wild schemes and profligate spending, leading
to mass meeting forcing Reform Constitution on him in
1887. Built ‘Iolani Palace in 1882. Attempt to oust him in
1889, which had approval of his ambitious sister,
Lili‘uokalani, led to battle on Palace Grounds that killed
seven, was quelled by same men who overthrew Queen in
1893. 

Kalaniana‘ole, Jonah Ku-hio-—would have been third in line for
the throne in 1895 had counter-revolution succeeded, elect-
ed in 1902 as Hawai‘i’s second delegate to Congress, served
two decades, gained passage of Hawaiian Homes Act.

Kamehameha I, King—most powerful chief in Hawai‘i history,
born about 1736, according to early Hawaiian historian
Samuel Kamakau; by 1795 had conquered in bloody battles
all of the Islands except Kaua‘i, making use of
Western arms, ships, advisers. By 1810 unified all
Islands into Hawaiian Kingdom when Kaua‘i chief
surrendered without a fight. Died in Kailua, Kona
on May 8, 1819 as missionaries were preparing to
leave for Hawai‘i.

Kamehameha II, King—‘Iolani Liholiho, son of Kame-
hameha I and Keopuolani. Born 1797. Ruled 1819-1824
before he and his Queen died of the measles during a visit to
London. Under the influence of Ka‘ahumanu, appointed
kuhina nui (regent) by Kamehameha I, ended the ancient
religious system of the islands. Allowed the first missionar-
ies to land, fill the religious vacuum with Christianity. 

Kamehameha III, King—Kauikeaouli, born 1814,
longest-term Hawai‘i ruler in recorded history,
1825-1854. Son of Kamehameha I and Keopuolani,
was named successor by Liholiho, became King at
age 9 with Ka‘ahumanu continuing as kuhina nui
until her death. Became King on his own at age 18
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in 1833. In 1840, promulgated first written laws of Islands,
instituting constitutional Monarchy. In 1848, promulgated
Great Mahele, division of lands. In 1852, promulgated new
Constitution after constitutional convention, Legislature
agreed on terms. Actively sought Annexation to United
States in 1851 when he could see Hawai‘i was going to be
taken over by one colonial power or another, died before
treaty of Annexation could be signed. 

Kamehameha IV, King—Alexander Liholiho, born 1834, ruled
1854-1863 under Constitution of 1852, grandson
of Kamehameha I; adopted and named as heir in
1835 by Kauikeaouli as a favor to his cousin and
successor kuhinanui, Kina‘u, by way of reconcilia-
tion for her ouster as kuhina nui when he,
Kauikeaouli, became 18. Son of Kina‘u (a daughter
of Kamehameha I and Kaheiheimalie) and Mataio
Keku-anao-a, a high chief and governor of O‘ahu. Favored
Britain slightly over United States so withdrew unsigned
treaty of Annexation worked out by his predecessor. With
his wife, Queen Emma, a great-granddaughter of a younger
brother of Kamehameha I, founded Queen’s Hospital, and
brought in Episcopal Church.

Kamehameha V, King—Lot Kamehameha, born 1830, ruled
1864-1872, promulgated new Constitution on his
own in 1864 after Legislature rejected constitu-
tional convention—same illegal move tried by
Lili‘uokalani but he got away with it. He added
property ownership as requirement for voting for
House. Never married. Died without naming suc-
cessor, thus ending Kamehameha dynasty, prompting in
1873 first election of a Hawaiian king, by popular vote with
confirmation by the Legislature.

Kaulukou, John L.—Native Hawaiian speaker of the House of
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Representatives under the Republic at time of Annexation.
Had been a strong Royalist political and legal figure in days
of Kala-kaua and Lili‘uokalani—marshal, legislator, judge.
Publicly called Annexation to the U.S. the best thing possi-
ble for Hawai‘i and its people. 

Kawa-nanakoa, Prince David—would have been second
in line for succession to throne if Monarchy had
been reinstated in 1895. Helped Provisional Gov-
ernment keep things running after 1893 Revolu-
tion but soon left government. Was involved in
attempted counter-revolution. 

King, Capt. James A.—pioneer inter-island shipping magnate
appointed by Dole as minister of interior of Provisional Gov-
ernment and then of Republic. Married to Hawaiian. Parents
of Delegate to Congress and later Governor Samuel Wilder
King and grandparents of Federal Judge Samuel P. King.

Kinney, W.A.—Hawai‘i-born subject of the Kingdom, member of
House of Representatives in 1887, 1888 sessions, played role
in writing and adoption of Reform Constitution. Early law
partner of L.A. Thurston and W.O. Smith. 

Kuykendall, Ralph S.—early-20th-Century historian, wrote
definitive three-volume history of Hawai‘i covering period
1778-1893. Died in May 1963 just before completion of
third volume of The Hawaiian Kingdom, which was complet-
ed from his notes by a fellow University of Hawai‘i histori-
an, Dr. Charles H. Hunter.

Lansing, Theodore F.—American member of Committee of Safe-
ty. Came to Honolulu to join M. Phillip & Co. and with that
firm organized Pioneer Building and Loan Co. in 1890 to
provide financing for home building. In 1898 formed Gear,
Lansing & Co., residential land developers involved in subdi-
visions in Makiki and Kaimuki- on land acquired from David
Kawa--nanakoa and Ku-hio- Kalaniana‘ole. 
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Lee, William L.—arrived by accident in 1846 with close friend
Charles Bishop, became chief justice of Supreme
Court in his 20s, wrote 1852 Constitution. Worked
tirelessly for Kamehameha III after Great Mahele
in 1848 to get lands into hands of Hawaiian
natives. Most important American adviser to
Kamehameha IV. Died in 1857 at age 36.

Lili‘uokalani, Queen Lydia Kamakaeha Dominis—born
1838, last of the Hawai‘i monarchs, overthrown in
1893 after she tried to promulgate new Constitu-
tion without following procedures she had sworn
to uphold in 1891 when she took office as desig-
nated successor to her brother, Kala-kaua. New
Constitution would have expanded powers of
Monarchy beyond those of Kala-kaua before the
Reform Constitution of 1887. Died November 11, 1917. 

Lunalilo, King William C.—first of the elected kings, topping
Kala-kaua in legislative vote in 1873. A very popular figure,
he died without naming a successor. Created Lunalilo Trust
with gift of more land than was in Bishop Estate, but his
trustees sold most of the land to build home for aged Hawai-
ians and the trust now barely is able to maintain it. 

Macfarlane, E.C.—close adviser of Queen Lili‘uokalani who
went on her behalf at Blount’s suggestion to Washington in
1893, conferred with Secretary of State Gresham, Minister
Willis and Minister Mills, bringing back word that Blount’s
goal and recommendation would be for her reinstatement.

McCandless, John A.—entrepreneur, businessman, American,
arrived 1881, naturalized Hawaiian member of Committee
of Safety. Member of Provisional Government Advisory
Council; elected to Senate of Provisional Government and
Republic, 1894-98. Held no sugar stock at time of Revolution
but later became vice president of Pioneer Mill, O‘ahu Sugar,
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president of Home Insurance, director of Bank of Hawaii,
president of McCandless Bldg. Co. and director of Waialua
Plantation. 

McChesney, F.W.—American member of Committee of Safety,
came to Hawai‘i from Iowa in 1855, formed wholesale gro-
cery and feed store. Blount declined to interview him, but
McChesney told Morgan Committee that contrary to Blount,
Revolution would have succeeded without U.S. troops com-
ing ashore and that he “never expected U.S. troops to fight
our battle.” 

McKinley, William A.— U.S. president following Cleveland.
McKinley was more sympathetic to Annexation, which
passed in 1898 during his term.

Mills, Ellis—U.S. consul general in Hawai‘i appointed by Cleve-
land to succeed Stevens after Blount turned down the job.
Had taken notes for Blount during his interviews and later
was man behind the screen recording Lili‘uokalani interview
with Willis, when she said she would behead the Revolu-
tionists if she were reinstated, causing Cleveland to back off
his effort to put her back on throne.

Moreno, Celso Caesar—controversial figure in Honolulu for
about a year, 1879-1880, who endeared himself to Kala-kaua,
the Legislature and a number of Native Hawaiian leaders
with various schemes for opium licenses, a $10 million loan,
etc. Appointed minister of foreign affairs by the King on
August 14, 1880, and removed within days after an uproar
in the diplomatic corps. He left Honolulu, taking Robert W.
Wilcox with him for military training in his native Italy. 

Morgan, James Francis—born in New York City, 1862. Came to
Hawai‘i at age three. Started working at 12 at EP Adams
Auction Co., eventually becoming sole owner. Helped organ-
ize Honolulu Stock and Bond Exchange, served as its presi-
dent. Member Provisional Government Advisory Council.
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Morgan, John T.—Democratic U.S. senator from Alabama whose
Committee on Foreign Relations took sworn testimony
about the 1893 Revolution; in 5-4 decision exonerated
Stevens, U.S. troops from blame for Revolution.

Neumann, Paul—attorney and adviser to Lili‘uokalani, with J.O.
Carter wrote letter claiming her surrender was to the “supe-
rior forces of the United States” instead of the Provisional
Government that had demanded it. Dole noted receipt of the
document, unintentionally opening door to charges U.S. had
played key role in success of the Revolution.

Nordhoff, Charles — Reporter with New York Herald. Staunch
supporter of the Royalists, wrote inaccurately about Provi-
sional Government, which sought to expel him from Hawai‘i
but yielded to protest by his good friend, Blount, and let him
stay.

Opukahaia, Henry (known back east as Obookiah)—Young
Hawaiian runaway from enemies in Kealakekua Bay who
ended up in Yale Divinity School and whose death in 1818
was largely responsible for the first missionaries deciding to
come to Hawai‘i to carry on the work he had planned to do. 

Parker, Samuel—Native Hawaiian minister of foreign affairs in
the Cabinet appointed by close friend, Lili‘uokalani, just
before Revolution. After 1895 failure of counter-revolution,
he joined his fellow former Cabinet member, John Colburn,
in coming out in favor of Annexation. Grandson of founder
of Parker Ranch where Ka‘iulani died. 

Pauahi, Bernice Bishop—daughter of High Chief Pa-ki
-

and his wife Konia; great-granddaughter of Kame-
hameha I. Married Charles Reed Bishop. Resisted
attempts to name her successor to Kamehameha V
though she was of Kamehameha line and had gone
to Chiefs’ Children’s School with other royal chil-
dren. Parents adopted Lili‘uokalani and at one
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time, after she and Bishop were married, they all lived
together in Haleakala-, Bishop house on King Street between
Fort and Alakea. House torn down to construct Bishop
Street at turn of century. Pauahi probably Hawai‘i’s ultimate
benefactress—her will established Kamehameha Schools and
multibillion-dollar Bishop Estate.

Pierce, Henry—U.S. minister to Hawai‘i in early 1870s. Like his
predecessors was in favor of Annexation. Brought troops
ashore to help quell 1874 riot when Kala-kaua was elected.

Peterson, A.P.—Caucasian Royalist who was attorney general in
Lili‘uokalani’s last Cabinet at time of Revolution. Sought
support of business community against Queen’s proposed
Constitution. Had cast deciding vote for opium and lottery
bills in 1892 legislature, earning scorn of community.

Pua, S.K.—member of Monarchy’s House of Representatives,
long-time supporter of Queen, but concerned about Marshal
Charles Wilson’s influence and tried to get a resolution
through 1892 Legislature to have him removed.

Smith, W.O.—attorney, member of Committee of Safety. Born on
Kaua‘i, 1838, son of missionaries James Williams
and Millicent Smith. Highly regarded by royal fam-
ily, asked by Lili‘uokalani to handle her estate
despite his involvement in 1893 Revolution and
subsequent governments. Before the Revolution,
served as sheriff on Kaua‘i and then Maui, was
deputy attorney general of Monarchy for nearly
seven years while serving intermittently in Legislature from
1878 to 1892. Attorney general of Republic, 1893-1898. One
of original trustees of Bishop Estate. Died 1929.

Spreckels, Claus—sugar baron from California, manipulator,
supporter of Kala-kaua and Lili‘uokalani. Loaned Monarchy
money in exchange for influence. Queen’s diaries show she
thought he would be means to restore her to the throne. 
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Stevens, John L.—United States minister to Hawai‘i in 1893
whose Annexation leanings put him at the center of the con-
troversy after the Revolution, but whose role has probably
been vastly overstated. 

Tenney, Edward Davies—Arrived in 1877 at 18. Member of Pro-
visional Government Advisory Council. Started in sugar at
Hilo and by 1880 was a junior clerk at Castle and Cooke,
eventually becoming president. In 1942 was president of
Matson Navigation while still president of C&C. 

Thurston, Asa—with wife, Lucy Goodale, member of
the pioneer missionary group. Born in Fitchburg,
Mass., in 1787, stayed in church service his whole
life, dying in Honolulu in 1868. Graduated from
Yale in 1816 and Yale Divinity School in 1819.
Came to Hawai‘i in 1820. 

Thurston, Asa Goodale—son of Asa and Lucy
Thurston, born 1827 in Kona; father of Lorrin A. Thurston.
Left in 1840 to school for ten years; prep school, Yale, and in
1849 became Hawai‘i’s first graduate from Williams College.
Elected to Legislature in 1853. Married missionary daughter
Sarah Andrews in 1853. Speaker of the House during last
year of reign of Kamehameha III in 1854. Founding presi-
dent of Mission Children’s Society formed to send mission-
aries to South Seas. Died at 32 when Lorrin was a little over
one year old, daughter Helen not yet born.

Thurston, Lorrin A.—born in Honolulu in 1858, grandson of
four missionaries; grandfather of this author.
Spoke Hawaiian fluently as had his father and
grandfather. Lawyer; elected to House of Represen-
tatives in 1886 at age 28, House of Nobles in 1892,
served Hawaiian government as minister of interi-
or, 1887-1890, under Kala-kaua, became his prime
minister, wrote Reform Constitution and was
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instrumental in 1893 Revolution. After Revolution, worked
ardently for Annexation. Married Clara Shipman in 1886.
She died in childbirth in 1891 and he married Harriet Potter
in 1894. In 1898, became owner/publisher of The Pacific
Commercial Advertiser, later The Honolulu Advertiser, helped
set aside Haleakala- and Ki-lauea as federal preserves, fostered
Ki-lauea Observatory. Died in 1931.

Thurston, Lorrin Potter—son of Lorrin and Harriet, born 1900.
Was publisher of The Honolulu Advertiser 1931-1960,
founder of Pacific Area Travel Association, chairman of
Statehood Commission at time Hawai‘i became state.

Thurston, Lucy Goodale—grandmother of Lorrin A., she came
with the first company of missionaries in 1820, was last sur-
vivor of that group when she died in 1876. Wrote The Life
and Times of Lucy G. Thurston, detailed record of the rigors
of missionary life, including account of her radical mastecto-
my without anaesthesia in 1855. 

Thurston, Sarah Andrews—mother of Lorrin A., raised three
children after husband’s death at age 32 by teaching at
schools on O‘ahu and Maui. Daughter of missionaries Lorrin
and Sarah Andrews. Her father wrote first Hawaiian diction-
ary, founded Lahainaluna School, taught engraving to natives.

Waterhouse, Henry—Hawaiian subject of Tasmanian birth,
came to Hawai‘i in 1851. Member of Committee of Safety.
Pressed for and helped draft the Reform Constitution in
1887. One of the two members of the Committee of Safety to
be interviewed by Blount, who took statement from him try-
ing to determine time of recognition of new government by
U.S. Minister Stevens, called Waterhouse a liar when his
recollection didn’t parallel that of Queen’s witnesses.

Wilcox, Robert W.—Hawaiian activist, called “chronic revolu-
tionist” by boyhood friend, L.A. Thurston. Thurston said he
called him that because it didn’t seem to make much differ-
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ence to him which side he was on as long as he was engaged
in a fight. Led attempted revolution against Kala-kaua in
1889, abortive revolution in 1892, sat out 1893 Revolution
but was leader of the unsuccessful counter-revolution in
1895. Sentenced to death but sentence was commuted. After
Annexation, got back into politics and with new Hawaiian
majority, was elected Hawai‘i’s first delegate to Congress in
1900. Defeated in 1902, he ran for sheriff of O‘ahu in the
off-year county election of 1903 and died on Oct. 23, 1903,
during the campaign.

Wilder, William C.—American, Hawaiian subject member of
Committee of Safety. Wealthy shipping magnate, arranged
for himself and other four Annexation ministers from Provi-
sional Government to leave for Washington two days after
Revolution. President of the Republic Senate, 1897. Editor of
Pacific Commercial Advertiser in 1890s.

Willis, Albert S.—special U.S. minister sent to Hawai‘i by Presi-
dent Cleveland to reinstate Lili‘uokalani, depending on
whether she would grant amnesty to Revolutionists. When
the ex-Queen refused, Cleveland’s plot, a violation of inter-
national diplomatic codes, fell apart. Queen later recanted
her non-amnesty position, Willis asked Dole administration
to turn government back to her but his request was denied.

Wilson, Charles B.—marshal of Kingdom, chief of police at time
of Revolution. Strong supporter of Queen. His influence
opposed by many, including Hawaiian political leaders, but
if he had arrested Committee of Safety when he wanted to
on Sunday, January 15, Revolution might not have succeed-
ed. Son John, later mayor of Honolulu, built Pali Road.

Wiltse, G.C.—captain of U.S.S. Boston who gave order for troops
to go ashore to protect American lives and property after his
officers reported great unrest developing January 16 at two
mass meetings, one native, one the rest of community.
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Wodehouse, James H.—British minister to Hawai‘i at time of
Revolution, a great friend and supporter of Lili‘uokalani.
Strongly opposed Annexation of Hawai‘i to United States.

Wolf, Fraulein—Lili‘uokalani’s German teacher-turned-seer who
provided questionable psychic readings for the Queen, par-
ticularly concerning the lottery bill and Cabinet appointees.

Young, Alexander—mechanical engineer, arrived in 1865; set up
foundry and machine shop in Hilo. Bought interest in Hon-
olulu Iron Works and invested in sugar. An interior minister
after the Revolution. Member of House of Nobles, 1889;
member of Advisory Council of Provisional Government.
Built the Alexander Young Hotel, acquired the Moana and
later the Royal Hawaiian. 

Young, John—boatswain of the British ship Eleanora who left his
ship on the Kona coast of the Big Island in 1790, proved
invaluable advisor to Kamehameha I in trade negotiations
and in his conquest of the other islands. Married daughter
of chief, served on king’s advisory council until his death.
His granddaughter, Emma Rooke, married Kamehameha IV
and became Queen Emma.

Young, Lucien—U.S. naval lieutenant, second in command of the
U.S.S. Boston in 1893 who testified decision to land troops
was made by Capt. Wiltse, not Minister Stevens. Also testi-
fied troops ordered to remain neutral, were located so as to
avoid siding with either government or rebels.
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